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“FRESH THINKING QUALITY LIVING’
“IE LG AE - SR 22 )

Headquartered in Shanghai, SPG Land (Holdings) Limited (Hong Kong Stock Code: 337) is a reputable property developer
that is principally engaged in the development of quality residential and hotel properties, (“SPG Land” or the “Group”).
Since the incorporation of the Group, it has successfully developed three exemplar large-scale trophy projects in Shanghai,
namely, Cambridge Forest Newtown, Cambridge Waters (“Tiffany”) and Cambridge Watertown (“Oriental Garden”).
These trophy projects have enhanced the Group’s brand name and reputation. With exquisite residential design, unique
living environment, innovative architectural style and outstanding sales performance, the Group is awarded as “Shanghai
Top Ten Foreign Property Developers in 18 Years”, “Star of the Top 100 Developers” amongst the top real estate
developers in China. “Most Influential Brand Enterprise” and various other awards. The listing of the Group on the Main
Board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange in October 2006 has further reinforced the Group's profile in the international
capital market. In March 2007, the Group is elected as a constituent stock of the 200-Stock Hang Seng Composite Index
Series and Hang Seng Freeflow Index Series.

Since the listing of SPG Land in 2006, the Group has expanded its development projects geographically and strategically
to cities in Yangtze River Delta, such as Ningbo, Wuxi, Changshu, Suzhou, Huangshan and also various provincial capital
cities that are emerging and developing with high-potential such as, Kunming Haikou and Taiyuan. The rapid growth
sustained in the China’s economy has accelerated the progress of urbanization. This results in an increase of disposable
income from the urban population, in particular the middle-to-high income sector. The Group is committed to providing
high-quality products and distinctive services to enhance the standard of living to its customers. To achieve this objective,
the Group works with world renowned design and architectural teams in the development of their projects. As for the
land bank, the Group adopts a proactive yet prudent approach in their selection of projects to ensure the land bank is
replenished with quality and high-growth potential land. The management team firmly believes that the healthy and
sustainable development of the Group, in the long run, depends on the provision of quality products and projects with
good growth potential.

The excellent track record of the Group's in property development and active
co-operation with leading hotel management groups in the investment
and development of hotel properties has brought promising outcomes and
recurring income for the Group. The current hotel projects include the crown-
jewel Shanghai Peninsula Hotel, the Shanghai Cambridge Holiday Inn, and the
Crowne Plaza Resort Hotel located in the world-renowned scenic Huangshan.
These projects under the Group’s hotel business development will benefit
greatly from the prosperous tourism industry in China and the upcoming
2010 World Expo in Shanghai. This increase in recurrent income from hotel
operations and investment properties will strengthen the business foundation
of SPG Land in the long run.

“Fresh Thinking, Quality Living” is the corporate creed of SPG Land. This,

along with the international and professional background of the Group,

enables SPG Land to stand out in the real estate market in China. With
professional management skills, excellent quality products and prudent financial operation, SPG Land looks forward to
building a better future for cities in China, creating a comfortable and harmonious society and maximizing returns for the
stakeholders of the Group.
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
B 25 1 22

RESULTS HIGHLIGHTS ¥ &R/ =
For the year ended 31 December #Z+—-A=+—HLLtFE

Revenue Yz

Gross Profit £7 1,267 +53%
Profit from Operating Activities 3 [ 4% 4 5 &0t A 1,003 +52%
Net Profit J5Fl 901 2%
Attributable to: LATN AT &L -
— Equity Holders of the Company — 7K AIJEHER A A 890 +1%
— Minority Interests — /SR R AE S 11 -236%
Earnings Per Share (RMB) &R &F (AR¥IT)
— Basic —HEA& 0.847 +1%
— Diluted — 5% 0.823 +4%

RESULTS HIGHLIGHTS
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
B 25 Jii 22

2011 REVENUE ANALYSIS —E——FEWE DT

Sales of property #1254 4,114 +31%
Sales of parking lot {F &7 4 - N/ATNE A
Rental income & WA 29 +28%
Property management income & other related service

VB IR A K H A AR AR 7% 51 +29%
Hotel and related services & & & it & IR 7% - N/AN 5 A
Education #LE 77 0%
Total 485+ 4,271 +33%

As at 31 December "+ —-A=+—H

Total Assets EE 4458
Total Liabilities B {5448
Total Equity #4858

17,317 +6.1%
4,527 +17.2%

2011 REVENUE ANALYSIS
B —FRED N

ES
0.6%
0.5%

Sales of parking lot

{REEfHE

Rental income

HEWA

Property management income
& other related service

WEERWA K E M AERI RS
94.9%
Hotel and related services

BIE R B E IR

Education
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On 30 March, SPG Land was successfully named as one of the
“China’s Top 50 Real Estate Enterprises 2011" and ranked top fifth
among the “Top 10 High-Growth Developers” amongst China’s Top
100 Real Estate Enterprises in 2011.

On 24 May, Fraser Suites Suzhou situated in Global 188 owned by
SPG Land grandly opened. SPG Land will join hands with Fraser, the
world’s top serviced apartment brand, to create a top-tier serviced
apartment with gold standard in Suzhou.

On 27 May, Shanghai Cambridge Holiday Inn invested by SPG Land
and managed by InterContinental Hotel Group announced its grand
opening.

On 23 August, SPG Land entered into a strategic cooperation
agreement with Shanghai Construction Group in Shanghai, pursuant
to which they would cooperate in the development and construction
of real estates all over China.

On 29 September, Global 188 Shopping Mall, the first commercial
project of SPG Land, grandly opened. It will become a delicate
shopping centre in the mid- to high-end consumer market in Suzhou.

On 22 October, Jin Gui Li demonstration zone of SPG Land grandly
opened. The internationally renowned mixed-use development
attracted the mass media in Wuxi, industry players and thousands of

new and old customers.

On 31 October, the Hidden Tiger Golf Club in Huangshan was
awarded as “Top 10 New Golf Courses in China” thanks to
its exquisite scenery, challenging design and high quality and
personalized service.

3A30B BReEHAKNE & 2011+ B E
MERZELER TR FABEI20011F F
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5248 B= E MR T IR Bk 188 &k M #E B
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SA27H HEeSEMREZE MNEB
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S8AH EeEE FSEITEEE L

BEBERAFEHE HEZ2ESHEL
ERZEERTRARZEAE-

9AH EeEMEEm¥EAE R
188 LBEARAE BEAHKINERE
FEREEMSNBEEEDFL-

10AN2H BeesBERERHEB AN

BHREARRE XERAATETREAETEE
FHhzR% XRARTESEREHA
EReo

10A31E BEeEMELRSBRUE
BEBEONERS BAKEMENEZ B
BAMEORE RERETEaRX
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On 10 November, SPG Land successfully entered into a Letter of
Intention regarding the Jin Gui Li Hotel Project with Fairmont Raffles
Hotels International, a world-leading hotel management brand, in

Shanghai.

In November, the Florea was awarded the Chinese Society of
Landscape Architecture’s “2011 Best Landscape Project Gold
Award”, which was the highest award in landscaping in China.

On 25 November, Global 188 of Suzhou received the Golden
Landmark Award-21st century HOPSCA 2011 - The Most Unique
Commercial New Landmark.

On 24 December, the first batch of shops commenced operation in
the commercial street at Xi Shui Dong on the date when the “Merry
Christmas Eve” activity was held. Xi Shui Dong Commercial Street
will become the highest quality and most viable catering, leisure and
recreational area in Wuxi.

BEEW (ER)ERAIT —FTF5H
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SPG Land receives “The Best Brand Award for the 10th Anniversary
of New Real Estate 2011"” from the New Real Estate Magazine

SPG Land is awarded “Most Popular Real Estate Enterprise Brand in
Shanghai 2011" by Soufun

SPG Land is recognized as one of “China’s Top 10 Real Estate
Enterprises in Eastern China in terms of Brand Value 2011" by
the China Real Estate Research Association, China Real Estate
Association and China Real Estate Appraisal

SPG Land is recognized as one of “Top 50 Real Estate Developers
in Shanghai 2011" by the Shanghai Real Estate Trade Association

SPG Land is recognized as one of “China’s Top 20 Real
Estate Enterprises in Eastern China 2011" by the China Real
Estate Research Association, China Real Estate Association and
China Real Estate Appraisal

SPG Land is recognized as one of “China’s Top 10 Real Estate
Listed Companies in terms of Corporate Responsibility 2011" by
the China Real Estate Research Association, China Real Estate
Association and China Real Estate Appraisal

SPG Land is recognized as one of “China’s Top 50 Real Estate
Listed Companies in terms of Overall Strength 2011"” by the China
Real Estate Research Association, China Real Estate Association and
China Real Estate Appraisal

SPG Land is recognized as one of “China’s Top 500
Selected Real Estate Enterprises 2011"” by the China Real
Estate Research Association, China Real Estate Association and
China Real Estate Appraisal

SPG Land is recognized as one of “China’s Top 10 Real Estate
Enterprises in terms of Overall Development 2011" by the China
Real Estate Research Association, China Real Estate Association and
China Real Estate Appraisal
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SPG Land is recognized as one of “China’s Top 50 Real Estate
Enterprises 2011" by the China Real Estate Research Association,
China Real Estate Association and China Real Estate Appraisal

Shanghai Cambridge Holiday Inn is awarded “China’s Most Popular
New Opening Semi-high-end Business Hotel of 2011" of “The 8th
Golden-Pillow Award of China Hotels”

Shanghai Cambridge Holiday Inn is awarded “Best HIP Hotel” of
“Best of Shanghai 2011” Award of That's Shanghai Magazine

Shanghai Cambridge Holiday Inn is awarded “2011 New Hotel
Award for Holiday Inn” by IHG Greater China

Shanghai Cambridge Holiday Inn is awarded “Special Trip —
The World Travel Awards of 2011, The Most Popular Hotel” by
Shanghai Oriental Morning Post

Shanghai Cambridge Holiday Inn is awarded “Best Mid-market
Hotel Brand in Asia-Pacific” by Business Traveler Magazine

Shanghai Cambridge Holiday Inn is awarded “Best Newly-Opened
Hotel Award” of “2011 Low-Carbon Hotel” by Low-Carbon World
Magazine

Ci Cheng, Ningbo is awarded “Top 10 Most Expected Property
Projects 2012" of “2011 Ningbo Real Estate Ranking” by Modern
Jinbao and Cnool.net

Ci Cheng, Ningbo is awarded “Most Expected Property Project
in Ningbo 2012" of “The 8th China Real Estate Web Popularity
Ranking” by Soufun

Ci Cheng, Ningbo is awarded “Highest Potential Property Project
in Ningbo 2011” of “China Real Estate Web Popularity Ranking
2011" by Sohu focus and Focus on the Family Magazine
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20.

21.

22.

23.

24.

25.

26.

27.

28.

Ci Cheng, Ningbo is awarded “Most Expected Property Project
in 2012" by China Real Estate Information Corporation and Sina
House

The Metropolitan is awarded “Soufun Users’ Most Preferred
Premium Property Project” by Soufun

The Metropolitan is awarded “Most Popular Property Project with
Golden Class Service 2011” by Yunan.cn

Tiffany and Shanghai Cambridge Xiuxi Apartment are awarded
"Popular Property Projects in Shanghai 2011" by Soufun

The Florea is awarded the Chinese Society of Landscape
Architecture’s “Best Landscape Project Gold Award” by the
Chinese Society of Landscape Architecture

Global 188 of Suzhou is awarded the Golden Landmark Award-
21st century HOPSCA 2011 — The Most Unique Commercial New
Landmark by 21st Century Business Herald

The Hidden Tiger Golf Club in Huangshan is rated as “Top 10
New Golf Courses in China” in the third selection of Top 100 Golf
Courses in China by Golf Digest

Andaluz is awarded “Gold Award for China’s Scenic Villas 2011"
by the China Index Academy, China Real Estate Index System and
Soufun

Andaluz is rated as an “Ecologically Suitable Living Community” by
the Shanxi Real Estate Association, Shanxi Credit Association, Real
Estate Chamber of Commerce of All-China Federation of Industry
& Commerce, Taiyuan Real Estate Chamber of Commerce, CIHAF

and Taiyuan Daily Newspaper Group

20.
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23.

24.
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26.

27.

28.
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29.

30.

Andaluz is awarded “Rallying Real Estate Enterprise Brand in
Taiyuan 2011" by Soufun

Andaluz is awarded “Worth Expecting Property Project by Property
Buyers in Taiyuan 2012" by Soufun

29.

30.
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The PRC government has continued to further its austerity measures
against the real estate sector since 2011. Looking ahead, the new
landscape in the property sector will most likely be dominated by
low-income housing as well as commercial housing. Competition
will become more and more intense with the presence of an
abundant supply of low-income housing. “Selecting high-quality
land, fabricating innovative products, and seeking to construct local
landmark buildings with historic significance in each and every city”
represents SPG Land's devotion to the development strategy of
engaging in mid to high class “high-end real estate business”, which
stems not only from our objective of laying a century-old foundation,
but also from our forward-looking segmentation and positioning
strategic decision. By continuing to achieve all-round development in
terms of our corporate scale, sustainable growth, investment return,
humanity value and brand recognition, we are more than pleased to
embrace the new and rapidly changing landscape in the real estate
sector in the PRC.

At the same time, SPG Land will adhere to its 2+X product
strategy by continuously enhancing the three product lines of “city
community, city center integrated projects and leisure projects”.
Despite the ever-changing market environment last year, the Group
still maintained a stable growth and achieved encouraging results,
amongst which, Global 188 was awarded as the “China City Golden
Landmark”; Haikou Florea won the “Best Landscape Project Gold
Award”; and Huangshan Hidden Tiger Golf Club ranked the third
among the “2011 Top Ten Golf Courses in China”. Following the
2+X product strategy, SPG Land gradually formed a nationwide
strategic network with Yangtze River Delta region as the centre and
supported by provincial capitals and second-tier affluent cities. Apart
from furthering its effort in Shanghai, Suzhou, Wuxi, Changshu,
Kunming, Taiyuan and Haikou, SPG Land also acquired a premium
land parcel in Ningbo, the most economically viable city in Zhejiang
Province, last year. This is a significant move toward SPG Land’s
development in Southeast China and will form the basis for our
future expansion into the eastern coastal cities, the most affluent
regions in China.

BEEW (ER)ERAIT —FTF5H
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With high-end real estate as its focus, SPG Land strives to develop
mid to high grade properties which are outstandingly advantaged
and unique in terms of development, design, marketing and
operation. In the past, SPG Land successfully fabricated a batch
of landmark projects, including the Peninsula Shanghai complex,
the only new landmark over the century on the historic Bund of

Shanghai; Global 188, the tallest building in Suzhou; and Xi Shui

Dong, a central living area in Wuxi. From strength to strength, in
2012, SPG Land will continue to follow the “gradual and innovative”
development strategy which was proposed last year. Other than
continuing to lead the market by innovation, SPG Land will also strive
to establish itself as a more competitive enterprise featured by quick
development, quick turnover and quick response to market changes
on the basis of “standardized operation”.

The continuous strengthening of austerity measures has led to
dramatic market changes, in response to which, SPG Land is also
reforming itself. In 2011, SPG Land focused on continually refining
the internal management system and obtained fruitful results
in lean management. Nowadays, developers in the real estate
sector need to increase turnover and control development risks by
more effective resource integration and rapid replication of the
successful management model. To cope with the regional expansion
strategy of SPG Land, we reformed the management model and
strengthened the resource integration function of the Group.
Meanwhile, project companies were delegated with more power
and clearer duties and authorities so that frontline divisions would
bear more responsibilities. In 2012, we are confident that SPG Land
can strengthen its leading position in the competition in mid to high
grade property sector in the cities where it has made a presence, in
particular Wuxi, Changshu, Kunming, Taiyuan and Haikou.

Regarding the “delicate, systematic and specialized” notion, by
drawing on the past experience, SPG Land is gradually implementing
a standardized management system with standardized workflow,
quality assessment and risk control in order to enhance the
management quality of project operation. The Company also devoted
resources in information system upgrades and exercised timely
control over corporate costs and quality management to enhance the
effectiveness of risk control.
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At SPG Land, we strongly believe that talents are the final answer
to corporate development. Therefore, staff development has always
been the core strategy of the Company. The objective of “Putting
Efforts with Hearts, Reaping Rewards with Happiness”, which SPG
Land has aspired to achieve, has laid a solid foundation for corporate
development. In 2011, SPG Land expedited the establishment
of a talent development system, formulated a five-year talent
development plan and set up a hierarchical training system. Talent
mapping and outstanding talent development plans were completed.
The assessment system for all levels of staff was refined and the
culture of “Reshaping SPG Land” was promoted. In recent years,
through ongoing devotion of resources, SPG Land has gradually
attracted and cultivated a team of people who are innovative, down-
to-earth and courageous. With combined efforts, we maintained a
satisfactory revenue growth albeit the immense pressure from the
strictest austerity measures ever imposed on the real estate sector
last year. In 2012, a year to be filled with changes, this experienced
professional team will remain as the strongest power for SPG Land
to overcome challenges with ease and steer through the storm.

Looking back the past 14 years of development, each drastic
market change was a test that SPG Land had to go through
before advancing to another level and achieving swift growth.
SPG Land aims at becoming a long-lasting enterprise. Stability and
aggressiveness, which have always been our corporate notion, are
also the keys to SPG Land’s success in overcoming challenges and
achieving brilliant results. SPG Land currently owns a large parcel
of premium land as reserve. In 2012, we will adopt a prudent land
expansion strategy and a sound financial strategy and emphasize
good cash management. It can be envisaged that the economic
situation and market environment will still be filled with uncertainties
and challenges in the year ahead. But it is also the turbulent market
environment that will provide the best opportunities for an enterprise
to grow swiftly. In face of market challenges, SPG Land has fully
prepared itself in the three main aspects below and witnessed the
results early this year:
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Comprehensive coordination for timely breakthrough:
“Planning” should be the emphasis of enterprises in face
of severe market control. SPG Land is just like a chess game
covering the whole country and project development were
strategically coordinated in various cities. In the cities where
the market was recovering and vibrant, we quickened the pace
in introducing diversified products to the market in a timely
and swift manner, while in the markets where the development
lagged behind, we concentrated in careful advance forecast
and full preparation. As for project launches, we focused on
developing products with rigid demand in well-developed
regions in response to the market in order to make sure that
the interaction between project development and market sales
was positive and effective.

“High class rigid demand” for products: It is believed that
the demand for real estate investment in China will remain
tightened in a long period of time, while the extensive and
urgent demand for self-use housing will still play a significant
role. As the consumer price index (CPI) softens, the People's
Bank of China (PBOC) has started to lower the reserve ratio.
The Government will also gradually and separately release the
across-the-board restrictions on real estate finance. As a result
of our logical and all-round thinking towards the market, most
of the projects launched by SPG Land this year are products
with rigid demand. They are well-located with a relatively small
area, catering to the needs of rich people and middle class
families of purchasing their first property or changing to a
better home. We have to gauge market demand and capitalize
on our long-time strength in “high-end real estate business” to
avoid being drawn into the abyss of low-end competition and
explore the Blue Ocean market.
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3. Mature projects help boost sales: The projects launched by
SPG Land this year are mostly mature properties situated in
premium city locations, such as Xi Shui Dong, Global 188,
the Metropolitan, Tiffany, Xiuxi Apartment and Florea. As
compared with their competitors, after years of development,
these projects are equipped with more comprehensive and
better internal and external ancillary facilities and are widely
appreciated due to the high quality products and service
delivered previously. Our long-established brand name
advantages and market popularity in the regional markets will
effectively guarantee SPG Land’s breakthrough in the coming
year.

SPG Land has been following a stable development track while
adopting a proactive, aggressive and passionate attitude in
marketing planning and execution. Over these years, our imaginative
and extremely effective marketing and execution capabilities have
created encouraging results for SPG land. 2012 will definitely be a
challenging year. But we believe that “all success hinges on human
effort”, and we are also good at seizing every opportunity arising
from the turbulent market by capitalizing on our own strengths.

Looking ahead, on behalf of the board of directors, | would like to
thank all shareholders, investors, strategic cooperation and business
partners for their trust and support for the Group during the year.
2012 is destined to be a year of ups and downs and drastic changes.
However, as the saying goes, “Infinite view from the perilous
mountain-top”, | believe that SPG Land is fully energized to ride
through the challenges subsequent to the proactive and effective
adjustment of its corporate structure and corporate culture last
year. In future, we will continue to pursue the 2+X high-end real
estate strategy, keep up our standardized, systematic and specialized
operation and embrace the changes in the real estate sector in China
in a stable and aggressive manner. | also hope to create outstanding
values for our shareholders and build a more solid business
foundation and create a bright future for SPG Land.
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2011 is a year of strictest control imposed by the PRC Government
on the real estate industry. In 2011, bank loans were reduced by
tightening measures introduced by the PRC Government, such as
purchase restrictions, price and loan restrictions and property tax,
several raises of bank reserve requirements and an increase in the
interest rates for deposits and loans. Under the influence of such
control measures, property prices were brought under control and
the turnover of real estates experienced a swift drop in certain cities.
Under such circumstances, the Group responded quickly to market
changes by adopting diversified marketing and sales strategies in
new property launches.

Adhering to the Group’s “2+X" product strategy, namely large scale
residential communities, city center integrated projects and leisure
and resort facilities, we have developed a diversified product mix
to serve the discerning needs of our customers. We firmly believe
that our different project types complement with each other and a
diversified product portfolio has allowed us to achieve revenues in
different economic conditions, so that the Group is able to attain
the targets of maintaining satisfactory contract sales in a tightening
market and maximizing the long-term value of the Company.
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The Group is committed to offering high-end properties and
developing high quality and unique high grade products. Despite
the severe industrial environment in 2011, the Group pursued a pro-
active and effective marketing and promotion strategy targeted at
target customers who were after a high-end living environment.
Xiuxi Apartment and Tiffany in Shanghai both reached their year-
beginning sales targets under a reasonable pricing strategy. By taking
advantage of the weak market to launch its sales and promotion
campaign, Changshu Emerald Bay, which was situated in Yangtze
River Delta, demonstrated remarkable results by recording a turnover
of over RMB100 million within half day amidst the weak market.
City-centre integrated projects in Yangtze River Delta such as Global
188 in Suzhou and Xi Shui Dong in Wuxi, which are regarded as the
landmark projects in the locality with tremendous market popularity,
also recorded good sales performance during FY2011. Moreover,
Florea in Haikou and Metropolitan in Kunming have long been
setting the benchmark of prices and topping the sales performance
charts in the respective areas and even cities. As the first project
launched by SPG Land in the northern market, Andaluz in Taiyuan
caught wide attention in the high-end property market in Taiyuan
by virtue of its accurate positioning as a villa and its unique high-
end product design. The project realized a total sales amount of
more than RMB120 million in early November during the internal
pre-sale and set new records in terms of the units sold, sales amount
and selling prices in the local villa market. Just the sales amount of
the project for a month has exceeded the accrued sales amount of
certain projects nearby in the entire year.

During the Year, the Group obtained contracted sales of RMB3.2
billion, which was a bit behind the contract sales growth maintained
by the Group during the past five years. However, given the
sufficient supply of units for sale in 2012 and the flexible marketing
and pricing tactics adopted by the Group, | am confident that the
Group will achieve the same level of contract sales growth as in the
previous years very soon.

As of December 31, 2011, we had a total of 16 projects under
development in eight cities, with a total gross floor areas (“GFA")
over 1.253 million sq.m., a record in the Group’s development
history. During FY2011, total GFA completed and delivered was
430,000 sg.m..
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While residential products were under certain constraints, the
Group also achieved satisfactory results in the sector of commercial
properties. At the end of September 2011, the arcade at Suzhou
Global 188 was grandly opened. On 24 December 2011, the first
batch of shops commenced operation in the commercial street at Xi
Shui Dong in Wuxi. The maturity of these commercial properties will
provide the Group with a continuous and steady cash flow.

To ensure stable and long-term income, the Group develops the
hotel business through expansion of product line and diversification
of its portfolio.

Apart from the Peninsula Shanghai which has already been put into
operation, SPG Land opened another hotel and a serviced apartment,
namely the Holiday Inn Kangqgiao Shanghai managed by the
InterContinental Hotels Group and Fraser Suites Suzhou managed by
the Singapore’s Frasers Group, in May 2011.

The operations of the Peninsula Shanghai in 2011 were in no way
affected by the post-World Expo effect. On the contrary, the major
operating indicators of the hotel bypassed those in 2010. The
Peninsula Shanghai has established its leadership in the industry
with its average room rate and average rate of available rooms
ranking the first and its occupancy rate ranking the third among
similar luxury hotels in Shanghai. Meanwhile, the market position
of the Peninsula Shanghai was also recognized by the industry and
mainstream opinions. The hotel has achieved numerous awards,
including the Best Luxury Hotel in China 2011, the Best Hotel SPA
and the Best Business Hotel in Shanghai, etc.
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Fraser Suites Suzhou officially opened on 24 May 2011. Although
serviced apartments are generally characterized by slow occupancy
by long-stay customers, by adopting a reasonable market strategy
and positioning and effective sales follow-up, we still managed to
reap operating gross profits every month starting from the fourth
month of operation, which was rare in the serviced apartment
industry. As of 31 December 2011, Fraser Suites Suzhou has already
established a leading industry position and opened a new high-end
apartment market in Suzhou.

Holiday Inn Kanggiao Shanghai officially opened on 27 May 2011.
Benefited from the high quality hardware of the hotel and effective
preliminary marketing activities, the hotel generated operating gross
profit during the first month of operation. Such opening results are
scarce in the hotel industry. The hotel has obtained a large market
share in Pudong by combining its own strengths and geographical
location.

During the Year, the overall operation and management of the
property management arm of the Group, SPG Property Services, was
in order and smooth. SPG Property Services fulfilled all the operation
and management indicators in a satisfactory manner, with a material
increase in operation quality and customer satisfaction under each
service item, a significant drop in valid customer complaints and nil
quality accidents recorded. The property management service level of
each project was highly accredited by customers and the industry in
the respective areas. SPG Property Services facilitated the extension
of the branding strategies of the Group by creating value with its

services.

As of 31 December 2011, SPG Property Services managed an area
of 2.24 million sq.m. under contracts, serving totally 13 property
projects for seven property branches in Shanghai, Wuxi, Changshu,
Suzhou, Haikou, Kunming and Taiyuan.
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During the year under review, the Group entered into strategic
cooperation agreements with Shanghai Construction Group, China
Construction Eighth Engineering Division Corp. Ltd. and Longxin
Group to cooperate in the development and construction of real
estate throughout the PRC. Following the development trends of the
industry, the Group proactively allied with renowned construction
contractors to share complementary advantages with a view to
further enhancing its corporate competitiveness and development
vitality. Meanwhile, this was also a proactive measure taken by
the Group to deepen the cooperation with renowned construction
contractors and realize mutual development. This will become an
example of complementary and mutual development of enterprises
in the industry. As of 31 December 2011, the Group established
strategic cooperation partnership with 16 famous suppliers.

Despite the short-term market uncertainties, the Group is determined
to continue to maintain the soundness of our financial management.
The Group has been maintaining a prudent financial management
approach since its listing in 2006. During the year under review, we
explored a variety of sources of financing in view of the tightening of
bank loans.

In April 2011, the Group successfully issued US$200 million
denominated senior notes due 2016. The issue received
overwhelming response from a wide and high quality investor base,
with a total subscription of over US$340 million. The issue signifies
the reopening of the capital market by the Company as a source of
financing, allowing the Company to access longer term capital and
improve its debt maturity profile. Besides, during the Year, the Group
also succeeded in obtaining trust facilities from certain famous
credit institutions in the PRC. In times of tight money and difficulty
in obtaining bank loans, the wide variety of financing sources above
also increased the Group's flexibility in financing.
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The Group’s strategy is to maintain a portfolio of land bank that is
sufficient to support the Group’s development pipeline for the future
five years. Therefore, the Group continues to develop high-quality
projects in the more economically developed Yangtze River Delta and
provincial capital cities with fast economic growth.

In February 2011, the Group successfully won the bid for a land
parcel situated in Ci Cheng Old City, northwest of Jiangbei District,
Ningbo, Zhejiang Province. The land parcel covers a site area of
about 274,000 sq.m. and GFA of about 366,000 sq.m.. The project
enjoys an excellent geographical location, with the entrance to
Hangzhou Bay Bridge linking Shanghai to its southwest, City Express
Ring Road to its east, Yubei Expressway to its north and is adjacent
to Xiaoyong Railroad. The land parcel will be used in the construction
of residential, commercial and hotel properties as planned.

The Group believes that the successful bid for the Ci Cheng project
in Ningbo is a significant and strong move toward the Group's
strategic expansion into Zhejiang Province and establishing a more
comprehensive geographical coverage of the Yangtze River Delta.

As of 31 December 2011, the Group held a quality land bank of
approximately 5.81 million sq.m. which is sufficient for at least five

years of development.
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In 2012, the Group will keep on undertaking property development
in a sound and prudent manner. The Group will continue to
pursue its “2+X" product strategy and persist in developing high-
end properties. At the same time, we are already well prepared to
make adjustments at any time in response to market changes. In
face of the current uncertainties in the industry in general, we will
continue to facilitate the collection of funds from sales and control
the development costs and administrative expenses by upholding
prudent financial management strategies to secure healthy cash

flow.

Last but not least, | would like to express my deep appreciation to
our shareholders and capital providers for their unfailing support, our
customers for their choice on our products and services, our staff for
their fervent hard work and our suppliers, contractors and strategic
cooperation partners. | believe that 2012 is going to be a year with
challenges but full of opportunities.
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PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLIO
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PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLIO
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SHANGHAI PROJECTS Li#f#IEH
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1. Tiffany (Cambridge Waters) 525 - & ERFEKER)
Site area (sq.m) HERE R (FHK)  « 439,667
GFA (sq.m) 482 S 45 (F 75 K) : 579,696

Brief Introduction EB & :

- Alarge-scale property development comprising mainly
residential properties targeted at middle class customers
HEEMESHEERNALYEERIER - LHERER
FEHEERF

- Within 5 minutes to the nearest Metro station and within
20 minutes to the city center by the subway
FERE AR HbI LK) 5 D EEITIE - T ER A b ATE
L

- Phase | & Il have been completed; Tiffany (Phase IlI) is
partly completed and delivered
—HAN-HELRT  BRE(ZH)ELLAIRTR
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Site area (sqm) HARFEFE (SFHK) ¢ 1,584,334
GFA (so.m) #4822 EEmE A& (F 75 K) : 1,150,697

One of the largest low-density residential developments in
Shanghai
LERANEREETRR 2 —

Within 25 minutes’ driving distance to the city center

FEEETIAR L 25 D EEETR

Phase I-VI have been completed, Xiuxi Apartment
commenced its pre-sale in 2010
—EREEERK - FEAER 2010 FEEES

Site area (sqm) HAREE (FHK) ¢ 42,750
GFA (sq.m) #4822 S E A5 (F 75 K) : 59,630

The project is located close to the airport, the 2010 World
Expo site and the upcoming Shanghai Disneyland

ZIA B #2010 FHEIF RN RRE R H
TREE

The hotel has 400 guest rooms. This project also consist

of apartments, retail space, conference facilities and the
clubhouse

%A 400 EHEEEH - A8 - TEEH  SRRBRE

The project development was completed in 2010. The
Holiday Inn announced its grand opening in 2011 and the
apartments have been all sold out

EHER 2010 FEEZERX - REBEEER 2011 £E516
ERRAZE  BEAABELEHNEE
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Site area (sq.m) HAREFE (FFHK) ¢ 304,001
GFA (sqm) 2B 222EmE & (£ 75 K) : 202,629

- The largest Chinese-style, lakeside villa development in
Shanghai
EEHEARHHE BIEEE

- The project has approximately 700 houses; Located in
Qingpu District; 25km from Honggiao Airport
IR EBEME - B4 700 fREEHEK - BBREIIB#S
25 RE

- Adjacent to ancient water town Zhujiajiao; 1,700-year
history and a famous tourist site; excellent ecological area
WEARAERESHEEZRA - RRAREHF 1,700 F
JEESE KR SR - DARLBSE AR RE ki i it

- Lot I-VIl have been completed
—ELHMRERTT

Site area (sq.m) HASE AR (FFHK) ¢ 13,898

GFA (sq.m) #82 SEmE 45 (F 75 K) : 92,520
includes:
BIE

Peninsula Hotel, Peninsula Residences and Peninsula Arcade

FBEE - EBEEEEABRFERES

- Peninsula Hotel has a total of 235 rooms; Peninsula
Residences has a total of 39 units
F RS 235 AEME - EE8FSHEELAZHES 39
EEBfL
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- The Peninsula Hotel has full facilities including the
signature Peninsula lobby lounge, jazz bar, Peninsula Aqua
Treatment Centre, swimming pool and 5 restaurants

YETERERERE  FAEROLBAENEE - B Ly |
TEEE « EEKERL - FAOERSE 5 R EEE L EALLLT LI T

- The signature development was completed in 2009 and
the hotel was opened at March 2010
ZIRFHIEEEB KR 2009 FEK - EBFBEE
F 2010 4 3 AIEER A%
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PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLIO
YISEIH H

YANGTZE RIVER DELTA PROJECTS 4T = 44 WIEH H




30 SPG Land (Holdings) Limited Annual Report 2011 ;

Site area (sq.m) HERETE (F5K) : 248,800
GFA (sq.m) #8325EmEE (FFA2K) : 695,400

- Located in the heart of Wuxi and in close proximity to the central commercial and business district. Currently the largest city-core
development project in Wuxi, designed as a multi-phase and large-scale city-centre integrated development comprising residential and
commercial compound
PSSO BB RERE - REHB SRR TTORERIER @ RERGTARRETHEFOAE - ZHRENLE
S4818H

- About two hours driving distance to Shanghai

EEBE E/BHOM/ NS EAE

- Phase Il was completed in 2011, and Phase | & V started pre-sale in 2010 and 2011
ZHRAR2011FTT - —HEIMAER2010FM201 1 FHRMKEES
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PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLIO
YISEIH H

2.JinGuiLiRg-¢EE

Site area (sq.m) HuA&EITE (F752K) © 272,376
GFA (sq.m) #EiEgemiE (FA2K) : 778,383

Brief Introduction HE f§) : | ..

- Situated at the core of Taihu New Town Central Business District
(CBD) next to new Wuxi government head offices and city hall
and echoing SPG’s Xi Shui Dong, the new project has excellent
future prospect
R R R TSR AR O HIER + BB A5 T BT
NERTTREY - MRS - F/KRIEREETE - JHE AR
BRENERATR

- Alliance with top-notch architects and design teams, transform
the premium site into a new landmark at the core of Taihu New

Town CBD
VE [R) TE AR R EERM KRG TRM + 5278 B 3T A AT IZ
IHBER BORTHIAS

- Construction and pre-sale started in 2011
BER2011 ERIIFARES

3. Chao Yang Men 5 & - 53R5 P9

Site area (sq.m) H &M (F52K) : 263300
GFA (sq.m) #325EmEE (FHK) : 681,690

Brief Introduction & B &4 :

- Thesite is in close proximity to the Management Committee of
Xishan Economic Development Zone and is along the key artery
of Wuxi city — Taihu Avenue
AR B ZMH I RERIWANES "BHRAEE" HA
HAREZ A

- Well-covered by comprehensive transportation network, the
district is close to the YRD High Speed Rail - one of the biggest
stimulating factor for the future development of the district,
which will gradually become the preferred choice for home
buyers from urban area
[EiB AR - 18 B TER B R i % R BRI E
NEEEROBE =S - WERLSKATREREREE
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SUZHOU PROJECT # M ¥ H

Site area (sq.m) AR EFE (F772K) : 14,896
GFA (sq.m) #832%EETE (F2K) : 149,308

- Located in the CBD of Suzhou Industrial Park, near Jinji Lake,
underground connected to the subway

IR S HM VAN TEEh AREKR - HEEE

ik

- Alandmark project consisting of serviced apartment (Frasers
Suites), hotel (Chedi Hotel), grade A office tower and retail
podium, the tallest building under construction in vicinity
HRBA AT (EEE) BE EREER)  FREFER
RIFEEEPAREHRAEE  RRNEENRSEE

- Awarded “Top 10 New landmarksin China”

1S [hETRFRAR | Bt

- Fraser Suites Suzhou situated in Global 188 officially opened in
May 2011
IRBR188%R /N IR B A B 0201145 A IEX FI%E
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CHANGSHU PROJECTS ##JE H

Site area (sq.m) HARETE (F77K) : 119,769
GFA (sq.m) #23E5Em1E (‘F77K) : 86,728

- Situated at the fringe of Yu Mountain, facing the national park and with established amenities and infrastructures

IRE LR - HEERKAE @ #H TE0 X RENEMRRE

- Aprestigious project in the area consisting of townhouses and duplexes units

REERERIE R E R E AR EEEEIRE

- Phase | & Il have almost been completed

—HM BB EARTT
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Site area (sq.m) #iA&ETE ((F5K) : 107,391
GFA (sq.m) #B3E5EmETE (F77oK) ¢ 121,325

Situated at the unique location and is adjoining the scenic Shang lake to the north along with impressive mountain views

FZHBUREREERN PR - WHEE S ARRBUNILSR

Commencement of construction in 2010 and also started the pre-sale

BR2010 FR TR E FRIREES
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NINGBO PROJECT %2 ¢ JE

Site area (sq.m) HERETE (F772K) : 274,192
GFA (sq.m) #8325 EE (F752K) : 365987

- Acquired in February 2011 with an excellent location at the
entrance to Hangzhou Bay Bridge linking Shanghai to its
southwest, City Express Ring Road to its east, Yubei Expressway
to its north and is adjacent to Xiaoyong Railroad
238 B RR2011402 A UkE - Ei?ﬁtﬂ’]ﬁﬁiﬁﬁ FIFE
KRN KFELLE REEESEHDRERKE - LE R
LRI AR - WA

- Astrategic move to mark the Group’s expansion into Zhejiang
province, and establish a more comprehensive coverage of the
Yangtze River Delta

EEHRASERNIEANBEEREL TEAMBER
—&  BEAEEER=AMEE E EEMIEEEE

- The project is under planning currently
ZIE BB EER A
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KUNMING PROJECT EBiIHH

Site area (sq.m) #u A& EITE (F752K) © 170,806
GFA (sq.m) #B2EEmiE (F°K) : 614,994

- Located along Dianchi Road in the metropolitan area of
Kunming, where the Provincial Central Administration Offices
are located, is a high quality multi-phase residential and
commercial project
RERAMROEAEMED - AAERERRITH
MAR - B ERNARBEEEREELRSHR

- Designated as the recommended urban living residential project
by China Real Estate Index System in 2009
#152009 FHEERBAMATHERS [HMTEEEE
HA |

- Phasel, Il &Il are completed
—H - ZHRER=HERSE AKX
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HAIKOU PROJECTS #g I35 H

Site area (sq.m) HAEETE (F5K) : 292,174
GFA (sq.m) #3258 R ((F2K) : 252,759

- Located at the first-tier waterfront in the northern part of
Haikou, the Florea enjoys an unobstructed ocean view,
comprising Spanish-style residential development
B ATIEE - B - LA —PEEERES
RERTRETER

- Phaselis completed, Phase Il &Illis in the process of construction
and pre-sale

—HIE &R - —HN=EER T AETRET

- Adjacent to on the National Tourism Island planning, the project
has a great potential of appreciation

KAEBRRIKESHRE - FTHEENEX

Site area (sq.m) HuA&EITE (F752K) © 339,720
GFA (sq.m) #B32EemEE ((F75°K) 1,000,652

- Located at the core area of New CBD, just close to the New
administration Center of Haikou. The new administrative center
was ready and occupied at the end of 2010
A7 AT RO EEH(CBD) - EEEAMHTTHRT
Ry o FTEAROER2010F &R HE A
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- The land connects the Coast Avenue from North, and faces the
being built International Exhibition Centre
A EO MR EMNERGE2——BEAE g5
HEAEEERPHEREREAO
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- The project is under the process of design
R AT BAAR &% T
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TAIYUAN PROJECT KJE ¥ H

Site area (sq.m) # AR EIFE (F£752K) : 429,000

GFA (sq.m) #32&emiE (‘F5°K) 352,900

Acquired in July 2009, located in Xiaodian District, southeast of Taiyuan City, the capital of Shanxi Province, an area with enormous
potential as the local government intends to develop the area into a multi-functional residential, commercial and leisure new town
center

HAEPA2009F7 ARG - LRILAREARREA/NER « ZMERMCERERES - REMBTHERNZINGEET  EERK
BT A L

Planned to be a low-rise residential community with leisure, sports and retail facilities. The topography of the land is raised so the
development will overlook the whole of Taiyuan City

FEREBNRE  BERBERENEZEEITHE - HEFHAR  fEXR

The project started its presale in 2011
IHH BR2011FRIATEE
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HUANGSHAN PROJECT #1135 H

Site area (sq.m) HAEETE (F77K) : 2,283,733
GFA (sq.m) #E2&ema (F2K) 1,141,867

- Located in the northern part of Huangshan, close to the legendary scenic Taiping Lake

AR E ILAEED - AR E R A B S Bt K 08

- Multi-phase resort development comprising five-star hotels, golf course, resort villas and apartments

REPERNERRIAR - BEAEREE - RREXNS - ERIIEZRAE

- Agolf practicing facility designed by world-renowned Gary Player was trial to run by the end of 2009 as scheduled
Rt R TE AR A = ERER 5T AT Gary Player 25T H) = BB KBRS 102009 FIK N EAR 1A 8 &

- Hidden Tiger Golf Club was awarded as “Top 10 New Golf Courses in China”
EALE = MK (BLERREE [ HESBAHINS
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Over the past two years, China has implemented a series of measures
to curb property speculation. These include raising interest rates
and imposing limits on house purchases and prices. Following the
introduction of austerity measures in 2010 and early 2011, growth in
housing demand were suppressed considerably.

Given the difficult market conditions, the Group adhered to the
planned pace for developing properties, adopted flexible marketing
strategies to tailor those to specific conditions in respective local
markets, products and locations, proactively strengthened the
internal controls and persistently explored cost-saving opportunities
through the organizational restructuring.

During the year under review, the Group recorded a total revenue of
approximately RMB5,677,523,000 (2010:RMB4,271,189,000) with
an annual growth rate of more than 33%. Net profit attributable to
equity holders of the Company was approximately RMB898,320,000
(2010:RMB890,206,000), up approximately 1% over last year.
Basic and diluted earnings per share attributable to equity holders
of the Company amounted to RMBO0.855 respectively for the year
ended 31 December 2011 (2010: RMB0.847 and RMBO0.823), which
represented an increase of 1.0% and 3.9% respectively.

For 2011, the Group conducted its business activities in the following
major business segments: property development, hotel development,
property investment and ancillary business. Among all, property
development remains the core business and key revenue generator
of the Group.

BEME PEET - EEHBATEY
BEFE EPEEAGANEX - BEEREB R
RE- 22— ZSFR-_ZBE-——FNEHEH
HER FEFRERAAXE-

ERTRABH AEBEERHRRBMREN
FRERVE RREZLHEBBUAY S
EWITmE EaktEOAERBBER &
BmaERIES YEBRBEARES
KEERAOEE -

REEFE AEEHESLAKENDAR
#5677,523,000t( — & — T F: AR
4,271,189,0007C ) © F # & X i #@33% °
ARARAREFBEAEBRBEENO R AR
#898,320,0007t( = & — T F: AR ¥
890,206,0007T ) *+ W K F I I L91% - B =
—E-—FF+_AZFT-HLFE AR
AREREAEBLCERERNREEFTRF
DR ABARKISSST(ZE—ZTF: AR
#0847 R AR 08237L) BEF 5 7l
#IN1.0% %3.9% °

—E-—F AEERTIHZEEZB A
ETEEBES WEBR BEHER-
MERERBEEXRH -HF WEEHRD
RAEENZLEBREIZRAERR -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BB A S 43 A

BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued) X% O EE(E)

Property Development W) EER

RZE——F AEEETEEELE-B
EHRXZMNIEE /B EEMEEEL9,646
FoHK(ZE — T F:305798F F oK)
Y XS W m A A A R #5,387,000,000
T REEBNNN%(ZE—ZTF:ARE
4,114,000,0007) - &= R EZ A AR
FEMBERE BEHOHHKE - EAMNE

The Group achieved satisfactory result in 2011. The total GFA sold
and delivered was 429,646 sq.m. (2010: 305,798 sg.m.) while the
revenue booked from property sales added up to approximately
RMB5,387 million, representing a year-on-year (“YoY") increase
of approximately 31% (2010: RMB4,114 million). The growth
of revenue was mainly attributable to the projects of Tiffany in
Shanghai, Xishuidong in Wuxi, La Casa in Changshu, Global 188 in

Suzhou and the Metropolitan in Kunmin. SE HEMNORKISSKERNES KM
FIEA -

Kunming Metropolitan - Phase I, Il & Ill - ERBEaAS-F IRIH-28 180,046 1,487,943 8,264
apartments
Kunming Metropolitan - Phase | & Il - shops 2 BR 8 & A8 —F I R I B -7 & 1,085 28,318 26,100
Cambridge Waters (Tiffany) and BEBKS ERE)REBKE 78,378 1,439,189 18,362
Cambridge Watertown
Changshu La Casa - Phase | - townhouse ~ HH B EE-FIH—EH R 2 60,406 716,292 11,858
Changshu La Casa - Phase | - villas FRARRE-ZIH-FE 356 7,000 19,663
Wuxi Xishuidong - apartments BHEHKR-DE 54,148 725,429 13,397
Wuxi Xishuidong - commercial BEHHKR-BE 825 23,142 28,051
Suzhou Global 188 - office building BN ERI188—H N ig 16,590 408,078 24,597
Suzhou Global 188 - apartments BINRIK188—1A B 3,963 106,922 26,981
Haikou Florea - Phase | &Il BOLE-FIRIH 33,161 428,794 12,931
Cambridge Forest Newtown — Phase IV - shops 1 ¥ &—SIVE—E 4 386 10,200 26,425
Holiday Inn LEEERBBE 302 5,819 19,268
Total @t 429,646 5,387,126 12,539
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For the year under review, the Group’s contracted sales reached
approximately RMB3,207 million (2010: RMB6,390 million) and
aggregate contracted GFA amounted to 188,904 sq.m. (2010:
482,173 sg.m.). The average contracted selling price increased from
RMB13,252 per sg.m. in 2010 to RMB16,979 per sg.m. in 2011,
representing a significant increase of 28%.

During the year under review, the contracted sales from the 2nd-
tier cities contributed a major part of the Group’s total contracted
sales, particularly from Wuxi Xi Shui Dong (24%), Suzhou Global
188 (14%), Changshu La Casa (14%), Kunming Metropolitan (13%)
and Haikou Florea (8%), and also from Shanghai projects such as
Shanghai Cambridge Waters — Tiffany (13%), Shanghai Cambridge
Xiuxi Apartment (11%).

In February 2011, the Group successfully acquired a project in Ci
Cheng New Town, Ningbo, for a total consideration of approximately
RMB1,573 million. The project covers a site area of about 274,192
sq.m. and GFA of 365,987 sq.m., with an average land cost of
RMB4,298/sq.m. The project enjoys an excellent location, with the
entrance to Hangzhou Bay Bridge linking Shanghai to its southwest,
City Express Ring Road to its east, Yubei Expressway to its north and
is adjacent to Xiaoyong Railroad.

The Group believes this acquisition plays a strategic role in its
expansion into Zhejiang province and helps to establish a more
comprehensive coverage of the Yangtze River Delta.

As of 31 December 2011, the Group held a quality land bank of
approximately 5.8 million sq.m. or approximately 5.0 million sq.m.
on an attributable basis, which is sufficient for at least five years of
development.

REEFE AEEBENHEEENAA
K ¥3,207,000,0007t(Z & —Z F: AR
6,390,000,0007T ) * & ) £ £ | 15 4 7 =
188,904 75 K(ZF — T F:482,173F 75
K- FPHERNHEEBTH _ZE -8
FRRKARBIB2Z2T EAZE = ——F
FFHAKARBE16,9797T © KIE 1 28% °

REEFE —HS/ATAENHEEELALASE
BReHONEEEEP KT LERE
5 70 K E(24%) ~ & N IR ER188(14%) » & #
18R E(4%)  EABE S KXH3%) %8 A
15 (8%) LA R BRI KA B 2 E(13%) M
EBYEFEZRABN%SMLN EEMER -

RZE——FZA AEERKEN
RERZERFT O —EIEE @KELD
BANRMI573{E L % E B 15 # E B &
274,192 75 oK - 2 5 H 18 /365,987 F 7
K FEH LKA RET T HKAR®SL298
Lo BEENXZTEMME R ELSmIM
BABEELE REEZEWSRAK .
tEmAMItERAK  WHAFSHK-

Bl

AEBEMEE HBERBERASEERMNIT
EERAABRER EESAKEEER
AR EEREMAMNMEEEE-

HE-_ZE——E€+-_A=+—A8I1 &&=
B A EE L& E R £5,800,000F 7
K 3k #95,000,000F 75 K (1% fE 1 H & H)
EUNENARZELRAENEERTE -



On 1 April 2011, SPG Land successfully priced US$200 million
denominated senior notes due 2016 with a coupon rate of 13.5%
and an offer price at 98.244% of the principal amount. The issue
received overwhelming response from a wide and high quality
investor base, with a total subscription of over US$340 million (1.7
times oversubscribed). The proceeds were used for the repayment
of certain offshore loans and general corporate purposes. The issue
signifies another strategic achievement in our financial management,
allowing the Company to diversify its funding sources, accessing
longer term capital and improving its debt maturity profile.

The Group continued to develop its hotel business with a
view to develop a diversified business portfolio and generate
stable and reliable income. We keep close cooperation with
internationally reputable operators such as the Peninsula Group, the
InterContinental Hotels Group, Fraser Hospitality and GHM Hotels,
etc.

Our first and crown-jewel city-centre integrated project, the
Peninsula Shanghai development on the historic Bund, had its hotel
and shopping arcade grand opening in March 2010. Up till now,
the hotel has achieved numerous awards from hospitality and travel
industries.

Our second hotel in Shanghai, the Holiday Inn Kanggiao Shanghai,
located strategically within Cambridge Forest Newtown and close
to Pudong International Airport and Shanghai Disney’s future site,
has 400 hotel rooms, food and beverage facilities, conference rooms
and clubhouse. This hotel was practically completed in 2010 and
announced its grand opening in May 2011.
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Fraser Suites Suzhou situated in Global 188 and officially opened
in May 2011. With 276 exclusive apartments, Fraser Suites Suzhou
occupies one of the two towers of Global 188. In line with the Fraser
brand, each apartment is luxuriously appointed and fully equipped
with every convenience to support the lifestyle of busy executives
and their families. Tenants of the office, leisure and commercial
space in the other tower will enjoy a unique synergy having Fraser
Suites Suzhou adjacent to them.

The Hidden Tiger Golf Club in Huangshan, Anhui Province, was also
put into services on 30 October 2010 and awarded as “Top 10 New
Golf Course of China” in September, 2011.

The stability of rental income ensures a sustainable growth of the
Group. As of 31 December 2011, the Group leased out an aggregate
GFA of approximately 171,159 square meters, revenue of which
represented approximately 0.6% of the Group’s total revenue during
the year under review.

The Group continued to diversify its business portfolio by operating
one of the most prestigious kindergartens in Shanghai (The China
Welfare Institute Kindergarten), a post-secondary college (Shanghai
Sipo Polytechnic) and a training centre (Shanghai Sipo Vocational
Technical Training Centre), the revenue of which represented
approximately 1.4% of the Group’s total revenue as long-term

recurring income.

BRON BB E R N E AR IR ER188 - A =
T——FHAEXFE- & MIEEER
NEEAF276H B A E 0 5 IR Bk 188/ K&
REZ - - BHEAEBHRMEE T2 H
ESEENSRBE SERICENTHASB
RERAMNEFAFN SBBRBEEN®
BRAEH -—#W- S —BEAEOHRLE KHE
k¥ MaE P a0 sk N R EEEK
ANE BAZBAE NG R KE-

URZBERLUNBRRSBAXEEME
RZE—ZFTA=ZFTBERARE ¥R
E-—FAAKREIPE +ESBRH

AEBREBETNEASKABRKRELE HIFE
BER-WR_ZEZ——F+-_A=Z=+—H &
SEEHEENEERES L 4171,159F
TR REBEFE BRAUREHAEED
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BEAEAMZ —WMHHEEFPESEERY R
B) —FieEhkR(EE B HE RS
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During the year, the Group’s property management and related
services income amounted to approximately RMB44,595,000, an
increase of 17 % from last year (2010: RMB38,268,000). As in 2011,
the Group provided property management services to properties with
a total GFA of around 2.24 million square meters.

With the grand opening of Holiday Inn and Fraser Suites Suzhou in
2011, the Group earned the hotel and related services amounting to
approximately RMB81 million in 2011.

In 2012, the real estate sector in mainland China will continued to
be affected by PRC government’s austerity measures and policy risk
still remains. In the face of demanding conditions, the Group will
persistently develop and deliver quality and versatile products and
services to our customers, and maintain a flexible and active strategy
to boost sales and strive to achieve the planned annual sales target.
The Group will lower its exposure to the hotspot cities, which are the
focus of tightening measures and capture the larger development
room in the high-growth second-tiers cities with more middle-class
people who are pursuing quality lifestyle. In addition, the Group will
also optimize land bank portfolio in readiness to provide strong sales
pipeline.

In 2012, more of our large-scale developments in second-tier cities
such as Wuxi, Changshu and Taiyuan will reach more mature stages
in terms of GFA available for sale and GFA to be delivered, together
with the better operation of the hotels in Shanghai and Suzhou, the
Group is anticipated to experience sustainable business growths in
the years to come.
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S

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

O I A K o A

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
Revenue

The total revenue of the Group for 2011 increase by approximately
33% over the corresponding period last year, from approximately
RMB4,271 million to RMB5,678 million. The Group successfully
completed the development and delivered the total GFA delivered
reached 429,646 sg.m. (2010: 305,798 sg.m.).

Segmental Information
The Group’s business is currently categorized into the operating

segments — sales of property, lease of property, property
management and other related services, hotel and related services

and education. An analysis of the Group's revenue is as follows:

Sales of property MEEE

Sales of parking lot EEMEE

Rental income Hae WA

Property management income & ¥ EE W A &
other related service H b 48 B8 AR 75

Hotel and related services B E X B E R

Education HE

Total 45t

BB RR
i 2

AEEBRZ-ZZ - —FHNBEREZLEFR
HR 3 0 #4933% 0 B 4 A R #4,271,000,000
gL &= A R #5,678,000,0007T ° AN £ E A
NEXRERBREINNEREEDRED E 5
429,646 77 K (Z= & — & 4 : 305,798 F /7
K)o
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MEHEE NEHE DEEERAMCH
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BokESIMET:

4,113,664 1,273,462

- 30,336
29,069 7,361
51,227 14,203

- 80,858
77,229 14

4,271,189 1,406,334




Cost of sales increased by 24% from RMB3,004 million to RMB3,739
million. The cost of sales mainly comprised land costs, construction
costs, capitalized finance costs and sales tax.

Gross profit increased by 53% from RMB1,267 million in 2010 to
RMB1,939 million in 2011, while gross profit margin increased from
about 30% for 2010 to 34% for 2011, which was contributed by
the projects with higher gross profit margin as Shanghai Cambridge
Waters — Tiffany, Haikou Florea and Changshu La Casa.

In 2011, Global City Development Limited as the vendor and the
Group as the purchaser mutually agreed not to proceed with the
completion of acquiring the target company in Ningbo upon arm’s
length discussion and negotiation, hence, the Group received
RMB160 million as compensation and reimbursement of pre-
development cost for the project.

Administrative expenses increased to RMB369 million in 2011 from
RMB260 million in 2010 mainly due to the increase in staff costs,
recruiting expenses and travelling expenditure. Selling and marketing
costs experienced a decrease of 30% as the Group controlled sales
expenses by adopting effective and efficient sales measures under
the current economic circumstances.

Other operating expenses mainly represented the loss of selling one
batch of shops of Kunming the Metropolitan project. These shops
were originally intended for leasing but finally were sold in 2011.
As the customer purchased the batch in large number, the Group
provided a special offer which was lower than the latest revalued
amount on 31 December 2010. Therefore, a loss was recognized.
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The net finance expenses for 2011 was approximately RMB54 million
in 2011 compared to net finance income of approximately RMB26
million in 2010, which was mainly because of the fair value change
on financial derivatives in 2011.

The Group recorded a loss from share of operating results of
associates in 2011 amounting to RMB69 million as compared to a
gain of RMB282 million in last year. As in 2010, Peninsula Hotel
recognized a large amount of valuation gain, however, there was no

such gain in 2011.

The Group recorded a revaluation loss of approximately RMB29
million in 2011, which was mainly due to the area on the property
certificate of one project was less than the estimated area in the
prior year.

Income tax decreased by 21% from RMB618 million in 2010 to
RMB487 million in 2011, with effective tax rate at 23%, and the
decrease of income tax was mainly attributable to no deferred
income tax was charged for revaluation gain on investment

properties in 2011.

T —FHREKRRTNFENARARE
54,000,000t M= — T F MW EE KK
F %8 Bl 4 A A R #26,000,00000 0 £ B )
—E - FHTESRIARAAREAESE
B) AT 2K -

AEBR_ZE-——FHEELEHE QA
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The Group achieved profit attributable to equity holders of RMB898
million (2010: RMB890 million) during the year under review,
increased by 1%, which was mainly due to there was no valuation
gain on investment properties in 2011. At the same time, the
operating results before revaluation gains on investment properties
and tax increased by 8% from RMB1,291 million in 2010 to
RMB 1,399 million in 2011.

Equity attributable to equity holders of the Company reached
RMB5,225 million as at 31 December 2011 (31 December 2010:
RMB4,419 million). Total assets amounted to RMB23,838 million (31
December 2010: RMB21,844 million) and total liabilities stood at
RMB18,532 million (31 December 2010: RMB17,317 million).

The Group’s business operations, bank borrowings and cash
proceeds raised have been the primary income of the Group,
which have been applied in business operations and investment in
development projects.

Net gearing (total borrowings less cash and cash equivalents
including restricted cash over total equity) was 85% as at 31
December 2011. The Group had total cash and cash equivalents
(including restricted cash) of RMB2,952 million, total borrowings of
RMB7,484 million and a stronger equity base of RMB5,306 million as
at 31 December 2011 (31 December 2010: RMB4,527 million).
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The business transactions of the Group were mainly denominated
in Renminbi. Except for fund raising transactions in capital market,
there is limited exposure in foreign exchange risk.

The Group has established a treasury policy with the objective of
better controlling of treasury functions and lowering costs of funds.
In providing funds to all its operations, funding terms have been
centrally reviewed and monitored at Group level.

In accomplishing the aim of minimizing interest risk, the policy of
the Group is to continue to closely monitor and manage the Group’s
loan portfolio by its existing agreements’ interest margin spread with
market interest rates and offers from banks.

Trade receivables mainly arose from sale and lease of properties.
Receivables in respect of sale and lease of properties are settled
in accordance with the terms stipulated in the sale and purchase

agreements or lease agreements.

As at 31 December 2011, the Group pledged properties, land use
rights and time deposits with a carrying amount of RMB8,576 million
to secure bank facilities granted to the Group. The total secured
loan balance outstanding as at 31 December 2011 amounted to
RMB6,052 million.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BB A S 43 A

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE (Continued) Bt # &R IR ()
Financial Guarantees B & E R

As at 31 December 2011, the Group provided guarantees to banks RZE——F+_A=Z+—B - AEEH
for: LATNZERBITREER:

Mortgage facilities granted to purchasers  [A] %) % B {7 B R 1218 B s 2 #

of property units EREER 819,865

BEXAEE

Capital Commitment

Property development activities: W EERER
— Contracted but not provided for —BEHNEREE 3,094,452
— Authorized but not contracted for —EREERTLD 3,122,908
Total of property development MEREBE 6,217,360
Joint venture interests aRTtERR -

Total A

Eﬁ

6,217,360
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As of 31 December 2011, the Group had a total of 1,514 employees
(2010: 1,290 employees). The Group remunerates its employees
based on their performance, experience and the prevailing market
wage level. In addition, performance bonuses are granted on a
discretionary basis. Share award scheme was adopted to attract
and retain talents to contribute to the Group. In order to improve
the service and performance, the Group provided various types of
programs for staff training.

RZE——F+_A=Z+—H AEEH
15142 EBE(ZE—FF : 12904 E) °
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BB ARSI RBEAS AAEBBS -
AEBFCRESEEANE THIRRE
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The board of directors (the “Board”) and the management of
the Company treasure the shareholders’ confidence and trust in
the ability and vision of the management team and have pledged
to maintain an open and responsive attitude in shareholders’
communications that are on par with other leading corporations in
the industry. The Board has been adamant in upholding best practice
in corporate governance to ensure the timeliness, transparency and
fairness of disclosure to maximize the Group's corporate values
and will continue to enhance its disclosure practices to display an
exemplary corporate governance practice.

It is the Board’s belief that a sound corporate governance system
has been and will remain as an instrumental element to the healthy
growth of the Group.

The Company has complied with the Code on Corporate Governance
Practices (the "CG Code”) and the rules on the Corporate
Governance Report (the “CG Rules”) as set out respectively in
Appendices 14 and 23 to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) for the year ended 31 December
2011, except for code provision A.4.2 with respect to the re-election
by shareholders of all directors appointed to fill a casual vacancy at
the first general meeting after their appointment, as explained in
paragraph A.4.2 below.

BEEW (ER)ERAIT —FTF5H

ARAREFE((EFEDREEBEMRK
REEEBEBRENREEMBENEL
NREMFE LAZERRREBRE &SR
EANEMEITEQRA —HMOMARAE@ER
BEOME EFET - HEFTTBHER K
EAEEARTMR UBMAREEMN LK.
BRHEERRFHE EMEAEENEEE
EZAL- ARBEREBRBRAERETSR
MBI RELCEERTERMREIE-

EEgHE B2t EEMBR—EX
BREBIRASENRERR-

ARRBE-F - —F+Z-ZA=+—H
FEFER —BEETHIHEREEB G R
SHEBERLOFABRMDES EmARNTE
MR SR 14 WE2IW T EET AT R
FATEXEEARETRFUNDREEE LW
ERBIEEEARREMRA HEHEFAE
REMEBERZRMEZEINESZTARNE
ZAENERARRTFAG LEXRREE
BB EAL2M T BRI RIS B B
BERTXEAL2E -

53



54 SPG Land (Holdings) Limited Annual Report 2011

S

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

e SRR

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES
(Continued)

The following outlines how the Company has adopted and complied
with the CG Code and the CG Rules to achieve good corporate
governance.

A. DIRECTORS
A.1 The board

Principle of Good Governance: The board should assume
responsibility for leadership and control of the company and
be collectively responsible for promoting the success of the
company. The directors should take decisions objectively in the
interests of the company.

TRERERGE

TEBAEARRFANARARETEEE
BERTARCEERRSRANER
REFLEEARANFR -

A. EE
Al EE®S

REE R EFERAEAER
EHRARMEE TERBRAEERER
AMEKRN -EEREFTA QAN
AT TEHFEBIRE -

AT

Board meetings should be held v/ The Board held 10 meetings in 2011. Individual

at least four times a year. attendance of each director on a named basis is set out
EEeCeRBEELBFRT below:

P9 R ° EEEeRN_ZT-——FROTTREZ -BUESF

Bt hARBmBEARSBEREIN DT :

Executive directors: #i7TE % -

Mr. WANG Weixian 8/10
FTRELXE

Ms. WANG Xuling 7/10
Tzt

Mr. CHEUNG Man Hoi (Note 1) 5/5
RX B EMET)

Non-executive director: FEH7TEE -

Mr. LAl Kin, Jerome 4/10
Bk AE
Mr. TSE Sai Tung, Stones (Note 2) 6/10

R A E2)
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A. DIRECTORS (Continued) A. EE(E)
A.1 The board (Continued) A1l EEE(H)
A.1.1 (Continued) A1 (%)

Independent non-executive directors: &1 FE# 7 TEF

Mr. CHEONG Ying Chew, Henry 4/10
R O 5t &
Mr. FONG Wo, Felix, JP 4/10
TR (K F ML)
Mr. JIANG Simon X. 2/10
5 /NER S A&
Mr. KWAN Kai Cheong 4/10
MR E &k HE
Notes: B 5T
1. Mr. CHEUNG Man Hoi was appointed as executive director on 1 1. ®"XEBEERZ_ZT——FMNA—H
April 2011. EZERATESE-
2. Mr. TSE Sai Tung, Stones was re-designated as a non-executive 2. HHEREERZZE-——FMOA—-H
director on 1 April 2011. AEFRTES -
A.1.2
All directors should be given v All directors are invited to include matters in the agenda
opportunity to include matters for regular Board meetings.
in the agenda for regular board FEEFHERFRLIBNFTEINIATHRESZS
meetings. BEER-

MEESFROBHREREE
FHRIANFREFEEZAE -
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A. DIRECTORS (Continued) A. EE(E)
A.1 The board (Continued) A1l EEE(E)
A13

Notice of at least 14 days should
be given of a regular board
meeting.
BOEHREFETEIRAED
RATI4ARIE LB -

A1.4

All directors should have access

to the advice and services of the
Company Secretary.
FMEBEEFREOAES QAW
ENBERRERR -

A.1.5

Minutes of board meetings and
meetings of board committees
should be kept by a duly
appointed secretary of the
meeting and such minutes should
be open for inspection.
EfgeshEsgLE g
FENLEERATALAZ
TOMERT BEzEeaL
BEAHEARERN-

The Company generally gives 14 days prior written
notice of a regular Board meeting and reasonable prior
notice for all other Board meetings.
ARAABRTEHREFEETE RETAILRED
EEHBEAN MBTMEBEEMESS SR NS RA
EABERHBELBM-

All directors have access to the advice and services of the
Company Secretary with a view to ensuring that Board
procedures and all applicable rules and regulations are
complied with.
FMEEZRERHABESAAMENERRRLE M
BREFSBREFRMBERRNRRAMHEES -

The minutes are kept by the Company’s legal advisers
and they are open for inspection by the directors and
the members of the Board committees.
ERLEBAARAEREERRTE BXEEEL
BAMEENEZTSZEGNNESH-
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A. DIRECTORS (Continued) A. EE(H)
A.1 The board (Continued) Al EETF(HE)
A.1.6

Minutes should record in sufficient
detail the matters considered by
the board and decisions reached.
Draft and final versions of minutes
should be sent to all directors

for their comment and records
within a reasonable time after the
meeting.
CERABEFALETES
EMEREEALRMERRE
WEB - SRLCENTREE
MEELSZEARENEGER
MATETHAEES UHRK
SRXERRELETHE -

A7

There should be a procedure
agreed by the board to enable

the directors to seek independent
professional advice, at the
company’s expense, to assist them
to discharge their duties.
ARAREHE -—BEREEFSE
BTN RF EBEFEITKE
VEEER UBBEFET
EBE BERBAAAIXM-

The secretary of the meeting is responsible for taking the
minutes and all the matters considered and the decisions
reached in the Board meeting are recorded in sufficient
detail. The draft minutes are sent to the directors for
comment within a reasonable time after each meeting
and the final versions are sent to all directors for their
records.

AREMEEEREHEILE S LEFMARLE
THEESFSEERLTMEBRFERMEBRATHF
B 2R LBENTREREREBAGEREREN
CERHEATETHAES UEARSREHER
kG-

All the directors have recourse to independent
professional advice at the Company’s expense.
FMEBEEFHUANSXKBYEXER ERBALARF
XA e
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A. DIRECTORS (Continued) A. EE(&)

A.1 The board (Continued) A1 EEE(H)
A.1.8
If a substantial shareholder or a v/ The voting and quorum requirements specified in the
director has a conflict of interest Company'’s Articles of Association (the “Articles”)
in a matter which the board has conform with the CG Code’s requirements.
determined to be material, a RARERMBAUTANDAHINOERERETE
board meeting should be held ABREHUFTELEELEHTAMNBRE-

(and not by way of circulation or
by a committee). Independent
non-executive directors who,

and whose associates, have no
material interest in the transaction
should be present at such board
meeting.
HMEERRIEERNEETED
EEEEANEFEPFEN
nER BERTESFSSE
(MTRHEREHNXHT AR
BRXAZEQ@RRE) - A H
REBMEATERZSHHEER
£ 1Al 8 K | 2 &9 B 32 3F # 17
EEHELEEHRESES S
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A. DIRECTORS (Continued)

A.2 Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

A. EE(&)

A2 TERTHRAR

Principle of Good Governance: There should be a clear division
of responsibilities at the board level — the management of the
board and the day-to-day management of the business — to
ensure a balance of power and authority.

A.2.1

The roles of chairman and

chief executive officer should

be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual.
The division of responsibilities
between them should be clearly
established and set out in writing.
FRETRAINACEESR
EHTEBA-ARKRMET:
FRELHBENS > EBRE
REWAERF H -

A.2.2

The Chairman should ensure all
directors are properly briefed on
issues arising at board meetings.
ITREBRRABEEFE TS
MERESTFSERE LR D
WEH-

REEBARRAN - EEFENEE MW
TENETAEFENEERER
MARER)ERBRERDME AR
RENERERNSE -

Mr. WANG Weixian is the Chairman who is responsible
for the overall investment and business development
strategies of the Group. Mr. TSE Sai Tung, Stones was
the Chief Executive Officer but he resigned as the Chief
Executive Officer on 1 April 2011. Ms. WANG Xuling
was appointed as the Chief Executive Officer on 1

April 2011 who is responsible for the Group’s business
operations and execution of the Group’s long term
business development policies.

TRERERIR BERAEENEREBRE
REREAB HEREESRTREH BER
CE - FHOA-BABETRAER - TREL LT
RZZE-——FHA-—BEZERTHAEHN AF
REBXBEE VEAEERATAEENRAED
R BUK o

The Chairman has a clear responsibility to provide the
whole Board with all the information that is required for
the discharge of the Board’s responsibilities.
TENARBERAMNEST2ENEREME
HETESSTRERHENER-
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A. DIRECTORS (Continued) A. EE(H)

A.2 Chairman and Chief Executive Officer A2 TERITHAR(E)
(Continued)

A23

The Chairman should ensure that 4 The Chairman has been continually improving the quality
the directors receive adequate and timeliness of the dissemination of information to
information, which must be directors.

complete and reliable, in a timely TR ERBERERNEFRRTEENRAEE R -
manner.

TREEREERBERITR
EX- ERENATERASE -

A.3 Board Composition A3 EEEMAEARK
Principle of Good Governance: The board should have a balance RIFERFRA EEgREAHBHEDF
of skills and experience appropriate for the requirements of the MESREEERNGERITT RE&ER -
business of the company. The board should include a balanced EFEghROTESTHIFERNTES(E
composition of executive and non-executive directors (including EBUENITESZ)N A AKX LB
independent non-executive directors) so that it can effectively ERENEH EXRESTTHEARIM
exercise independent judgement. B 38 37 # B -
A.3.1
The independent non-executive v The composition of the Board, by category of the
directors should be expressly directors, including names of Chairman, executive
identified as such in all corporate directors, non-executive director and independent
communications. non-executive directors, is disclosed in all corporate
FrB R~ Bl @A - B A communications.
BIFRTEENFH - REEBEXR TEE FRATESERE L

FHUTEFNRERDENESTETERRAER
AlBM AR ETRE-
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A. DIRECTORS (Continued)

A.4 Appointment, Re-election and Removal

A. EE (&)

AAZEXF - EEBRESR

Principle of Good Governance: There should be a formal, RFERREA: Ra EHETER - &
considered and transparent procedure for the appointment ZEEEEBEEHRENTESTEZ A
of new directors. There should be plans in place for orderly Br-ZEE5gRHTra RNigfEF
succession for appointments to the board. All directors should G EAERXEZT - MAEEETHER

be subject to re-election at regular intervals.

EHREERBEIERES-

A4

Non-executive directors should

be appointed for a specific term,
subject to re-election.
FHTEEFREREEH I
REXEMBER-

The term of appointment of the two non-executive
directors is three years and eighteen months respectively.

MEFATEENEHINR=ZFR+N\@EA-

The term of appointment of the independent non-
executive directors is one year renewable by mutual
agreement on an annual basis.
BIYIFRATEETNERA—F ATEFREFTWH
BETED-

Under the Company’s Articles, one-third of all directors
(whether executive or non-executive) is subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election at each annual
general meeting provided that every director shall be
subject to retirement at least once every three years.
BREAARAMAA 2BEEN =02 (TwAHA
TEFERRIVTEREANBERREFK
ELIRESRIEXENER HEREFED
BAH=—FHESTE K-
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A. DIRECTORS (Continued) A. EE(H)

AAZE -EERE R ()

A.4 Appointment, Re-election and Removal
(Continued)

A4.2

All directors appointed to fill a
causal vacancy should be subject
to election by shareholders at the
first general meeting after their
appointment.

BT B 7% 1B 6 e B 22 w0 &= (E
WESRERSEZTENSE
EREREG FREXREAESRE-

Every director, including those
appointed for a specific term,
should be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three

years.
BRES(EEZEERTEMR
HNES)EZIE=FHME
HR— R

Deviation explained
EEHS A
I BE = 18

The Company'’s Articles provide that any director so

appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold

office until the next following annual general meeting

and shall be eligible for re-election at that meeting.

ARABABAUARE REAGR=RMEEESZ

EMEH%%%E%xTP&%@iK@%%%
T ERBETFEBRRARAG EETENER-

Such arrangement is considered appropriate in light of
the requirement of paragraph 4(2) of Appendix 3 to the
Listing Rules which requires that any person appointed
by the directors to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office
only until the next following annual general meeting
and shall then be eligible for re-election.
EREMBRAMEE=F4R BT REMHBH
EHRMEEFEZENTEMATHETRETER
REFRAEGERRIL HEBERBETEREIERN
BROHMZEREREREER -

Under the Company’s Articles, one-third of all directors
(whether executive or non-executive) is subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election at each annual
general meeting provided that every director shall be
subject to retirement at least once every three years.
BEARAAR 2BEFEHN=H02Z2 —(THRHA
TEEZERIRIVTER)ENRBRERREF K
BrHESRTEZENER HEEESED
RE=—FHESTER

— K
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A. DIRECTORS (Continued)

A.5 Responsibilities of Directors

A. EE(&)

A5 EEEF

A.5.1

Every newly appointed director
should receive a comprehensive,
formal and tailored induction,

on the first occasion of his
appointment, and subsequently
such briefing and professional
development as is necessary,

to ensure that he has a proper
understanding of the operations
and business of the company

and that he is fully aware of his
responsibilities under statute and
common law, the Listing Rules,
applicable legal requirements and
other regulatory requirements

and the business and governance
policies of the company.
BEHMZANEZTASEER
BEXZARES2E EAR
FREMSENRLETAM  H
BN ESESHFTONBREE
Bl AR EH QR EE
REBHUBEBENERE UK
AOMBZEHRNFGRBERRE
WoE- WA A BEAEDR
ERHEMEERT AR AR ZE
BREBBKMAXRENRE -

On appointment, new directors will be briefed by

the Chairman and senior executives on the Group's
corporate goals and objectives, activities and business,
strategic plans and financial situations. They will also be
provided with orientation materials package including
induction of the duties and responsibilities of directors
of a listed company.
ITRERBRITRAERRTZENEETRELZER
MREHEZAAEENCXERREN ED
MER RBEMEE MM BN BE AR
H—ENHBEHNEBELTRAAEEFNREANLE
ERA) -

The Company aims at keeping all directors updated on
the Listing Rules, statutory and regulatory requirements.
KRR EEBMAEFANERRNN LA L X
EREERTE-
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A. DIRECTORS (Continued)

A.5 Responsibilities of Directors (Continued)

A. EE(&)

A5 EEEF(E)

A.5.2

The functions of non-executive

directors should at least include:

FRTEEFNREREL B

(b)

to bring an independent
judgement at board
meetings;

RE=EEEHR LREMHRSE
AT

to take the lead where
potential conflicts of
interests arise;
REHREENRERD
FHEBEEEHES|IEER:

to serve on board
committees, if invited; and
EHEHEEESLER
WK B K&

to scrutinise the Company’s
performance in achieving
agreed corporate goals

and objectives, and
monitoring the reporting of
performance.
FHREHQRANHEXSRE
TERMRELCEERR
B8 I B KR E R

R

All independent non-executive directors serve on the
audit and remuneration committees of the Company.
FEBLATEETHLHELRALRAERZESER
FMEEEXE-

All independent non-executive directors are invited

to participate in Board meetings so that independent
judgement can be brought at such meetings.
MEBEBILFPTESTHRAZNEETETEE N
BEREEZSeRE DMRMNE LA E -
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A. DIRECTORS (Continued) A. EE(8E)

A.5 Responsibilities of Directors (Continued) A5 EEEF(E)

A.5.3

Every director should ensure that
he can give sufficient time and
attention to the affairs of the
company.
BREFEHEREBEARARED
KEZUETAAINER-

A5.4

All directors must comply with
their obligations under the Model
Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers

(the “Model Code") set out in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules.
MBEFRAETRERE L
U = S il 10 = O s 5
TAEBEFETEFRXHNE
% 57 BI(THR 28 <7 R ) PR 78 7 42
BB e

All the directors have given prompt attention to the
affairs of the Company.

MEEEHCHHBEIARANER-

The Company has adopted the Model Code set out in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules regarding directors’
and relevant employees’ dealing in securities.
ARAERMHETRAMETFAHEBEHEEERLE
HREEEEFFWEESTA -

All the directors and relevant employees complied with
the required standard set out in the Model Code.
FMEEE L EHEEYEST T EESTAMENMR

Eo -
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A.6

DIRECTORS (Continued)
Supply of and Access to Information

Principle of Good Governance: The directors should be
provided in a timely manner with appropriate information in
such form and of such quality as will enable them to make
an informed decision and to discharge their duties and

responsibilities.

A. EE(&)
A6 ERHNREHRRMER

REFBERRA - EERIAKERME
ENER FRAEMANEARERHS
EEREFLANBENRELERET
BEMBREREE

A.6.1

An agenda and accompanying
board papers should be sent to all
directors at least 3 days before the
intended date of a meeting.
EHEAERENMNEESX
hrrz EeEMERTA
HA=Z=XFHETHMAESE-

A.6.2

Each director should have
separate and independent access
to the senior management of the
company to make further enquiries
or to obtain more information in
order to fulfil his duties properly.
BREEFRAUEBRE V&
BARASHREEREAE M
REBERBTEBEMEDLE
—SERANERESEH -

An agenda and the relevant paper and materials are
usually sent to the directors at least 3 days before the
meeting.
EHRBEELEEXHERMH - RELDESHEET
HEBfIi=XTETEE-

The directors have access to the senior management of
the Company whenever they feel necessary.
EENEERREFTERBVIEBARANS R
EBEAER-
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A. DIRECTORS (Continued)

A.6 Supply of and Access to Information (Continued)

A. EE(H)
A6 ERREMRERGE

B.1

A.6.3

All directors are entitled to have
access to board papers and related
materials. Where queries are
raised by the directors, steps must
be taken to respond as promptly
and fully as possible.
MBEEFHERENEST S
XHRBEEEH -MBEEFR
HEE BPEARKRRTSREUFR
EHREZ2EAGE E-

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Board minutes and the related materials are available
for inspection by the directors whenever requested. All
efforts are made to ensure that queries of the directors
are responded to promptly and fully.

EESE LB RIBHEN SR EEFERMHE
EH - ARAZNHREFRENBEZTRER
DS E E-

B. EERGSMEEBARMN
% o

The Level and Make-up of Remuneration and B FEM RIBENKERAK

Disclosure

Principle of Good Governance: There should be a formal and
transparent procedure for setting policy on executive directors’
remuneration and for fixing the remuneration packages for all
directors. No director should be involved in deciding his own

remuneration.

RFERRR : AR EKRILEXEA
BREMNEF UHTRTESTNH
MR REIMBEENHMAES -
EETRH2EBETEAGHOME -

B.1.1

The company should establish

a remuneration committee with
specific written terms of reference.
A majority of the members should
be independent non-executive
directors.
NAEXRIFMES g WA
AR TEEBRESHE - KBH
RERABEBILIENITES -

The remuneration committee was established on 19
September 2006 with specific written terms of reference
which deal clearly with its authority and responsibilities.
The remuneration committee comprises the Chairman
and all independent non-executive directors.
FWEEER ST RENATNABRERL WA]
AR TEORESE FEINPEERLEBE -
FMEZEeRRER R ERBIIFNTES -
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B. REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND B. &
SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued) ¥

KEREEBAEN
(#4&)

it

=
[
7 B

R ENKERAKGE

B.1 The Level and Make-up of Remuneration and B.1
Disclosure (Continued)

B.1.2

The committee should consult v Pursuant to the terms of the remuneration committee,
the Chairman and/or the the committee should consult with the Chairman and/or
Chief Executive Officer about the Chief Executive Officer about their proposals relating
their proposals relating to the to the remuneration of other executive directors. The
remuneration of other executive committee is authorised to obtain such professional
directors and have access to advice as it considers necessary.

professional advice if considered BEFMNZEeNHRESRE ZEaRYEEHE
necessary. MHMITEETNTHABAIR R RNITRETOEFE -
ZEERRBFHEMBITE ZEGRBEERAERAVEREREXLER -

ENFMAEBDIRE R RITH
BENEZ HRRALE TR
AEMEXER -

B.1.3

The terms of reference of the v/ The terms of reference of the committee include the
committee should include the minimum prescribed responsibilities.

minimum prescribed duties. ZEgWREREREZ A EA T ENANKS -

ZEEWNRREEEEZLER
EREANBHOBE -

B.1.4

The committee should make v The terms of reference including, among other things,
available its terms of reference, its role and authority of the committee delegated to it
explaining its role and authority by the Board are made available on request.

delegated to it by the board. BEaEBFEE+TREIZEENAGCRESE
ZESR AHEBRESE RYEZBNDAEERETARH-

REARREFERTHZ
A
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B. REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND B. EERENEEEBAEDN
SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued) M (E)
B.1 The Level and Make-up of Remuneration and B 1 M R BEMNKFERAKGE)

Disclosure (Continued)

B.1.5
The committee should be provided v The committee can seek independent professional advice
with sufficient resources to to complement its own resources to discharge its duties.
discharge its duties. ZEGNESXBYUZEER UARZALAFAR
ZEGRERERTEARMNU RmMETHBE-
BITHBE-

C. ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT C. BEEREH

C.1 Financial Reporting C1 MR
Principle of Good Governance: The board should present RUEBARA BEEGREFTEH FMW
a balanced, clear and comprehensible assessment of the REmFZARIMNKE RAERS -

company's performance, position and prospects.

.11

Management should provide v The directors are regularly provided with updates on the
such explanation and information Company’s business and the management'’s strategic

to enable the board to make plans, financial objectives and other actions.

an informed assessment of the ESTHERHAUARANEBREERENR
matters put before the board for BUETE MEEEREMITHOSZIER -
approval.

ERERANEFESRHEEH
REEFSHENSTEMNR
BREHN UEEESRENLX
SERFELABHOAMG-
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C. ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT C BERZXE(E)
(Continued)

C.1 Financial Reporting (Continued) C.1 Bt % B 3 (&)
1.2

The directors should acknowledge
in the Corporate Governance
Report their responsibilities for
preparing the accounts, and there
should be a statement by the
auditors about their reporting
responsibilities in the auditors’
report on the financial statements.
EEREGEEARABRERR
MEGBEBNE T REAED
TMEER BB &R KO ZH
MBETPARENRBREE
e & -

Cc.1.3

The board’s responsibility to
present a balanced, clear and
understandable assessment
extends to annual and interim
reports, other price-sensitive
announcements and other
financial disclosures required
under the Listing Rules, and
reports to regulators as well as

to information required to be
disclosed pursuant to statutory
requirements.
EFgNBEEIRIELESEE B
MR BB BTG FEAED
RE®REPHRE AithE #H
BB RERN DM RIRE
FHRABAEETHRENE
M BEER MEEHRBRR
B ¥R E A RS AR B R DR
FETURBEHE R -

A statement of directors’ responsibilities for preparing
the financial statements is set out in this Corporate
Governance Report.

EERUVBEHRRNECBRIARALEELARS -

The report of the auditors states the auditors’ reporting
responsibilities.

BB RETN ZREMRERELRE-

The Board aims at presenting a comprehensive,
balanced and understandable assessment of the Group’s
performance, position and prospects in all shareholder
communications.

EFerAadAEBNRR RKALMSEMA
[ERERFIELE2E HERBAOTM-
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C.2

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

(Continued)

Internal Controls

Principle of Good Governance: The board should ensure that
the company maintains sound and effective internal controls to
safeguard shareholders’ investment and the company’s assets.

C2.1and C.2.2
C21kC22

The directors should at least
annually conduct a review of the
effectiveness of the system of
internal control of the company
and its subsidiaries. The board’s
annual review should consider

the adequacy of resources,
qualifications and experience of
staff of the company’s accounting
and financial reporting function,
and their training programmes
and budget.
EERELEBFHRAANREA
FRAAANAERERNEA X
METRNT - FEEGFFHET
BAR EENEEAFES
PR GERBETENER
BETERRKEREGRM MU
MEIMEBESHEIRERL
FHEEXEREERR -

C AERZBUE)

C2 &&= H

RFERRA EFERERAAHSE
FR2EEROABES  LERERK
RWBRERRAMNEE -

The Board has overall responsibility for the system of
internal control and for reviewing its effectiveness.
EsgnNTEfERARRTEEREEEER

Bffe

The Audit Director reports to the audit committee on
key findings regarding internal controls. The audit
committee, in turn, communicates any material issues to
the Board.
NEREMEZRZETERBFANLZFHOEE
HEER MERZEGANESFgEREME
REIHE-

Two meetings were held by the audit committee in

2011 at which the audit committee was apprised of the
Group's internal control systems.
ERZEER - —FETTHMASHE MH
REEGERZERE TEANREENANMBIEFER -

The Board has conducted a review of the effectiveness
of the system of internal control of the Company and

its subsidiaries and is satisfied with the adequacy of the
Group's system of internal control.
EEGCYHARARAEFT QAN A AL EGH 8 RE
Ty THAEERNIEWNRRN T EKI

nE e
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C.3

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

(Continued)

Audit Committee

Principle of Good Governance: The board should establish
formal and transparent arrangements for considering how it
applies the financial reporting and internal control principles
and for maintaining an appropriate relationship with the
company’s auditors. The audit committee should have clear

terms of reference.

C AERZBUE)

C3 ERZEES®

RHERRA - EFEREEENM
& B 7% B R & A AP FE IR R e an
35 R B X AR E B R AE
HEASY ABZARNLE -BEREZE
CRERAEBEW OB ZERE-

C.3.1

Minutes of audit committee
meetings should be kept by a

duly appointed secretary of the
meeting. Draft and final versions
of minutes should be sent to all
committee members for their
comment and records within a
reasonable time after the meeting.
ERZEengsRLBER
BERLAZENMERFE -G
FLBEOHVRBERREL S
BERERENSERMBERT B
TEZEEEMMAEXRE UHEES
BRERRELLEH -

The minutes are kept by the Company’s legal advisers.
The draft minutes are sent to the committee members
for comment within a reasonable time after each
meeting and the final versions are sent to all members
for their records.
CRLBAARARAEEERREF -EFLENY
MRBRAERARENEEREATETEZES
ME UHEEBERER MeZTHOKRA
HETHAKE UHRESIERDH -
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C. ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT C BERZE(E)
(Continued)

C3 ERZEE(HA)

C.3 Audit Committee (Continued)

C.3.2

A former partner of the existing
audit firm should not be a member
of the committee for a period of
one year commencing on the date
of his ceasing to be a partner of
the firm.
REZBMEHMOANES
BAEMBIERNRZERE
BAHBHES —FRHN - TE
EEZEGHKE-

C.33

The terms of reference of the
committee should include the
minimum prescribed duties.
ZEGHRBEREELESR
ERTRINBANBE-

Cc3.4

The committee should make
available its terms of reference,
explaining its role and authority
delegated to it by the board.
ZEgRAMEBESE
PHAEEREFER THZ
N -

None of the committee members is or was a partner of
the existing audit firm.
MEZEeRERBAEEEREREMESM
WaEBA-

The terms of reference of the committee include, among
other things, the minimum prescribed responsibilities.
ZESNREEEZLBEEDBE)REAT
AR E -

The terms of reference of the committee which, among
other things, explain the role and authority delegated to
it by the Board, are made available on request.
ZEgHNRBESE(ETERSABEAECRES
ERTHEZENBAEZRTF FUARR-
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C. ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT C BERZBE)
(Continued)

C.3 Audit Committee (Continued) C3 EXRZE®(H)
C.3.5
Where the board disagrees with v The committee recommended to the Board (which
the audit committee’s view on endorsed the view) that, subject to shareholders’
the selection, appointment, approval at the forthcoming annual general meeting,
resignation or dismissal of the KPMG be re-appointed as the external auditors for
external auditors, the company 2012.
should include in the Corporate ZEeMNEFEEZEETEECREAEBR)EN
Governance Report a statement ZHEFRETMEBMA-_ST —ZFE I
from the audit committee RERM HEAERRAREERRBFRE EHE-

explaining its recommendation
and also the reason(s) why the
board has taken a different view.
HMEEETREEZZES
YEmE - ZE BHEHERIN
HZHEMEENER AR F
EECEERRETIEHER
ZEgMAHBEBERZZNEHR
UNEEFEEHTRERLNRRA -

C.3.6

The committee should be provided v The committee can seek independent professional advice
with sufficient resources to to complement its own resources to discharge its duties.
discharge its duties. ZEGUSRKBAYEEER URBAREAZER
ZEgRERFETEZERN WmETHBE -

BITHBE-
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D. DELEGATION BY THE BOARD
D.1 Management Functions

Principle of Good Governance: The company should have a
formal schedule of matters specifically reserved to the board
for its decision. The board should give clear directions to
management as to the matters that must be approved by the
board before decisions are made on behalf of the company.

D. EEgR IWER

D.1 & B ¢

REFEARRN:RAAERE —BEADN
BEME R - IHFHNAEFTSHER
EMER -BEFFERRAFMELR
R BRAEAEEFTEHENFTES
TEEBBEMETR-

D.1.1and D.1.2

D.1.1%D.1.2

The board should give clear v Important matters are reserved for the Board's decision,
directions as to the powers of including:

management, in particular, with LNTEZFEYHESSREATERE - B

respect to the circumstances

where management should .
obtain prior approval from the

board before making decisions or

entering into any commitments on .
behalf of the company.

EEeRnNERENRE G

FTEMWER BrERAEE
ATEBEERKXRQAAIEL .
RTE SR S AE Al EE AT B E
TEGSEEFSOME-

The company should formalise

the functions reserved to the

board and those delegated to

management. o
NAIEHILERETFTEEFS
WBELRPLEERETERE

BBk BE D BIEEE T 2K - .

long-term objectives and strategies
REBE R RER

extension of the Group's activities into new
business areas

BAKRENXEBEBERENEHTRE

appointments to the Board and the Board
committees

ExghEFEZRENZHE

annual internal controls assessment and annual
budgets
FEANEHAGRREERE

material acquisitions and disposals

EAKRBREEESAE

material connected transactions

BEXBERSH

material banking facilities

EARTERBE

announcements of interim and final results

THRRHEEQM

payment of dividends
K % IR B
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D. DELEGATION BY THE BOARD (Continued)

D.2 Board Committees

D. EEERINERA)

Principle of Good Governance: board committees should be
formed with specific written terms of reference that deal
clearly with the committees’ authority and duties.

D2 EESZET

REFEBERRA - EXEGZ8 RSN
FREEZEBRERE BEIHEZEE
M RBE -

D.2.1

The board should prescribe
sufficiently clear terms of reference
to enable such committees to
discharge their functions properly.
EEGRADIBER MG AZK
EZEENRRESEE  UAS
BMEZEgES BT AR -

D.2.2

The committees should be
required to report back to the
board on their decisions or
recommendations.
ZEGRAMEFEERAR

The Board has established two board committees each
with specific terms of reference, namely the audit
committee and remuneration committee.
EFEeERUMBEZES - EREZEGRFME
BEg URIPAZSEZESHRESRE-

The minutes of the committee meetings containing the
committee’s decisions and/or recommendations are
circulated to all members of the Board unless a conflict
of interest arises. The committees are required to report
back to the Board on key findings during the year.
HEZEEAER UHEEEZENZEEEHL
BEYMEEEMAXREGER HELEENSEHREY
BERARII -ZEGEARAFEAMESGER
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E.1

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS EE EEREMNESR

Effective Communication

Principle of Good Governance: The board should endeavour
to maintain an on-going dialogue with shareholders and,
in particular, use annual general meetings or other general

meetings to communicate with shareholders and encourage

their participation.

E.11

In respect of each substantially
separate issue at a general
meeting, a separate resolution
should be proposed by the
chairman of that meeting.
ERRERAREGE L #FEEXRD
FNEEME &R ER
ETHEMRFAR-

E.1.2

The Chairman of the board should
attend the annual general meeting
and arrange for the chairmen

of the audit, nomination and
remuneration committees (as
appropriate) to be available to
answer questions at the annual
general meeting.
ExeIRELERRBESF
Reg TRHFEEREZTEE 1B
LEZEghFWNEZES(WE
BINEBERARRBFRE I
M % 4 -

E1 BEREBE

BHEARNEFEEE N MY R
FS SRR BRSPS E S8
FRM A AR R AW R 1T
P LT EE S EE

A separate resolution is proposed for each substantially
separate issue.
BEEBEATAMEELGR2 TR REE-

The Company’s annual general meeting will be held

on 1 June 2012. The Chairman of the Board will

attend such forthcoming annual general meeting

and be available to answer questions thereat and will
arrange for the chairmen of the audit committee,
remuneration committee and nomination committee

(to be established) or his representative to be available
to answer questions at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

RARRAABERBAFREERN _ZT-——_FA—BE
T-BERIRALEZEERRBEFRGLR
BrEfEREM YK EREEE FTMWESR
ELEREZEEW TRUNDEFXREREZNE
ERRABFRG FEMERER-
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E. COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS EE ERENBEE(E)

(Continued)

E.1 Effective Communication (Continued)

E.1 B B8 (&)

E.1.3

The company should arrange for 4
the notice to shareholders to be
sent in the case of annual general
meetings at least 20 clear business
days before the meeting and to be
sent at least 10 clear business days
in the case of all other general
meetings.

WEFRKRRBEFAE  RAE
THERSRITAHZE D R20M@E
EEHAMBKREXBM M
FEEMKRRAREMmE  AIA
ERGRTAMZEL BI0EZ X
HEEBA-

E.2 Voting by Poll

Not less than 20 clear business days’ notice was sent to
shareholders before the Company’s 2011 annual general
meeting.
KAARBRH-ZE-——FRIRAFREAM TR
R20EEXBEMKRRELBM-

E2 UREFARR

E.2.1

The chairman of a meeting v
should at the commencement

of the meeting ensure that

an explanation is provided of

the detailed procedures for
conducting a poll and then answer
any questions from shareholders
regarding voting by way of a poll.
AREIREBERESZHBEE
EMEBEURZTHTRNETRR
WEAREF REEERERHA
AR EF A RREERER -

The chairman of the Company’s 2011 annual

general meeting explained to the shareholders at the
commencement of the meeting the detailed procedures
for conducting a poll and answered questions from
shareholders regarding voting by way of a poll.

KRR ZE—— 5 BRRBFRAGEREGHF
REEmMBERRERBEAREFAETRROFAR
P EERREBARETFRXARANER -



The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules. All directors have confirmed, following
specific enquiry by the Company, that they have complied with the
required standard set out in the Model Code for the year ended 31
December 2011.

The Board currently comprises three executive directors, one non-
executive director and four independent non-executive directors:

WANG Weixian (Chairman)
WANG Xuling (appointed as Chief Executive Officer on 1 April 2011)

CHEUNG Man Hoi (Chief Financial Officer)
(appointed as an executive director on 1 April 2011)

TSE Sai Tung, Stones (re-designated from an executive director to
a non-executive director on 1 April 2011)

CHEONG Ying Chew, Henry
FONG Wo, Felix, JP

JIANG Simon X.

KWAN Kai Cheong

The Board has a balance of skills and experience appropriate for
the requirements of the business of the Company. The Board has
extensive management experience in the property market in the PRC.
The Board has the required knowledge, experience and capabilities
to operate and develop the Group’s business and implement
the Company’s business strategies. The biographical details and
experience of the directors and senior management are set out on

pages 86 to 97.
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ARRBERMNLETRUKE T AEHNR
ETFTR -MAEERHEEARARAEERTE
EHEER RERBE_FT——F1+=
A=+ —-BLEHEFERACSETRESTRM
OB ERE-

EEZQHBER-RANTES — RN
TEERNUEBIFRITES:

TREEE)

ITRER-_F-——FHA—H
FEZ(FRITHAEE)

KRXBEEHBFE) R=-_F——%F
BH—HEZERBHITEE)

WERR-—_F——FHH—H
HPITEEHTIFHTEF)

o 5
AR U NI i
RN
B RS

EFSRABEARINEBRTHEE
AOAEELORER - EFTENTENE
MERELEEERR - EETABRE
RBERASBEEBREBRARAEBR
BAFEOMZ BREEN-EERER
EERBABMNBEAFABLRERIARNF86
Z97H o
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Each director has a duty to act in good faith in the best interests of
the Company. The directors, individually and collectively, are aware
of their responsibilities and accountability to shareholders and for
the manner in which the affairs of the Company are managed and
operated.

Directors have timely access to relevant information prior to each
board meeting to enable them to make an informed decision and to
discharge their duties and responsibilities. Directors can attend board
meetings either in person or by electronic means of communication.

The Company has received an annual confirmation of independence
from each of the independent non-executive directors. The Company
is of the view that all the independent non-executive directors meet
the guidelines for assessing independence set out in Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules and considers them to be independent.

Ms. Wang Xuling (an executive director and the Chief Executive
Officer of the Group) is the sister of Mr. Wang Weixian, the
Chairman of the Group. Apart from this, to the best knowledge of
the Company, there is no financial, business, family or other material
or relevant relationship among members of the Board.

The Company provides directors with directors’ and officers’ liability
insurance coverage to protect them from loss as a result of any legal
proceeding against the Company.

Mr. Wang Weixian is the Chairman and prior to 1 April 2011, Mr.
Tse Sai Tung, Stones served as the Chief Executive Officer. Mr. Tse
Sai Tung, Stones resigned as the Chief Executive Officer on 1 April
2011 and Ms. Wang Xuling was appointed as the Chief Executive
Officer on the same date. The role of the Chairman is separated from
that of the Chief Executive Officer so as to delineate their respective
areas of responsibility. They receive significant support from the
directors and the senior management team.

EEFHERAAAEFTAARAZER
s RANEHTE -EFTHEHNRELRA
BREHRENEERFELEUARE R
MBERRAFHOT A -

RETZEFC RN EFARERE
BHEBEMN NSHREEFLABRER
Eﬁ&ﬁmﬁa&ané$Tﬁ%ﬁﬁ
BEFAATALFEEZESH -

ARBIEWIEBERBIFNTEETNSE
EBIMBRN - ARARR MERL
%%ﬂﬁ%ﬂﬁAimﬁW%BBﬂ%ﬁ
AR YRS REIRBIIE -

TRELT(AEBERRATEETRITHAR)
EAEEIFEIRBERLENRGEA - Bt
SRR RBA EEFEXREZHEE
TEAFE FH REXHEMERNKEH
B 1% e

ARRRBREERHEZTLSABREESR
Rl ARERETGETAHEARQA
MERFDRMAEZERK

TREBXERERE MAttREER-ZT
——FNA—BRAATRAER HE
EEEBER_ZE——FOA —BABHAETH
BE IMNEZITARBEZTAEITHRA
H-FTEMACETRABEMEESH U
EERIEN»HESANETHE -BRFE
EELaRETEEBR AR OIS



The Chairman is responsible for the overall business and investment
strategies of the Group. The Chairman is also responsible for
overseeing effective functioning of the Board and application of good
corporate governance practices and procedures. The Chief Executive
Officer is responsible for managing the Group’s overall operations
and execution of the Group’s long term business development
policies. The Board, led by the Chairman, sets the overall directions,
strategies and policies of the Group. Under the leadership of the
Chief Executive Officer, the management is responsible for executing
the Board'’s strategy and implementing its policies through the day-
to-day management and operations of the Company.

The Board delegates appropriate aspects of its management and
administrative functions to the management who shall report to the
Board. The Board reviews on a periodic basis such delegations to
ensure that they remain appropriate.

The non-executive directors of the Company have diversified
backgrounds and industry skills and one of the independent non-
executive directors has an appropriate accounting qualification
as required by the Listing Rules. With their expertise, they offer
experience, independent judgement and advice on the overall
management of the Company. Their responsibilities include
maintaining a balance between the interests of all shareholders of
the Company as a whole.

All the independent non-executive directors are members of the
audit and remuneration committees.

The term of appointment of Mr. Lai Kin, Jerome, who retired on 1
January 2012, was three years while the term of appointment of Mr.
Tse Sai Tung, Stones is eighteen months. All the independent non-
executive directors are appointed for a term of one year renewable
by mutual agreement on an annual basis. Under the Company’s
Articles, one-third of all directors (whether executive or non-
executive) is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at each
annual general meeting provided that every director shall be subject
to retirement at least once every three years.
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The Board established the remuneration committee on 19 September
2006 with specific written terms of reference which deal clearly
with its authority and responsibilities. The committee is responsible
for formulating and reviewing the remuneration policy and specific
remuneration packages of all executive directors. In formulating
the remuneration policy, the committee takes into consideration
factors such as salaries paid by comparable companies, employment
conditions and responsibilities, and individual performance of the
directors, senior management, and the general staff. The committee
can seek independent professional advice to complement its own
resources to discharge its duties.

The remuneration committee currently comprises Mr. WANG
Weixian, who is the chairman of the committee and all the
independent non-executive directors.

Two meetings were held by the remuneration committee in 2011 to
discuss remuneration related matters. Individual attendance of the
members is set out below:

Mr. WANG Weixian 2/2
Mr. CHEONG Ying Chew, Henry 2/2
Mr. FONG Wo, Felix, JP 2/2
Mr. JIANG Simon X. 172
Mr. KWAN Kai Cheong 2/2

Details of the emoluments and options of each director, on a named
basis, are set out in note 14 to the financial statements.

The Company does not have a nomination committee. The Board
selects and recommends candidates for directorship having regard
to the balance of skills and experience appropriate to the Company’s
business.
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The Board established the audit committee on 19 September 2006
with specific written terms of reference which deal clearly with
its authority and responsibilities. The committee is responsible
for formulating and reviewing the financial and internal control
principles of the Company. The committee is also responsible
for making recommendation to the Board on the appointment,
re-appointment and removal of the external auditors, approving the
remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditors
and considering any questions of resignation or dismissal of such
auditors. The committee can seek independent professional advice to
complement its own resources to discharge its duties.

The committee comprises all the independent non-executive
directors. Mr. Kwan Kai Cheong is the chairman of the committee.

Two meetings were held by the audit committee in 2011. Individual
attendance of the members is set out below:

Mr. KWAN Kai Cheong 2/2
Mr. CHEONG Ying Chew, Henry 2/2
Mr. FONG Wo, Felix, JP 2/2
Mr. JIANG Simon X. 172

The committee reviewed, together with the senior management and
the external auditors, the financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2010, the accounting principles and practices adopted by
the Company, statutory compliance, other financial reporting matters
and the internal control system.

BEEW (ER)ERAIT —FT——FFm 83

%%@F:§7A¢nﬂ+n5“*
RZEBg VI WHRETEEOBRESRE F
BIPAEEREBE - ZZEEAFHT
&ﬁﬂ$”ﬂ%%ﬁ&ﬁ%ﬁﬂﬁ%o§
ENBAEREX EFZAELRERINE
%%%~m&%%%%%%%%%%&%
HUREEEMNEHEZSZEMNET
SEEMENESSHREEBRRZE -Z8
BASKBUEXEER UBRHEEAHFE
R mMBETHBRE -

ok

ZERBENEBEERMAEBILIUTES
MMELTERRZEEMIR -
ERZEEN T —FETTMREH-

BRAREHFEBREAT:

== 2/2
ok IEOE 5k A& 272
75 RS A (K 4 +) 2/2
B /NBA A 12

ZEECERSREREAER RIEK
B -EEHNBE_ZT-ZFTF+ A
STt BLEFENPBRR ARABRMRK
MERAKER ZRETER Hit
MHEREERADEHRR-



84 SPG Land (Holdings) Limited Annual Report 2011

The Board aims at presenting a comprehensive, balanced and
understandable assessment of the Group’s performance, position and
prospects. Management provides such explanation and information
to enable the Board to make an informed assessment of the matters
put before the Board for approval.

The directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the
financial statements for the Group.

The statement of the external auditors of the Company regarding
their responsibilities for the financial statements of the Group is set
out in the report of the auditors on page 98.

The Board has overall responsibility for maintaining a sound
and effective system of internal control and for reviewing its
effectiveness, particularly in respect of the controls on financial,
operational, compliance and risk management, to safeguard
shareholders’ investment and the Group's assets.

The Board is satisfied with the adequacy of the system of internal
control of the Company.

KPMG, the external auditors of the Company, is primarily responsible
for providing audit services in connection with annual financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2011.

For the year ended 31 December 2011, the total remuneration in
respect of statutory audit services provided by KPMG for the Group
amounted to RMB3,810,000.

The audit committee recommended to the Board (which endorsed
the view) that, subject to shareholders’ approval at the forthcoming
annual general meeting, KPMG be re-appointed as the external
auditors for the Company for 2012.
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As at 31 December 2011:

Authorised share capital: HK$1,000,000,000, comprising
10,000,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each.

Issued and fully paid-up capital: HK$105,112,827.50 comprising
1,051,128,275 ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each.

Class of shares: one class of ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each with
equal voting rights.
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WANG Weixian, 48, is the chairman and founder of the Group.
Mr. Wang is also director and the legal representative of various
operating subsidiaries of the Company. In 1998, Mr. WANG Weixian
started to develop the first large-scale residential community,
Cambridge Forest Newtown, in Shanghai, which set a good example
for the operation of large scale property in the suburbs of Shanghai.
The only new construction over the century on the historic Bund of
Shanghai, the Peninsula Hotel, which was awarded the “2010 Best

|u

Worldwide Business Hotel”, was also a masterpiece of Mr. Wang.
Endeavouring to offer high-end real estate in China, Mr. Wang
developed several city landmarks, such as Global 188, the tallest
building in Suzhou, and Xi Shui Dong, which has given a face-lift to
the century—old industrial and commercial heritage buildings in the
central living area in Wuxi. Mr. Wang also developed famous leisure
property projects, including the Taiping Lake Resort in Huangshan
and the golf club in Songshi Beach, Beidahe. Over the years, Mr.
Wang has been committed to serving the community and has long
been serving certain public posts, including council member of
Shanghai Soong Ching Ling Foundation, the Standing Director of
Shanghai Overseas Exchange Association and council member of The
Nature Conservancy China. Mr. Wang is the brother of Ms. WANG
Xuling, an Executive Director and the Chief Executive Officer of the
Company.

WANG Xuling, 50, is the Group Executive Director and Chief
Executive Officer. Ms. Wang is currently a director of various
subsidiaries of the Company. Ms. WANG Xuling graduated from
Ji'nan University (Guangzhou). She has 16 years of experience
in the real estate sector and 12 years of experience in the news
and media business. Prior to joining SPG Land, Ms. Wang was the
executive director and deputy general manager of Mission Hills
Golf Club (Mission Hills Group), responsible for sales and marketing
of properties. Before joining Mission Hills Group (Mission Hills
Golf Club), Ms. Wang had been engaging in the news and media
business. Ms. Wang joined SPG Land as Group Executive Director in
2007 and has been appointed as Chief Executive Officer of SPG Land
since April 2011. Ms. Wang is the sister of Mr. WANG Weixian, the
chairman and founder of the Group.
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CHEUNG Man Hoi, Ronny, 41, is the Group Executive Director
and Chief Financial Officer of the Group. Mr. Cheung joined the
Group since October 2009 and is a director of various subsidiaries
of the Company. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Cheung served
duties as the group financial controller or chief financial officer in
various publicly listed companies, including Tianjin Development
Holdings Limited and Nine Dragons Paper (Holdings) Limited. He
also worked in PricewaterhouseCoopers for over seven years. Mr.
Cheung graduated from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University with
a Bachelor of Arts (Hons) in Accountancy and the Chinese University
of Hong Kong with an Executive MBA degree. Mr. Cheung is also a
fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
and a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. He has over 18 years of experience in professional
accounting, business consulting and corporate management.

TSE Sai Tung, Stones, 53, is the Group Non-executive Vice
Chairman. Mr. Tse has been a Director of the Company since 20
September 2006 and re-designated from an Executive Director to
a Non-Executive Director of the Company on 1 April 2011. Prior to
joining the Group, Mr. Tse was the executive director and managing
director of two Hong Kong listed real estate development companies.
Mr. Tse holds a Bachelor degree of Science in Engineering from the
University of Hong Kong, a Master degree of Business Administration
from the University of Warwick, United Kingdom, a Doctorate
degree in Business Administration from Macquarie University of
Australia, and is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Engineers
and the Chartered Institute of Buildings, United Kingdom. Mr. Tse
is also currently serving as the member of the International Board of
Harvard University Real Estate Academic Initiative, USA. Mr. Tse has
over 26 years of experience in property investment and development,
project management, sales and marketing in mainland China, Hong
Kong and overseas.
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CHEONG Ying Chew, Henry, 64, has been an Independent Non-
Executive Director of the Company since 2006. He holds a Bachelor
of Science degree in Mathematics and a Master of Science degree in
Operational Research and Management. He is also an Independent
Non-Executive Director of Cheung Kong (Holdings) Limited, Cheung
Kong Infrastructure Holdings Limited, Excel Technology International
Holdings Limited, Hutchison Telecommunications Hong Kong
Holdings Limited, New World Department Store China Limited,
TOM Group Limited, CNNC International Limited, Creative Energy
Solutions Holdings Limited, all being listed in Hong Kong. He is also
an independent director of BTS Group Holdings Public Company
Limited, a company listed in Thailand, and an Executive Director
and the Deputy Chairman of Worldsec Limited, a company listed in
London. He is also a Member of the Securities and Futures Appeals
Tribunal and a Member of the Advisory Committee of the Securities
and Futures Commission, and was previously a member of the
Disciplinary Panel (Panel A) of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. He was an Independent Non-Executive Director
of FPP Japan Fund Inc. (formerly known as “FPP Golden Asia Fund
Inc.” and “Jade Asia Pacific Fund Inc.”), a company listed in Ireland,
up until October 2008.

FONG Wo, Felix, BBS, JP, 61, is an Independent Non-Executive
Director of the Company since 2006, a practicing solicitor in Hong
Kong and is also qualified in Canada and England. He is appointed
by the Ministry of Justice of China as one of the China-Appointed
Attesting Officers in Hong Kong. Mr. Fong is a consultant and the
founding partner of the Hong Kong law firm, King & Wood (formerly
known as Arculli Fong & Ng), and has practiced law for over 30
years, including eight years in Toronto. Mr. Fong is a member of
the Guangdong Provincial Committee of Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference, a director of the China Overseas Friendship
Association, a director of the Shanghai Chinese Overseas Friendship
Association and an executive director of the Guangdong Overseas
Friendship Association. He is also the chairman of the Advisory
Council on Food and Environmental Hygiene, a member of the Hong
Kong Film Development Council and a director of the Hong Kong
Basic Law Institute. Mr. Fong is a member of the first Selection
Committee for the purposes of electing the Chief Executive for Hong
Kong Special Administrative Region, a founding member of the
Canadian International School of Hong Kong, a member of the Board
of Advisers for the Faculty of Business of the University of Victoria,
British Columbia, Canada and a visiting professor of the School of
Law of Sun Yat-sen University, China.
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JIANG Simon X., 58, is an Independent Non-Executive Director of
the Company since 2006, is the founder and chairman of CyberCity
International Limited as well as chairman of some of its subsidiaries.
For the past five years, Dr. Jiang has been involved mainly in private
equity investment activities in Hong Kong and mainland China. He is
also a member of the National Committee of CPPCC and the United
Nations Investments Committee.

KWAN Kai Cheong, 62, is an Independent Non-Executive Director
of the Company since 2006, holds a Bachelor of Accountancy
(Honors) degree from the University of Singapore and is a member
of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia. He is also
a fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of Directors. Mr. Kwan is
presently the president of Morrison & Company Limited, a business
consultancy firm.

LEE Mei Yi, 44, became the company secretary of the Group in
September 2006. Ms. Lee is a senior manager of Corporate Services
Department of Tricor Services Limited and an associate member of
both the Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators and
the Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries. Ms. Lee has over
20 years of experience in the corporate secretarial area.

Ramona YAN, 39, is Group Executive Vice President. Ms. Ramona
YAN obtained a Bachelor degree from the Foreign Affairs College
and a Master degree of International Relations from the University
of Georgia. With over 13 years of experience in the advisory and
management industry in mainland China and overseas, she has
rich experience in human resources strategy design, leadership
development, mergers and acquisition, organization reform
management, etc. She previously provided advisory service to
customers in various industries, including real estate, banking and
government sectors. Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Yan was the
Vice President of Greater China and General Manager of Eastern
China of Hay Group and General Manager of Hewitt East & South
China. Ms. Yan joined the Group in June 2011 as Group Executive
Vice President and is in charge of the Human Resources Management
Center, Branding and Marketing Center, Commercial Management
Center and Process and Information Management Center.
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ZHANG Hai Bo, 44, is Group Executive Vice President. Mr.
Zhang graduated from Tongji University with a Bachelor degree
in Architectural Engineering, a Master degree in Business
Administration from Fudan University and is qualified as a senior
engineer. Mr. Zhang has over 18 years of experience in property
development, engineering and corporate management. Since joining
the Group in February 2002, he was previously the deputy general
manager, executive deputy general manager and general manager of
various operating subsidiaries of the Group and the vice president of
the Group.

LIU Zhongliang, 49, is Group Executive Vice President. Mr.
LIU Zhongliang graduated from Tongji University with Bachelor and
Master degrees in Industrial & Civil Architecture. He has many years
of general management and project management experience in
large enterprises, mastering in overall operation management in real
estate development and construction. Prior to joining the Group, Mr.
Liu worked with Wanda Group for 9 years. Mr. Liu joined the Group
in March 2012 as Group Executive Vice President and is in charge of
group project operation and the related functional centers, including
Project Management Center, Cost Management Center, Design
Management Center, Sales & Marketing Management Center, Fine
Decoration Lab, Landscape Lab and the operation of projects.

REN Rui Xia, 43, is Group Executive Vice President. Ms. Ren holds a
Bachelor degree in Architectural Structure from Tianjin University and
a Master degree in Business Administration from Tsinghua University.
She has over 19 years of experience in property development and
management. Since joining the Group in August 2004, Ms. Ren was
previously the assistant to general manager, the executive deputy
general manager, the regional executive deputy general manager and
the regional general manager of various major operating subsidiaries
of the Group.
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ZHANG Ming Zhi, 57, is Vice President and General Manager of
Investment and Finance Department of the Group. Ms. ZHANG Ming
Zhi graduated from East China Normal University in Mathematics
and obtained Master degree in Business Administration from Asia
International Open University (Macau). Ms. Zhang has over 15 years
of experience in the finance industry and project investment and
management in the PRC. Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Zhang
was the director of one of the first approved fund management
corporations, the director and chairman appointed by several project
companies and the general manager of the assets trust department
of a PRC trust and investment company. Ms. Zhang joined SPG Land
in April 2006.

MAO Yong Jun, 38, is Group Assistant President. Mr. MAO Yong
Jun obtained a Bachelor degree in Engineering from Shanghai
Engineering and Technology University and a Master degree in
Business Administration from Fudan University. Mr. Mao has about
ten years of working and management experiences gained from
internationalized real estate companies. Prior to joining the Group,
Mr. Mao was the business development manager of Hutchison
Whampoa (Shanghai) Company Limited and senior business
development manager of Frasers Property (China) Limited. Since
joining SPG Land in July 2008, Mr. Mao held positions including
Deputy General Manager, Executive Deputy General Manager and
General Manager of a project company of the Group and General
Manager of the City Leisure & Resort Business Division.

ZHANG Ming, 43, is Group Assistant President and General
Manager of Operational Management Center. Mr. ZHANG Ming
graduated from Dalhousie University in Canada with a Bachelor
degree in Architectural Design and a Master degree in Corporate
Finance. Mr. Zhang has more than 18 years of experience of property
development management in mainland China and overseas and
real estate investment funds. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Zhang
was the assistant to the chairman and the vice president of Coastal
Corporation and Coastal Property, and the assistant to the chairman
of Olympia & York Developments Ltd. Mr. Zhang joined SPG land in
May 2010 and acted as Regional General Manager.
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ZHOU Yajun, 56, is Group Assistant President. Mr. ZHOU Yajun
obtained a Bachelor degree in Architectural Structural Engineering
and a Master degree in Infrastructure Engineering from Tsinghua
University. After his graduation, he taught at Tianjin University and
Hainan University for many years and earned the title of Associate
Professor because of his solid theoretical foundation in architectural
structure. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Zhou worked with several
large real estate developers and construction companies and
gained rich experience in general management in property project
development, project engineering management and contract
budgeting management. He has much experience in various types of
properties, such as large residential community, commercial complex,
luxurious villas and industrial factories. Mr. Zhou joined SPG Land
in February 2012 as Group Assistant President and is in charge of
Shanghai Project and Taiyuan Project.

LIU Xin Rong, 40, is General Manager of Process and Information
Management Center and Internal Audit Director of the Group.
Ms. LIU Xin Rong graduated from Wuhan University of Technology,
majoring in Industrial Enterprise Management, and obtained a
Master degree in Business Administration from Fudan University.
Ms. Liu has over 19 years of experience in financial management,
development and corporate management in the property industry.
She is a qualified accountant in the PRC. Since joining SPG Land
in October 1999, Ms. Liu was the General Manager of Human
Resources Management Center of the Group, Financial Controller
and Executive Deputy General Manager of various major operating
subsidiaries of the Group.

YOU De Feng, 36, is Group Financial Controller. Mr. YOU De Feng
graduated from Shanghai University of Finance and Economics and
obtained a Master degree in Business Administration from China
Europe International Business School. He has over 10 years of
experience in the real estate and construction industry, accumulating
extensive experience of financial management in the industry. He is
a member of the Institute of Financial Accountants, United Kingdom
and a qualified accountant in the PRC. Since joining SPG Land in
March 2001, Mr. You was the Finance Manager and Finance Director
of the project companies of the Group.
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CHEN lJie, 37, is General Manager of Business Development and
Management Center of the Group. Ms. CHEN Jie graduated from
the Faculty of Arts of Shanghai University, majoring in Chinese
Secretarial Studies. She has over 11 years of experience in preliminary
development, investment and project positioning in the real estate
industry. Since joining SPG Land in March 2003, Ms. Chen was the
Assistant to the Chairman of the Board of the Group and Deputy
General Manager of the Business Development and Management
Center.

HU Qi, 42, is General Manager of Design Management Center of
the Group. Mr. HU Qi graduated from Zhejiang University with a
Bachelor degree in Architecture. He has over 19 years of experience
in architecture design and management. Prior to joining the Group,
Mr. Hu was the Chief Architect at China Resources Land Shanghai
and Yungao International Hotels Development Co., Ltd. Mr. Hu
joined SPG Land in March 2011 and acted as Deputy Chief Design
Director of City Integrated Development Business Division.

ZHU Yong, 42, is General Manager of Project Management Center
of the Group. Mr. ZHU Yong graduated from Hunan University
with Bachelor and Master degrees in Engineering. He has over 17
years of experience in property development, project and enterprise
management. Since joining SPG Land in November 2011, Mr. Zhu
held positions including Deputy General Manager, Executive Deputy
General Manager and General Manager in project companies of the
Group and Deputy General Manager of City Community Business

Division.

ZHAO Yi, 39, is Director of Cost Management Center of the Group.
Mr. ZHAO Yi graduated from Tongji University with a Bachelor
degree in Engineering. He has over 16 years of experience in
development and cost management in real estate industry. Prior to
joining the Group, Mr. Zhao held cost management positions with
Shimao Group and Yuangao Real Estate Developments Co., Ltd.
Mr. Zhao joined SPG Land in May 2011 and acted as Deputy Cost
Controller of City Leisure & Resort Business Division.
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WANG Chun, 45, is Director of Cost Management Center of
the Group. Ms. WANG Chun graduated from Shanghai Urban
Construction College, majoring in Engineering Economics. She has
over 20 years’ project management and cost controlling experience
in real estate industry. Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Wang
held cost management positions with Orient Overseas Shanghai
Investment Co., Ltd. and Kerry Development Co., Ltd. Since joining
SPG Land in July 2010, Ms. Wang held positions including Deputy
Cost Controller of Cost Control Management Center and Deputy
Director of Operational Management Center.

WEI Guo, 38, is Director of Sales & Marketing Management Center
of the Group. Mr. WEI Guo graduated from Tongji University with
a Bachelor degree in Engineering. He has over 14 years’ project
marketing and planning experience in real estate industry. Prior to
joining the Group, Mr. Wei held sales and marketing management
positions with Fujian Longking Co., Ltd. and Longfor Shanghai. Since
joining SPG Land in January 2008, Mr. Wei held positions including
Assistant General Manager of Shanghai Area and Sales & Marketing
Director of City Leisure & Resort Business Division.

HE Zhihai, 34, is Director of Sales & Marketing Management Center
of the Group. Mr. HE Zhihai obtained a Master degree in Business
Administration from Fudan University. He has over 11 years’ project
marketing and planning experience in real estate industry. Prior to
joining the Group, Mr. He held sales and marketing management
positions with Centaline Property Shenzhen and Sen Top Property
Consultants Shenzhen. Since joining SPG Land in July 2007, Mr.
He held positions including Marketing Planning Director of Sales &
Marketing Management Center of the Group and Sales & Marketing
Director of City Community Business Division.
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LI Bin, 30, is Planning Director of Branding and Marketing Center
of the Group. Mr. LI Bin graduated from Ningbo University with a
Bachelor degree in Communication. He has over 10 years’ experience
in mass communication, property planning and advertising. Prior to
joining the Group, Mr. Li held planning and creative management
positions with Grey Global Group, Shanghai, and Dream Works
Shenzhen and Shanghai. During this period, he received the gold
medal in “China Advertising Great Wall Award”. Since joining SPG
Land in April 2008, Mr. Li held positions including Deputy Planning
Director of Sales & Marketing Management Center of the Group and
Branding and Planning Director of Branding and Marketing Center of
the Goup.

Paul Dudbridge, 52, is Creative Director of Branding and Marketing
Center of the Goup. Paul obtained a Bachelor degree in Graphic
Design from the School of Creative Arts of the University of the
West of England. He is a member of the Royal Photographic Society
and Society of Industrial Artists and Designers. Paul has over 20
years design experience working for design studios and agencies
throughout Europe, North America and Southeast Asia. He previously
held the position of Senior Designer for Saatchi London, Ogilvy
Singapore and Lead Creative for Ogilvy Rome. Prior to joining SPG
Land, Paul was Creative Director for a global hospitality company
whose clients included Peninsula, Hyatt and Le Meridien. Paul joined
SPG Land in 2008 and acted as Creative Director.

LEl Yu, Rain, 39, is Legal Director of the Group. Mr. LEI Yu, Rain,
graduated from Fudan University with a Bachelor degree in Law and
a Master degree in Public Administration. Mr. Lei is a qualified lawyer
in the PRC and has over 12 years of working experience in real
estate development, construction and trading, structural design of
real estate project, mergers, acquisitions and reorganization, project
financing, contract negotiation and corporate legal management.
Mr. Lei joined SPG Land in May 2003.
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CHEN Yi Jun, Tony, 36, is General Manager of Commercial Property
Management Center of the Group. Mr. CHEN Yi Jun, Tony, holds a
Bachelor degree in Foreign Economic Law from Shanghai Jiao Tong
University. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Chen was the assistant
to president of Shanghai Kinghill Limited (SuperBrand Mall) and
the vice president of lease department and business development
department of Chia Tai Commercial Real Estate Co., Ltd. Before
joining Chia Tai Group, he served as the consultant of the Business
Consulting department of Arthur Andersen Company and conducted
research mainly on the retail and financial investment sectors. Since
joining SPG Land in September 2009, Mr. Chen was the Commercial
Property Director of Sales & Marketing Management Center of the
Group.

QU Biao, Frank, 50, is General Manager of Hotel Investment
Management Center of the Group. Mr. QU Biao, Frank, graduated
from Shanghai Institute of Tourism (currently renamed as Shanghai
Normal University) and attended Hotel Executive Education Program
in Cornell University (U.S.A.). Mr. Qu has over 20 years of experience
with Starwood, InterContinental and Four Seasons hotel groups.
Mr. Qu was the deputy general manager of Four Seasons Hotel,
Shanghai, and has extensive experience in hotel investment,
development and operations. Mr. Qu joined SPG Land in March
2005.

WU Beibei, Crystal, 36, is Director of Human Resources
Management Center of the Group. Ms. Crystal WU graduated from
Xiamen University with a Master degree in Business Administration
and obtained the LCCI International Qualification Certificate from
London, United Kingdom, Professional Qualification Certificate from
Cornell University and Human Resources Management Certificate
from American Hotel & Lodging Association. Prior to joining the
Group, Ms. Wu was the Human Resources Director of the regional
office of China, Kerry Hotel, Pudong, Shanghai and Shangri-La
Hotel, Fuzhou under Shangri-La Hotels and Resorts. Ms. Wu joined
SPG Land in August 2010 and acted as Deputy Director of Human
Resources Management Center of the Group.
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GE Hao Long, 39, is General Manager of Shanghai SPG Property
Services Co., Ltd. under the Group. Mr. GE Hao Long graduated
from Hebei Institute of Finance and Economics. Mr. Ge has over 12
years of experience in property management and operation. Prior
to joining the Group, Mr. Ge worked as the person-in-charge of
functional division and key projects of China Vanke, the deputy
general manager of Shenzhen Poly Property, the executive director
and general manager of Hanzens. Mr. Ge is currently a standing
member of Shenzhen Property Management Association, a visiting
professor of Shenzhen Real Estate and Property Management
Advanced Training College and one of the members of the expert
assessment committee of qualification training for property
management project managers of Shenzhen, Guangdong province of
the PRC. Mr. Ge joined SPG Land in April 2010.

GAO Yu Di, 59, is Executive Director and Education Director of Sipo
Polytechnic under the Group, and joined the Group in September
2005. Ms. GAO Yu Di graduated from East China Normal University,
majoring in Chinese. She has over 30 years of experience in
education and was chief editor of education materials for secondary
schools in Shanghai. She held positions from teacher to vice-principal
of one of the famous high schools in Shanghai. She received special
allowance from the Government and was nominated as “Shanghai
Top-Level Teacher”.
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The directors (“Directors”) of the Company are pleased to present
their annual report together with the audited consolidated accounts
of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2011.

The Company is an investment holding company. Its subsidiaries are
principally engaged in property development, property and hotel
investment, property management and education.

An analysis of the Group's sales and operating results for the year by
principal activities is set out in note 6 to the consolidated accounts.

The Directors believe that the five largest customers of the Group
accounted for about 2.8% of the Group's sales in the year while the
five largest suppliers of the Group accounted for about 20% of the
Group's purchases in the year.

Save for the association with certain related companies as set out
in Note 46 to the consolidated accounts, none of the Directors,
their associates or any shareholders (which to the knowledge of the
Directors owned more than 5% of the Company’s share capital)
has a beneficial interest in the Group’s five largest customers or five
largest suppliers.

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2011 are
set out on page 121.

The Directors did not recommend the payment of a final dividend.
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The annual general meeting of the Company will be held on Friday,
1 June 2012. A notice convening the annual general meeting will be
published and dispatched to the shareholders of the Company in the
manner required by the Listing Rules in due course.

The register of members of the Company will be closed from
Wednesday, 30 May 2012 to Friday, 1 June 2012 (both days
inclusive) during which period no transfer of shares will be effected.
In order to determine the entitlement to attend and vote at the
annual general meeting to be held on Friday, 1 June 2012, all
transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates,
must be lodged with the Company’s branch share registrars in Hong
Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at 26th Floor, Tesbury Centre,
28 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30
p.m. on Tuesday, 29 May 2012.

Details of the movements in fixed assets during the year are set out
in note 18 to the consolidated accounts.

Borrowings repayable on demand or within one year are classified
under current liabilities. Details of the long-term borrowings are
set out in note 33 to the consolidated accounts. Interest and other
borrowing costs capitalised by the Group during the year are set out
in note 12 to the consolidated accounts.

Details of the movements in the share capital during the year are set
out in note 40 to the consolidated accounts.
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Details of the movements in reserves during the year are set out in
note 41 to the consolidated accounts.

As at 31 December 2011, the aggregate amount of reserves
available for distribution to equity shareholders of the Company was
RMB2,362,531,000 (2010: RMB2,531,644,000).

The donations made by the Group during the year amounted to
RMB5,478,000 (2010: RMB9,243,000).

A five-year financial summary of the Group is set out on pages 250
to 252.

The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of
this report were:

Mr. WANG Weixian (Chairman)
Ms. WANG Xuling
(appointed as Chief Executive Officer on 1 April 2011)

Mr. CHEUNG Man Hoi (Chief Financial Officer)
(appointed as an executive Director on 1 April 2011)

Mr. LAI Kin, Jerome (retired on 1 January 2012)

Mr. TSE Sai Tung, Stones
(resigned as Chief Executive Officer and re-designated from an
executive Director to a non-executive Director on 1 April 2011)

FARBEDFRIANGAKRAME4 -

WZZ——F+-_A=Z+—8  aA#tn
ETARAREBREANBELEER A
R #2,362,531,000t(Z T — T F: AR
2,531,644,0007¢T) °

FRAREBEL®IBEZEARMS478,000
T(ZZT—Z 4 AR¥09,243,0007T) °

AEEBMRAFHEHEHNFE25082528 °

FARBEABRSAHAL ARAAESE
=2

TRELSEEZEE)

FRELL
(R-FB—-——FHH - HEZER
77 1B 48 )

KXBEEEEHFE)

(R-FB—-——FHH - HEZER
HiTEE)

RphE(R-_F——4F—F—HRAE)

R A&
R=ZF——FWHA—HFTTHAES
WAHBHTEFRAEFHTESE)



Mr. CHEONG Ying Chew, Henry
Mr. FONG Wo, Felix, JP

Mr. JIANG Simon X.

Mr. KWAN Kai Cheong

In accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association, Mr.
WANG Weixian, Ms. WANG Xuling and Mr. TSE Sai Tung, Stones will
retire from the Board at the forthcoming annual general meeting.
Being eligible, they offer themselves for re-election.

None of the retiring Directors has a service contract with the
Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not terminable within
one year without payment of compensation other than statutory
compensation.

The Company has received independence confirmation from each of
the Independent Non-Executive Directors and considers them to be
independent.

No contracts of significance in relation to the Company’s business
to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in
which a Director of the Company had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year.
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In order to eliminate Directors’ interests in business competing with
the Group, on 19 September 2006, Mr. WANG Weixian entered into
a deed of non-competition with the Company (the “Deed”).

In accordance with the terms of the Deed, Mr. WANG Weixian has
provided the Company with an annual confirmation that he and his
associates (other than the Group) have complied with the terms of
the Deed.

The independent non-executive Directors of the Company have
reviewed the matters relating to the compliance and enforcement of
the Deed by Mr. WANG Weixian and his associates (other than the
Group) and confirmed that Mr. WANG Weixian and his associates
(other than the Group) have complied with the Deed.

As at the date of this report, none of the Directors of the Company
is considered to have interests in businesses which compete or are
likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the businesses of
the Group.
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Bank of East Asia (China) Limited, Shanghai Branch, granted a RMB
facility of up to RMB600,000,000 to a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company established in the PRC on 20 May 2011. In addition, on
6 July 2011, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company incorporated
in Hong Kong (as borrower) has entered into a term loan facility
agreement (the “Facility Agreement”) with The Bank of East Asia,
Limited (the “Bank”). The Facility Agreement relates to the provision
of a term loan facility of up to HKD500,000,000 (the “Facility”).
The Facility has a repayment term of three years from the date of
the Facility Agreement. The purpose of the Facility is to provide
capital for the borrower to finance its investment(s), including but
not limited to the acquisition of land in the PRC. The Company has
agreed to provide an unconditional and irrevocable guarantee to the
Bank in respect of the repayment obligations of the borrower under
the Facility Agreement (the “Guarantee”).

Pursuant to the Guarantee, Mr. WANG Weixian, David, the
controlling shareholder of the Company, shall continue to maintain
more than 50% beneficial shareholding interest in the Company and
maintain management control over the Company.

A failure to comply with the aforesaid obligation will constitute an
event of default under the Facility Agreement. However no event of
default will occur if the failure to comply is capable of remedy and is
remedied within 15 business days (or such longer period as the Bank
may approve) of the earlier of the Bank giving notice to the borrower
or the borrower becoming aware of the failure to comply. If an event
of default occurs, the Facility together with accrued interest, and all
other amounts accrued or outstanding under the Facility Agreement
may become immediately due and payable.
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On 19 September 2006, the Company adopted a share option RZZEZRNENATAB AAF2EN

BhEE(ERESED-

scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”).

A summary of the Share Option Scheme is set out below:

BREFERZHIMT

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to recognize and
acknowledge the contributions of the participants to the
growth of the Group by granting options to them as incentives

or rewards.

The Board may, in its discretion, offer to grant options
to subscribe for such number of shares as the Board may
determine to the following participants:

(i) any executive and employee of the Group; or

(i) any director (including non-executive directors and

independent non-executive directors) of the Group; or

(iii)  any consultant, adviser and/or agent of the Group.

The maximum number of shares in respect of which options
may be granted under the Share Option Scheme must not in
aggregate exceed 103,750,000 shares (approximately 9.87%
of issued share capital).

BEART2REBERFERLRTB X
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The maximum entitlement for each participant is that the total
number of shares of the Company issued and to be issued
upon exercise of the options granted to each participant
(including both exercised, cancelled and outstanding options)
in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the total
number of shares of the Company in issue. Any grant of
further options above this limit shall be subject to certain
requirements as stipulated in the rules of the Share Option
Scheme.

Subject to the rules of the Share Option Scheme, options may
be exercised by a participant, in whole or in part, at any time
during the period commencing from the date of grant and
expiring at 5:00 p.m. on the business day (i) preceding the fifth
anniversary of the date of grant or (ii) preceding the expiry of
the Share Option Scheme, whichever is the earlier.

No option may be exercised until the expiry of 12 months
after the date of grant. A grantee may be required to achieve
such performance targets as determined by the Board before
any options granted under the Share Option Scheme can be
exercised.

Nil
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The subscription price of a share in respect of any particular
option granted under the Share Option Scheme shall be such
price as the Board in its absolute discretion shall determine,
save that such price shall at least be the higher of:

(i)  the closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of offer,
which must be a day on which the Stock Exchange is
open for the business of dealing in securities (“Business
Day”); and

(i) the average of the closing prices of the shares as stated
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the
five Business Days immediately preceding the date of

offer,

or (where applicable) such price as from time to time adjusted
pursuant to the Share Option Scheme.

The Share Option Scheme is valid and effective for a period of
5 years commencing on 19 September 2006 and has expired
on 16 September 2011.
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SHARE OPTIONS (Continued)

Details of the share options granted to employees of the Group
pursuant to the Share Option Scheme are as follows:

B R E(E)

REBEEFEARTAEEREN
BRESBOT:

30 October 2009 3,075,000’ - 3,075,000 4.478 -

ZZEZNETA=ZTH 3,075,000 - 3,075,000 11.707 -
6,150,000 - 6,150,000 -

Notes: B 5

1 (@)  The first tranche of the option entitling the option holder 1. (@ BTERERSEARMNRE

to subscribe for 3,075,000 shares (after adjustment for
the bonus issue in May, 2010 (the “Bonus Issue”)) (the
“First Tranche”) shall vest on the date of grant at the
option price of HK$4.478 per share (after adjustment for
the Bonus Issue).

(b)  The third tranche of the option entitling the option holder
to subscribe for 3,075,000 shares (after adjustment for
the Bonus Issue) (the “Third Tranche”) shall vest at the
option price of HK$11.707 per share (after adjustment
for the Bonus Issue) before the second anniversary of
the date of grant for the First Tranche as and when the
average of the closing prices of the shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the past 10
consecutive Business Days immediately preceding the date
is higher than HK$12.00 (subject to adjustment, if any).

(0) The options may be exercised by the option holder,
in whole or in part, at any time during the period
commencing from the date of grant and ending at 5:00
p.m. on the Business Day immediately preceding 30
October 2014. However, no options vested in the First
Tranche and Third Tranche can be exercised until after the
expiry of 12 months from the respective dates of vesting
in accordance with (a) and (b) above.

2. Save as disclosed above, no option granted under the Share
Option Scheme was exercised, cancelled or lapsed during the
year ended 31 December 2011.
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On 19 September 2006, the Company also approved and adopted a
share option scheme entitling the Board of Directors to grant share
options at its discretion before the listing of the shares (the “Pre-
IPO Share Option Scheme”). A summary of the Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme is set out below:

The purpose of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme is to
recognize and acknowledge the contributions of the
participants to the growth of the Group and/or the listing of
the shares of the Company on the Stock Exchange by granting

options to them as incentives or rewards.

The Board may, in its discretion, offer to grant options
to subscribe for such number of shares as the Board may
determine to any executive, director and/or employee of the
Group who is in full-time employment of the Group at the time
when an option is granted.

18,540,000 shares being the maximum number of shares in
respect of which options may be granted under the Pre-IPO
Share Option Scheme have been fully granted. Such shares
represented approximately 1.76% of the issued share capital.

There is no restriction on the number of shares of the Company
issued and to be issued upon exercise of the options granted
to each participant in any 12-month period.
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Subject to the rules of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme, an
option may be exercised by a participant, in whole or in part,
at any time during the period commencing from the date of
grant and ending on such date as the Board may determine
in granting the option but in any event not exceeding 5 years
from 19 September 2006 being the date of grant of the
option.

No option may be exercised until the expiry of 12 months after
the date of vesting (provided that 25% of the options which
was vested on the date of grant shall not be exercisable within
12 months from the date on which the Company is listed on
the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Date”)). A grantee may be
required to achieve such performance targets as determined by
the Board before any options granted under the Pre-IPO Share
Option Scheme can be exercised.

Nil

(i) 25% of the options shall vest on the date of grant at a
price of HK$3.824 (prior to the adjustment for the Bonus
Issue) representing 80% of HK$4.78 being the price of
the Company’s shares offered under the Prospectus (the
"Offer Price”). After adjustment for the Bonus Issue, the
exercise price is HK$3.731; and
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SHARE OPTIONS (Continued) BB RE(E)
(i) 25% of the options shall vest on each of the first, second iy 25%WEREARKREE B R
and third anniversary of the date of grant at a price of m—BEFE MBER=#F
HK$4.302 (prior to the adjustment for the Bonus Issue) A5 R 1£4.3027%8 7T (5t 4T % 8
representing 90% of the Offer Price. After adjustment TELABRINNEREE M
for the Bonus Issue, the exercise price is HK$4.197. ZEBBEEZERNEESEMNIONY-

MARBITIELAER 17
B AB41978 T °

9. The remaining life of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme 9. BARLAHBRABRETEMNEGT
FH
The Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme was valid and effective for BRXRAFABRAMERESINA K
the period commencing on 19 September 2006 and expired on HR-ZZEZENFAATLBRE =
9 October 2006. —EERFTAANARER-
Details of the share options granted on 19 September 2006 BIEBE XD HBRRAERET SR
pursuant to the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme: ZEZERFAATABRENE R

BHBOT:

Director =

Mr. LAl Kin, Jerome — Z % & 19 September 2006 3,843,750 3,843,750 -
ZEZREAATNAE

Employees EE 19 September 2006 5,781,000 5,781,000 -

“ETAEAATAA

9,624,750 9,624,750 -




Notes:

Pursuant to the rules of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme,
25% of the options shall vest on the date of grant (the “First
Tranche”) at an option price of HK$3.731 per share (after
adjustment for the Bonus Issue). 25% of the options shall vest
on each of the first, second and third anniversary of the date
of grant (the “Subsequent Tranches”) at an option price of
HK$4.197 per share (after adjustment for the Bonus Issue). The
Board may at its absolute discretion adjust the percentage of the
options to be vested in the Subsequent Tranches either upwards
or downwards based on the performance of the option holder in
the year immediately preceding the vesting of the options in the
relevant Subsequent Tranches as determined by the Board except
that such adjustment shall not affect the vesting of options in

the First Tranche.

Pursuant to the rules of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme,
options may be exercised by a participant, in whole or in part,
at any time during the period commencing from the date of
grant and ending on such date as the Board may determine in
granting the option but in any event not exceeding 5 years from
19 September 2006 being the date of grant of the options. No
option may be exercised until after the expiry of 12 months
after the vesting date (provided that an option vested in the
First Tranche shall not be exercisable within 12 months from the
Listing Date).

Save as disclosed above, no option granted under the Pre-IPO
Share Option Scheme was exercised, cancelled or lapsed during
the year ended 31 December 2011.

GEX

BEEW (ER)ERAIT —FTF5H

BEEXAHABRABRESED
A 25%W EREBNR D E A
mEREERES®R3731E T(E R
aBEmELEEBE)EBE(ERD -
B5%MBERBERARLE BRI M
— B WMBAFRK=ZBFEBA 57
REREERESR41975 (B H
ARBETELEAB)EBE(TEE S
#h-Z2FgakBERERAEAR
EREHEAESHERERSBERRE
M—FANER(BESTERTE)
EREPEM LKA TAESEE R Z
SHESHERENBS L KA
ARABRT S EaHERENRSE -

Enl

Bim &R QG A BT R ES E W
RA-2EETREREERARE
EEERBELBRERMEE ZA
HYE B A {E ) B R 1T R 2 AP sk B
DERE EEROATNEEEB
—EEXRFAATARAELE
g RGN EFHBAITRE-
BREENE BB 5% E121E A
ERETATATDEEEEEBER
BEHOBRESSNA LT AR
FTEVI2E A B AT ATTE) -

BREXFEZEEN TEERES
RAFRBRABRESESRLNE
BKEERBEE=_Z——F+=A
=+t BLEFERETE HEH
EE &

m



112 SPG Land (Holdings) Limited ~Annual Report 2011

S

REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

e W

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

As at 31 December 2011, the interests of each Director and chief
executive of the Company in the equity or debt securities of the
Company or any associated corporation (within the meaning of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO")) which (a) were required
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and
short positions which they are taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO); or (b) were required, pursuant to section 352
of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein; or (c)
were required, pursuant to the Model Code to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange were as follows:

Long position in shares of the Company:

EERNEZNRER

RZB—-——F+-A=+—B AQAHF
EERTHAHRRARE [ AEBE
B(EERBFRBEGITERRBE
REIDE D A5+ A QBRERES
REEGIEXVEETREID BBAME XA
RARBZAOES(BEREE S LS
EROVNEEGREFTHEFRRIESR
BERESZRAR)  ROREFHFERHE
1 ) 55 352 16 78 A 5% 10 5% 14 B P & A2
MED HOAREBEFRETAMANE AR
RAIRBRAOERENT:

RERAROGHRAE:

Mr. WANG Weixian Interest of controlled corporation (Note 1) 642,252,138 61.10
TRELRSE S A R R (AT
Beneficiary of discretionary trust (Note 2) 110,512,493 10.51
BIEEEXm AME2)
Mr. TSE Sai Tung, Stones Interest of controlled corporation (Note 3) 11,531,119 1.10
Eiif =R XA A RS (P FE3)
Ms. WANG Xuling Interest of controlled corporation (Note 4) 10,250,448 0.98
Tzt Rl VNECTR: E  )
Beneficiary of discretionary trust (Note 2) 110,512,493 10.51

BfEEREXE AWM E2)




Notes:

)

3)

Mr. WANG Weixian is deemed to be interested in an aggregate of
752,764,631 shares which are held by SPG Investment Holdings Ltd.,
Brilliant Bright Investment Limited and Prestige Glory Enterprises
Limited, respectively.

(a) 506,741,640 shares are held by SPG Investment Holdings Ltd.
which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of SPG Asset Management
Limited. The entire issued share capital of SPG Asset
Management Limited is in turn beneficially owned by Mr. WANG

Weixian.

(b) 135,510,498 shares are held by Prestige Glory Enterprises
Limited which is entirely beneficially owned by Mr. WANG
Weixian.

Each of Mr. WANG Weixian and Ms. WANG Xuling is deemed to be
interested in 110,512,493 shares, which are held by Brilliant Bright
Investment Limited which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of HSBC
International Trustee Limited as trustee of a discretionary trust of which
family members of Mr. WANG Weixian including Mr. WANG Weixian
and Ms. WANG Xuling are discretionary objects.

Mr. TSE Sai Tung, Stones is deemed to be interested in 11,531,119
shares, which are held by Easternflair Investment Limited which is in
turn entirely beneficially owned by Mr. TSE Sai Tung, Stones.

Ms. WANG Xuling is deemed to be interested in 10,250,448 shares,
which are held by Boom Rich Investments Limited which is in turn
entirely beneficially owned by Ms. WANG Xuling.

M EE
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2011, none of the
Directors, chief executives of the Company and their respective
associates had any personal, family, corporate or other interests
or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which would have to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and
8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which
they are taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO),
or which were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be
entered in the register referred to therein, or which were required,
pursuant to the Model Code, to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange.

Apart from the foregoing, at no time during the year was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to
enable the Directors or any of their spouses or children under 18
years of age to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares
in or debentures of the Company or any other body corporate,
and no Directors or chief executives or their respective spouses
or children under 18 years of age had been granted any right to
subscribe for equity or debt securities of the Company nor exercised
any such right.

BREXHBEEN R_TE——F+_A
=t—B ARAEF THRAHLESE
BEBEOBEARKRR KA E BB
BEERBHFLBEHROFEXVED BB -
HEAROXEFPHREREEARERE S
EEE G EXVREIREsD AT K
NA R RAREEF R EFH
FE352fF AN Z GO P 2 B LM 3k
AREBEBRETAMMAEARRA MBZAHM
ENE=NCIREINNE VN = g A
RERZEREREZ LA EKRINEH
FREEFXRIEREBENRSTHARR) -

BLaEN REREMER ARE %K
HEMFRAALETIEMNRE NS E
EFARENEFNEBH T AERATHTF
LA EBEEARARRHAMEMEAMEAE
BOBROREFMESMNE UAEREFH
THAHIBEEFSANEMR T+ /AR N
THTFXAHECERARBEARARKRN
HEFWEAERN  RETEEFBEER -



BEEMH (R ARAT —T——FFH

REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

E N

e

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

Other than interests disclosed in the section headed “Directors’
Interests in Securities” above, as at 31 December 2011, according to
the register of interests kept by the Company under section 336 of
the SFO, the following entities had interests or short positions in the
shares of the Company which fall to be disclosed to the Company
under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO:

FERR

BEXEERESOME] — 8 RE
miEsN R-FE-—Ft=A=+-8-
R 5K 2 AR B 5 R R D) E 33614
AGEMERERMARSE THEBR
ARABR D H R EF R
EXVBELREIHBAMARTEE
EEV TS

SPG Investment Holdings Ltd.

SPG Asset Management Limited

Prestige Glory Enterprises Limited

Brilliant Bright Investment Limited

HSBC International Trustee Limited

Note 1:

Note 2:

Beneficial owner (Note 1)

BExmmEA AR

(Note 1)
ZEgl A a Em PR

Beneficial owner (Note 1)

BEnHEAEAMETD

Beneficial owner

BEmBEA A

Trustee (Note 2)
25 A 5E2)

506,741,640 shares are held by SPG Investment Holdings Ltd. which
is a wholly-owned subsidiary of SPG Asset Management Limited.
SPG Asset Management Limited is deemed to be interested in
506,741,640 shares under the SFO. Mr. WANG Weixian is a director
of SPG Investment Holdings Ltd., SPG Asset Management Limited
and Prestige Glory Enterprises Limited.

These shares are held by Brilliant Bright Investment Limited which
is a wholly-owned subsidiary of HSBC International Trustee Limited
as a trustee of a discretionary trust of which family members of Mr.
WANG Weixian including himself are discretionary objects

Interest of controlled corporation

506,741,640 48.21
506,741,640 48.21
135,510,498 12.89
110,512,493 10.51
110,512,493 10.51

M FE1 /& 80506,741,6400% % £ 7Y B SPG Investment
Holdings Ltd. T #§ & * SPG Investment Holdings
Ltd. /& SPG Asset Management Limited 2 &
BHEAENTAA - REZEFRPEK
il - SPG Asset Management Limited #% 1% &
EH506,741,640 Bt 2w TEE
% 4 Ty SPG Investment Holdings Ltd. * SPG
Asset Management Limited } Prestige Glory
Enterprises Limited 2 2 % »

Mi&E2 ¢ 1t 5 B& {5 A Brilliant Bright Investment Limited
Ffr £ & © Brilliant Bright Investment Limited
Z HSBC International Trustee Limited & & ¥
A ¥ F A 7] MHSBC International Trustee
Limiteda —EBEBEREANZFEA HE
BEEAXaARTEREREXREMWBELRA)
RREKEB -

115



116  SPG Land (Holdings) Limited Annual Report 2011

Details of the related-party transactions are set out in note 46 to the
consolidated accounts. None constitutes a discloseable “connected
transaction” or “continuing connected transaction” as defined in
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.”

No contract concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company was
entered into or existed during the year.

The remuneration policy of the employees of the Group is formulated
by the Remuneration Committee which takes into account individual
performance, qualifications and competence.

The remuneration of the executive Directors of the Company are
decided by the Remuneration Committee, having regard to the
Company’s operating results, individual performance and comparable
market statistics. The remuneration of the non-executive Directors
(including the independent non-executive Directors) of the Company
are recommended by the Remuneration Committee.

The Company has adopted the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme, the
Share Option Scheme and share award scheme to provide incentive
to the directors and eligible employees of the Group, details of the
share option schemes are set out in the paragraph headed “Share
Options” above.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased,
redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed securities during
the year ended 31 December 2011, except that the trustee of the
share award scheme, pursuant to the terms of the trust deed of
the share award scheme, purchased on the Stock Exchange a total
of 20,584,000 shares of the Company at a total consideration of
HK$37,420,161.92.
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REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

WS

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

No pre-emptive rights exist in the Cayman Islands being the
jurisdiction in which the Company is incorporated.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix 10
to the Listing Rules as its code of conduct for dealings in securities
of the Company by the Directors. Based on specific enquiry by the
Company, all Directors have confirmed that they have complied with
the required standards set out in the Model Code during the year
ended 31 December 2011.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Principal corporate governance practices adopted by the Company
are set out in the Corporate Governance Report.

CHANGES IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

Pursuant to Rule 13.51(B) of the Listing Rules, the changes in
information of Directors subsequent to the date of the 2010 Annual
Report are set out below:

BABEHRE
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TSE Sai Tung, Stones
EIREES
remuneration of HK$50,000.

New service agreement was entered into with the Company for a term of eighteen
months commencing from 1 April 2011, and Mr. TSE is entitled to a monthly
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The Company’s audit committee is composed of all the four
independent non-executive Directors of the Company. The audit
committee has reviewed with the management the accounting
principles and practices adopted by the Group and discussed internal
controls and financial reporting matters including a review of the
audited consolidated accounts for the year ended 31 December
2011.

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of its Directors, the Directors confirm
that the Company has maintained throughout the year of 2011 the
amount of public float as required under the Listing Rules.

The consolidated accounts for the year have been audited by KPMG.
A resolution for the re-appointment of KPMG as the Company’s
auditors for the ensuing year is to be proposed at the forthcoming
annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board
WANG Weixian
Chairman

Hong Kong, 23 March 2012
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Independent auditors’ report to the shareholders of
SPG Land (Holdings) Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of SPG Land
(Holdings) Limited (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (hereinafter
collectively referred to as “the Group”) set out on pages 121 to 249, which
comprise the consolidated balance sheet of the Group and the balance
sheet of the Company as at 31 December 2011, and the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows of the
Group for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting
policies and other explanatory notes.

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements
based on our audit. This report is made solely to you, as a body, and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability
to any other person for the contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the financial statements are free from material misstatement.
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REPORT OF THE AUDITORS
A% Wi e 7

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about
the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures
selected depend on the auditors’ judgement, including the assessment of
the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditors consider
internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of financial statements
that give a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well
as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at 31
December 2011 and of the Group’s profit and cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
and have been properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

KPMG

Certified Public Accountants
8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

23 March 2012
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For the year ended 31 December 2011
B F—— A= —HIFEE

BEEW (ER)ERAIT —FTF5H

Revenue g 7 4,271,189
Cost of sales $HE Ak AN (3,003,983)
Gross profit EF 1,267,206
Other income HAb U A 8 3,423
Selling and marketing costs HE RS HER AR (150,186)
Administrative expenses THEM (260,446)
Other operating expenses HEMg e 9 (24,005)
Net gain on acquisition of a jointly U B LR E  E BE MY

controlled entity Wz E5m 149,911
Net gain on repurchase of convertible bonds &% 6] A] & #1(F %~

a5 17,248

Results from operating activities RELE TR HEF 1,003,151
Finance income A& A 107,851
Finance expenses BhE Ak AN (61,982)
Fair value changes on financial derivatives PTHESMIANAREEZSE 36,37 (20,123)
Net finance (expenses)/income mE(RAE) WAEE 12 25,746
Share of (losses)/profits of associates FEGEE ARI(EE) % T 25 281,792
Share of losses of jointly controlled entity FEAE LR I E pe B 26 (20,008)
Profit before revaluation gains on Rt BREMEER KRR S

investment properties and income tax  Bi AR5 1,290,681
Revaluation (losses)/gains on investment KEYEEH(ER), WS

properties 22 229,203
Profit before income tax R BT 1S 8 A F 1,519,884
Income tax expense PRAS #1572 13 (618,278)
Profit for the year FERA 901,606
Profit attributable to: AR AR

Equity holders of the Company ViN/NET 2 =SS =N 890,206

Minority interests LER R S 11,400
Profit for the year FESF 901,606
Earnings per share BRET
Basic earnings per share (RMB) FRERBFI(ARKIT) 17 0.847
Diluted earnings per share (RMB) FRESEF(AREIT) 17 0.823

The notes on pages 129 to 249 form part of these financial statements.

Details of dividends payable to equity holders of the Company attributable

to the profit for the year are set out in note 16.

F129F 2498 7 M 5L Th % 5 B 75 R 3R MO HEL AR BT
Do SNSRI EM AR B IRIEE B AR S
EENG AR
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Ar e AT AR AR

For the year ended 31 December 2011
E o E——Ff - = —HIFFE

2011 2010
—g——%  —T-TF

Note RMB’000 RMB'000
B aE ARBT ARBETT

FERF 883,320 901,606

Profit for the year

Other comprehensive income for the year fF E 2t 2 E XA

Exchange differences ERER 243

Total comprehensive income for the year F£EZHE UK AL 883,563 901,615
Total comprehensive income UTALELAZEA

attributable to: W A4 %E .

Equity holders of the Company KARIRERA A 898,563 890,215

Minority interests DEIRERER (15,000) 11,400
Total comprehensive income for the year F£EZHE UK A &5 883,563 901,615

The notes on pages 129 to 249 form part of these financial statements. F129F 2498 2 W 5E T 52 5 B 75 R 5= /0 4B 7K BT
Details of dividends payable to equity holders of the Company attributable 5o BAFEE R A EMN AR RIRERE ARES
to the profit for the year are set out in note 16. TEHPAMIFE6 -



BEEN(ER)BRAE —F—FFR

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET AND COMPANY BALANCE SHEET

o EE AR A R EE AR

As at 31 December 2011
RZF——FF+=A=+—H

Note
B ek

The notes on pages 129 to 249 form part of these financial statements.

Assets BE
Property, plant and equipment ~ #% - iR &R 18
Intangible assets BREE 19
Land use rights 4 b fF A 20
Other investments HipiRE 21
Properties under development B EFRY)E 23
Investment properties REME 22
Interests in associates N 25
Interestsin a jointly controlled  H:[E)1Ze | Z BLfE 25

entity 26
Investment in subsidiaries FRRIRE 27
Long-term receivable AR YR 29
Financial derivatives TEeRMIA 37
Deferred tax assets ERERBEEE 32(ii)
Total non-current assets FRBEELAE
Properties under development  Z£[E 4% 23
Completed properties held BEMFENE

for sale 24
Other investments Hiig & 21
Trade, other receivables and JEUBR TN~ HAbER

advance deposits RIBREMNEZES 28
Long-term receivable within —FRNI RS

one year FEUR 29
Restricted cash ZRAIFE 30
Cash and cash equivalents BeRkBFEEEBY 31
Total current assets REBEEASE
Total assets BEHRH
Equity s
Share capital &N 40
Share premium B 175 (& 41
Reserves & 41(a)
Retained eamings/ REBHEF

(Accumulated losses) (B:tEE)
Total equity attributable RARREFEA

to equity holders of the e R AR

Company
Minority interests SYRRER
Total equity R

N

Company
FRF
2010 2011

N
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AR®TIT ARETT

904,068
1,610
81,732
13,032
3,600,904
1,948,000
1,263,247

738,468

814,186
625
139,785

9,505,657

4,921,467

505,220
16,115

3,270,269 424,020 590,743

125,486 = -
1,985,536 =
1,514,439 39,799

12,338,532 463,819

21,844,189

106,591 106,591 106,591

4,526,578

4,565,201

2,069,086 2,069,086 2,069,086
743,255 309,670 355,209
1,499,732 (16,225) 152,888

4,418,664

2,469,122 2,683,774

108,254

4,526,918

2,469,122 2,683,774

F129F 2498 2 Y2 F M MR WA A B

o
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S

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET AND COMPANY BALANCE SHEET
A B E AR A A B E AR

As at 31 December 2011
R-FE——F+=-H=1—H

Group Company
F5E AN
2011 2010 2011 2010

—g--% ~T-%TF =%--% "I-IF
RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARMTE ARBTE ARMTE ARETR

Liabilities afE
Interest-bearing loans FRED 33 2,077,615 1,534,694 -
Trade, other payables and FEFTBRIR - EfbfE A

advance receipts KAWL RIE 34 9,512,430 10,162,183 462,471 890,575
Tax payable FER TR 32() 1,209,234 879,931 = -
Long-term payable within —FRE RN REE

one year [BE:N 35 6,000 6,000
Total current liabilities RBEEEE 12,805,279 12,582,808 462,471 890,575
Interest-bearing loans STEBER 33 4,174,690 4,347,386 = -
Long-term payable REERT 35 39,997 42,738 402,190 952,229
Financial derivatives THESRMIA 37 1,742 - - -
Senior notes BrRER 36 1,231,418 - 1,231,418 -
Deferred tax liabilities EEHIAAE 32(iii) 278,584 344,339 -

Total non-current liabilities ~ IERBEERLE

5,726,431 4,734,463 1,633,608

18,531,710 17,317,271 2,096,079 1,842,804

Total equity and liabilities ~ X R AEHELE

23,837,809 21,844,189 4,565,201 4,526,578

Net current (liabilities)/assets RE (&) BEZHE

(1,291,028) (244,276) 1,348 (299,089)

Total assets less current HEERRBEE

liabilities

11,032,530 9,261,381 4,102,730 3,636,003

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 23 March S

TE-—F-A -t -HEEESALKE
%5}‘(60

2012. F

Wang Weixian Wang Xuling

TEE EXiCE-]

Chairman of the Board of Directors Group Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer
BEEE2TE FEEF AT I T AR

The notes on pages 129 to 249 form part of these financial statements. F129F 2498 7 5T T 72 55 B 75 e 2= 1 48 A AT
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IN EQUITY

=]

2B

AU

A

E——4F+f

ErhiEas %

For the year ended 31 December 2011

#HE

— =
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
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BEEN(ER)BRAE —F—FFR

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For the year ended 31 December 2011
o - =AU FE

2011 2010
—=E——F —TTF
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5E ARBT T AREFT
Operating activities REXEK
Profit for the year ANE 5 F 883,320 901,606
Adjustments for: FEIER -
Depreciation e 18 61,848 26,213
Amortisation of intangible asset G EE 19 44 45
Amortisation of land use rights o b {55 R AR 4H 20 1,879 1,739
Change in fair value of investment properties & ¥ A 2 BEME 22 28,844 (229,203)
Net finance expenses/(income) BERA (YA ) FE 12 53,755 (25,746)
Share of net losses/(profits) of associates and & {5 E & A &) K T [F]42 )
jointly controlled entity FEFEE (R 71,972 (261,784)
Loss on disposal of property, BEYE - BEIE
plant and equipment =] 80 6,691
Net gain on acquisition of a jointly Wi HL R 1 B 88 2 e
controlled entity JEEE - (149,911)
Equity-settled share-based payment expenses RE#E4E E R D M FE X 10 1,126 3,899
Net gain on repurchase of convertible bonds [0 °] 8 # & % ~ I 255 48 = (17,248)
Income tax expenses Frsx 13 486,631 618,278
Operating profit before changes in EEESEHAMN
working capital BERF 1,589,499 874,579
Decrease in restricted cash 2R HIER R 678,069 423,212
Increase in trade, other receivables and FEUTARIR  E b FEURIE &
advance deposits TEfHR & 15 0 (358,285) (2,547,187)
Increase in properties under development BRERAMEREERK
and completed properties held for sale FHEYEL (1,757,870) (1,980,211)
(Decrease)/increase in trade, other payables  JE{TBE RN  E ith fE 7018 &
and advance receipts TEd kI CRl 2,/ 5N (689,771) 4,484,486
Income tax paid SRS H (294,365) (348,989)
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from BEEBRS(RE)
operating activities TAFE 905,890

F129F 2498 2 Y2 F M MR WA A B

4 e

The notes on pages 129 to 249 form part of these financial statements.
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For the year ended 31 December 2011
I F—— A=t — AU

Investing activities REEFH
Proceeds from sale of property, LEWE  BEK

plant and equipment BABATS A 223
Loans repaid by associates i N AEEER 12,000
Interest received EFLE 52,809
Disposal of equity interests in a subsidiary HEF A AR (7,266)
Acquisition of a jointly controlled entity Wl HRE 6 E 8 (1,371,100)
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment UYES 13 - BiE KRR (31,788)
Payment for other investments XA E AR E (17,173)
Proceeds from sale of equity securities held  HE#FEXZ 5 B A8

for trading AR A TE 5 518 -
Net cash outflow from investing activities 1% & E 8 fT I L & 548 (1,362,295)
Financing activities REEE
Proceeds from bank borrowings RITIEE RS FIA 4,504,097
Proceeds from senior notes BERBAEIE 36 -
Capital contribution from minority interests /> # AR R H & 80,000
Acquisition of minority interests Wi D B R R = (425,000)
Payments for purchase of shares for the Share 3z <88 & %17 2Bt &1

Award Scheme pd gv) 39(ii) -
Repayment of bank borrowings BERITEE (3,858,404)
Payment for convertible bonds repurchased 32 < 7] #23(E %5 6] 38 (952,227)
Interest paid ERFE (358,330)
Dividends paid BERRE (56,402)
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from BETEHELSARA

financing activities (i) F5E (1,066,266)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and ReRBESEEY

cash equivalents #in CRd)FE (1,522,671)
Cash and cash equivalents at R—BA—HBHHWERERK

1 January REEEY 3,038,945
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes fEREEHHHTE (1,835)
Cash and cash equivalents at R+=ZA=+—HH#

31 December ReERAESEEY 1,514,439

The notes on pages 129 to 249 form part of these financial statements. F1292 2498 2 M5 Th 5% 5 0 15 3R 3R &9 40 B B

Zx
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
»‘/—f jﬂ%iﬁ%‘%l}ﬂ‘nf

GENERAL INFORMATION AND GROUP
REORGANISATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 13
April 2006 as an exempted company with limited liability under
the Companies Law, Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and
revised) of the Cayman Islands. The address of the Company’s
registered office is Century Yard, Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O.
Box 2681 GT, George Town, Grand Cayman, British West Indies.
The companies comprising the Group underwent a reorganisation
(the "Reorganisation”) to rationalise the Group’s structure in
preparation for the listing of the Company’s shares on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Hong
Kong Stock Exchange”). On 30 June 2006, the Company became
the holding company of the subsidiaries now comprising the Group.
Details of the Reorganisation were set out in the Prospectus of the
Company dated 26 September 2006.

The Company’s shares were listed on the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange on 10 October 2006.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

The consolidated results of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2011 include the results of the Company and its
subsidiaries from 1 January 2011, or their respective dates of
incorporation. The consolidated balance sheet at 31 December
2011 is a consolidation of the balance sheets of the Company and
its subsidiaries at the respective balance sheet dates. All material
intra-group transactions and balances have been eliminated on
consolidation. In the opinion of the directors, the consolidated
financial statements prepared on this basis present fairly the results
of operations and the state of affairs of the Group as a whole.
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RAIRZTEZERFNAZTRBFIENE

RER -

RRABBHR-_EENF+A+BEEES
B A2 7 ©

mREE
AEBHE_T——F+-_A=+—HL
FENGAEARBRBRARRIRETARIA
—E——F A RAEAFEEZTAMNEMK
VEHESNESE R_F——F+ A
:-I'*E!E’J,ﬁi?éﬁﬁ‘%%%)ﬂﬁﬁ’“_
H EEEERAR %EIE’JQFE
Tﬁi%iv?f:\ﬁﬁﬁx cMEEXREEARRS
BHRYCONEERAR TR - %%ﬂ
7‘% ?ﬁik%/ﬁfﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁkﬂﬁﬁ R RS

ARBRAEEREHOLEXE NI
Hj(//uu"



130 SPG Land (Holdings) Limited Annual Report 2011

s

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R B B 2 R R R

2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

(a)

(b)

(9]

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
("IFRSs"). These financial statements also comply with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and the applicable disclosure provisions of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on Hong Kong Stock
Exchange.

The International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB") has
issued certain new and revised IFRSs that are first effective or
available for early adoption for the current accounting period
of the Group and the Company. Note 4 provides information
on any changes in accounting policies resulting from initial
application of these developments to the extent that they are
relevant to the Group for the current and prior accounting
periods reflected in the consolidated financial statements.

Basis of measurement

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis except that other investments in equity
securities, derivative financial instruments and investment
properties are measured at fair value.

The methods used to measure fair values are discussed further
in note 5.

The financial statements have been prepared on the basis
that the Group will continue to operate throughout the next
twelve months as a going concern. The Group's current
liabilities exceeded its current assets by RMB1,291,028,000
as at 31 December 2011 (2010: RMB244,276,000). Based on
the anticipated ability of the Group to obtain continued bank
financing and the estimated proceeds from pre-sale of certain
projects to finance its continuing operation, the Company’s
directors have prepared the financial statements on a going
concern basis.

Functional and presentation currency

These consolidated financial statements are presented in
Renminbi (“RMB"), which is the Company’s functional
currency. All financial information presented in RMB has been
rounded to the nearest thousand.

2.

4

REE(E)

(a) &REH

(b)

(c)
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ZN PR YISk WNCIR ST i
BREMBEBZAES ETRAZ
ERBERE -

ERest R B e (RS ER
ZEE)RM T RLHET REERT
M BIPR B 5 s R - RAKRE A
REAAEHHE B R ERH AR PR
e RERERESERMEHER
AEERE R Z A g s BEH RER
RAMBREANGTRRESG 2EH
NSRRI TS

STEEE

BEMBAESEE  (TESBTA
REAMERBR AL BEM BN - &
BRI A THIR IR E £ PR AR A A B
A,

ST S AT R N R —
Filth o

BTSRRI BA S B A BT AR K
ToEAUFELENEEMRR
RZB——F+ZA=+—0H &%
BrzraaBEBRansdiE AR
1,291,028,000L( = —ZFF : AR
#244,276,0007T) ° RIBEAEE GE 4
BRERITREZARE N RETHE
HrEE BT RIEAEREK
BIRHES  ARREEURELYE

HEEREAMEERE -

heER 2MERE
REEAUBRRUAARERS] - A
REDADRANDEER - FHUA
BRI 25N B AR NEE R
MFIT



BEEW (ER)AERAIT —FT——FFH 131

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao 5 B 75 R I

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued) 2. RAEEE(E)
(d) Use of estimates and judgements (d) FrR{EEr R #

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements
in conformity with IFRSs requires management to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the
application of accounting policies and the reported amounts
of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical experience
and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis
of making the judgements about carrying values of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and
future periods.

In particular, information about significant areas of estimation
uncertainty and critical judgements in applying accounting
policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts
recognised in the consolidated financial statements are
described in the following notes:

o Note 13 —income tax expense

o Note 22 —valuation of investment properties

o Note 32 — deferred taxation

o Note 36,37 — valuation of derivative financial
instruments

o Note 39 — measurement of share-based payments

o Note 42 - financial guarantees

o Note 43 —valuation of financial instruments

o Note 44 — lease classification

BT A BRI IS LR RS B
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LER  fRERASHONGEAM
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S BRE Y ENERMEL TSR
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T EETTHUL -

o 13— PSRRI

o M2 —REMEZIEE

e MiFE32 — EERIE

e MIFE36 37 —fTAEEMITA
Z k1A

e 39 — B fIEtE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A 3 S 25 R B

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently
to all years presented in these consolidated financial statements,
and have been applied consistently by Group entities, except as
explained in note 4, which addresses changes in accounting policies.

(a) Basis of consolidation

(i) Subsidiaries, controlled special purpose entities
and non-controlling interests
Subsidiaries and controlled special purpose entities are
entities controlled by the Group. Control exists when
the Company has the power, directly or indirectly,
to govern the financial and operating policies of an
entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. In
assessing control, potential voting rights that are
presently exercisable or convertible are taken into
account. The financial statements of subsidiaries and
controlled special purpose entities are included in
the consolidated financial statements from the date
that control commences until the date that control
ceases. The accounting policies of subsidiaries have
been changed when necessary to align them with the
policies adopted by the Group. The assets and liabilities
of the controlled special purpose entity, SPG Land
Employee Benefit Trust (New Zealand) (the “Trust”) (see
note 27(b)), are included in the Group’s consolidated
balance sheet and the shares of the Company held
by the Trust are presented as a deduction in equity
as Shares held for Share Award Scheme. Intra-group
balances and transactions and any unrealised profits
arising from intra-group transactions are eliminated
infull in preparing the consolidated financial
statements. Unrealised losses resulting from intra-
group transactions are eliminated in the same way as
unrealised gains but only to the extent that there is no
evidence of impairment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(a) Basis of consolidation (Continued)

0]

Subsidiaries, controlled special purpose entities
and non-controlling interests (Continued)
Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a
subsidiary not attributable directly or indirectly to the
Company, and in respect of which the Group has not
agreed any additional terms with the holders of those
interests which would result in the Group as a whole
having a contractual obligation in respect of those
interests that meets the definition of a financial liability.
For each business combination, the Group can elect
to measure any non-controlling interests either at fair
value or at their proportionate share of the subsidiary’s
net identifiable assets.

Non-controlling interests are presented in the
consolidated balance sheet within equity, separately
from equity attributable to the equity shareholders
of the Company. Non-controlling interests in the
results of the Group are presented on the face of the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income as
an allocation of the total comprehensive income for the
year between non-controlling interests and the equity
shareholders of the Company. Loans from holders
of non-controlling interests and other contractual
obligations towards these holders are presented as
financial liabilities in the consolidated balance sheet in
accordance with notes 3(m) or 3(n) depending on the
nature of the liability.

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that do
not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions, whereby adjustments are made to the
amounts of controlling and non-controlling interests
within consolidated equity to reflect the change in
relative interests, but no adjustments are made to
goodwill and no gain or loss is recognised.

3.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FEETBEE)
(Continued)
(a) Basis of consolidation (Continued) (a) EHtEEE)
(i) Subsidiaries, controlled special purpose entities (i) F27 - ZSEGIEHRENESE

and non-controlling interests (Continued) RIFZERERS(E)
When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, itis HMAREBRELSF LTS
accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in ¥ BIABRYALEEZTFAT
that subsidiary, with a resulting gain or loss being MEEER - BLEEHE
recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained in S ETIBEERTER - NEL
that former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is LIRS B AR B AR
recognised at fair value and this amount is regarded as E’jEH"MZé DR AR BERE
the fair value on initial recognition of a financial asset (see R ML EBEREE NER
note 3(c)(i)) or, when appropriate, the cost on initial SREENALEBECE Bﬁ?
recognition of an investment in an associate or jointly 3(c)(i)) * B (KZEUE?H ) B IXTER
controlled entity (see note 3(a)(iii)). B NTI LRI H TEITE

E’\Jﬁk$(/§uﬂfﬂ‘§£3(a)(m)) °

In the Company’s balance sheet, an investmentin a RAEAQNBEEABRBEY 72
subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment losses (see AN E AR AHNBRIBEEE
note 3(1)), unless the investment is classified as held for ABR(RMEE3() » 2EARE
sale (or included in a disposal group that is classified as FEEMSE (SEAEDE A
held for sale). EFENHEARBRIN -

(ii) Business combination for entities under common (i) SHEZ4INSENELSH
control
Business combinations arising from transfers of ] 8 35 2 Jor | R = B 9 IR R dE
interests in entities that are under the control of the B EEMESIMELENER
shareholder that controls the Group are accounted for BB TUAR - Bz EY
as if the acquisition had occurred at the beginning of B2 5P 0 & e E R
the earliest comparative period presented or, if later, (shinfE I Eig » BN ES A
at the date that common control was established. TH B H) BT B AL o LR
The assets and liabilities acquired are recognised HMEERBBIRUATRARER
atthe carrying amounts recognised previously in ; PR E M A B IS mE N
the Group’s controlling shareholder’s consolidated ROBEEMEETHESD - BIE
financial statements. The components of equity of the ERNLSBEER T AEERETS
acquired entities are added to the same components NI FEZ D - EEIWE T2
within Group equity except that any share capital of MEMBRAREIEASGHHEEDN
the acquired entities is recognised as part of merger — B T LARERR o {E{al ot U BB
reserves. Any cash paid for the acquisition is recognised EEYNMRSEERERA

directly in equity. i
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. XTESFHBEEE)
(Continued)
(a) Basis of consolidation (Continued)
(iii) Associates and jointly controlled entities

(a) APFEE(E)
(i) BMEQTRARZEGER

Associates are those entities in which the Group
has significant influence, but not control, over the
financial and operating policies. Significant influence
is presumed to exist when the Group holds between
20% and 50% of the voting power of another entity.
Jointly controlled entities are those entities over whose
activities the Group has joint control, established by
contractual agreement and requiring unanimous
consent for strategic financial and operating decisions.

Investments in associates and jointly controlled entities
are accounted for using the equity method and are
initially recognised at cost and adjusted for any excess
of the group’s share of the acquisition-date fair values
of the investee’s identifiable net assets over the cost
of the investment (if any). Thereafter, the investment
is adjustment for the post acquisition change in the
Group's share of the investee’s net assets and any
impairment loss relating to the investment (see note
3(a)(iv) and 3(I)). The consolidated financial statements
include the Group’s share of the post acquisition gains
and losses and equity movements of the investees, after
adjustments to align the accounting policies with those
of the Group, from the date that significant influence or
joint control commences until the date that significant
influence or joint control ceases.

When the Group's share of losses exceeds its interest
in an associate or a jointly controlled entity, the
carrying amount of the interest is reduced to nil and
the recognition of further losses is discontinued except
to the extent that the Group has an obligation or has
made payments on behalf of the investee. For this
purpose, the Group's interest is the carrying amount of
the investment under the equity method together with
the Group's long-term interests that in substance form
part of the Group's net investment in the associate or
the jointly controlled entity.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(a) Basis of consolidation (Continued)

(iii)

Associates and jointly controlled entities
(Continued)

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from transactions
between the Group and its associates and jointly
controlled entities are eliminated to the extent of
the Group'sinterestin the investee, except where
unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment of
the asset transferred, in which case they are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

When the Group ceases to have significant influence
over an associate or joint control over a jointly
controlled entity, it is accounted for as a disposal of the
entire interest in that investee, with a resulting gain
or loss being recognised in profit or loss. Any interest
retained in that former investee at the date when
significant influence or joint control is lost is recognised
at fair value and this amount is regarded as the fair
value on initial recognition of a financial asset (see
note 3(c)(i)) or, when appropriate, the cost on initial
recognition of an investment in an associate.

Inthe Company’s balance sheet, investmentsin
associates and jointly controlled entities are stated
at cost less impairment losses (see note 3(l)), unless
classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal
group that is classified as held for sale).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. SHBEKR(E)
(Continued)
(a) Basis of consolidation (Continued) (a) BHtEE(E)
(iv) Goodwill (iv) B8

Goodwill represents the excess of

i) the aggregate of the fair value of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the
fair value of the Group's previously held equity
interest in the acquiree; over

ii) the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable
assets and liabilities measured as at the
acquisition date.

When ii) is greater than i), then this excess is recognised
immediately in profit or loss as a gain on a bargain
purchase.

Goodwill is stated at cost less accumulated impairment
losses. Goodwill arising on a business combination is
allocated to each cash-generating unit, or groups of
cash generating units, that is expected to benefit from
the synergies of the combination and is tested annually
for impairment (see note 3(1)).

Ondisposal of a cash generating unit during the
year, any attributable amount of purchased goodwill
isincluded in the calculation of the profit or loss on
disposal.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FEEMBERAE)
(Continued)
(b) Foreign currency (b) Hhi
(i)  Foreign currency transactions (i) HEXSH
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the GNEE S SR AT 5 H BT K FE R
respective functional currencies of Group entities at the BHEALSEFERMNIEE
exchange rates ruling at the dates of the transactions. ﬁé} R B HR L y‘\ﬁg%g
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign EEERAEIRE HRITH
currencies at the reporting date are translated to the ERE AL e - [EH I8
functional currency at the exchange rate ruling at that HEEIBETRETR -
date. Exchange gains and losses are recognised in profit
or loss.
Non-monetary assets and liabilities in a foreign currency PAGNEE 45 T PUFE S R A S 2
thatare measured in terms of historical cost are HIEEMEERaERERTSH
translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the BITHINEE R E o [LINE
transaction dates. Non-monetary assets and liabilities LEERIEALEEAENIEY
denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at ﬁgﬁ@;ﬁgg BIRETAAEHRE
fair value are translated using the foreign exchange 1THINETE R &
rates ruling at the dates the fair value was determined.
(i) Foreign operations (i) BHER
The assets and liabilities of foreign operations outside i ARLFBE([HE ) LA
the People’s Republic of China ("PRC"), including BONERFEERE B(BERE
goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on WHERELENEER AL EE
acquisition, are translated to RMB at the foreign FHE VR EEARRABIY
exchange rates ruling at the balance sheet date. The SNEE R E A A RIE o 154
results of foreign operations are translated into RMB EENESRBESZEBTY
at the exchange rates approximating the foreign SNEERBENERBE A A
exchange rates ruling at the dates of the transactions. R o RHEAHELE=ETY
The resulting exchange differences are recognised EHMEEmRARREDR  WE
in other comprehensive income and accumulated BEXPHINEREEESHE
separately in equity in the foreign currency translation oo HIEIN WD H B D
reserve (“FCTR"”). When a foreign operation is disposed HER - BB EREBRN
of, in partorin full, the cumulative amount of the EHERZHSEeRmEXS
exchange differences relating to that foreign operation FoBEEER  EAHEEZE
is reclassified from equity to profit or loss as part of the H)—2L5 o
gain or loss on disposal.
When the settlement of a monetary item receivable ik e i Bk FE B AN E TR R
from or payable to a foreign operation is neither BEMW L EETE B A e
planned nor likely in the foreseeable future, foreign BARRRNAKAT 434 » BIREZ
exchange gains and losses arising from such a monetary EEEREANELIBRIER
item are considered to form part of the net investment tﬁﬁﬁjziﬁm\%ﬁ B SR8 — 26
in a foreign operation. These are recognised in other A = LT gy == R
comprehensive income, and are presented in the FCTR 200 AT HE 25 R ) G S IR (R
in equity and recognised in profit of loss on disposal of B2 ERERAELERKER

the net investment.

<
g



BEEM (R ARAF

TR

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

MF

o BB A B

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(c) Financial instruments

0]

Other investments in debt and equity securities

The Group’s policies for investments in debt and equity
securities, other than investments in subsidiaries,
associates and jointly controlling entities, are as follows:

Investments in debt and equity securities are initially
stated at fair value, which is their transaction price
unless fair value can be more reliably estimated using
valuation techniques whose variables include only data
from observable markets. Cost includes attributable
transaction costs, except where indicated otherwise
below. These investments are subsequently accounted
for as follows, depending on their classification:

Investments in securities held for trading are classified
as current assets. Any attributable transaction costs are
recognised in profit or loss as incurred. At each balance
sheet date the fair value is re-measured, with any
resultant gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss.
The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss does
not include any dividends or interest earned on these
investments as these are recognised in accordance with
the policies set out in note 3(u).

Investments in equity securities that do not have a
quoted market price in an active market and whose
fair value cannot be reliably measured are measured
at cost less any identified impairment losses (see note
3(1)) at each balance sheet date subsequent to initial
recognition.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(c) Financial instruments (Continued)
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(i)

Other investments in debt and equity securities
(Continued)

Investments in securities which do not fall into any of
the above categories are classified as available-for-
sale securities. At the end of each reporting period
the fair value is remeasured, with any resultant gain
or loss being recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated separately in equity in the
fair value reserve, except foreign exchange gains and
losses resulting from changes in the amortised cost
of monetary items such as debt securities which are
recognised directly in profit or loss. Dividend income
from these investments is recognised in profit or loss
in accordance with the policy set outin note 3(u)
and, where these investments are interest-bearing,
interest calculated using the effective interest method
is recognised in profit or loss in accordance with the
policy set out in note 3(u). When these investments are
derecognised or impaired (see note 3()), the cumulative
gain or loss is reclassified from equity to profit or loss.

Senior notes

Senior notesissued by the Company that contain
both liability and early redemption option (which is
not closely related to the host contract) are classified
separately into respective items on initial recognition. At
the date of issue, both the liability and early redemption
option components are recognised at fair value.
Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the senior
notes are recognised initially as part of the liability.

Subsequent to initial recognition, the early redemption
component which is presented as derivative financial
instruments is re-measured in accordance with the
accounting policy set out in note 3(c)(iii). The liability
component is subsequently carried at amortised cost.
The interest expense on the liability componentis
calculated using the effective interest method.

3.

(c)

BRTBE

(48 )

TMIAE)

(0

(ii)

HtREERBERFEHFNR
B(E)
B Ll ER R A F #}&
B A ERIHEEES -
RERESHAR  FEMTER
AEE ALEENEANER
DIEHMEERARR - W
EmPH A BERBESFZR
i EREBESFSERIER
) B SRR AN B P EE AR BB
Higm  REEEBEmP®
R RBZEREBEANRE
WA - TR B FE3(u) AT #t IR
RIEBEEPER  WZERE
BEAES  KRAERAEZX
ETE BT SRR BRI T 3(u) AT
HHREEBESPRER - £ S
A TE BRI ER SR E (R KT
A3 - RETEmEHER
BHHEEER -

BERE

ARBFABETHOELERERR
BERREFEDE(LIFETS
HEERMER Y - BRE
REREDRHNRBILOBRE
BHIER - RNETEY AF
LIZREEESIHRAAE
BHER - FRABRTELEREN
RGRAZRNERRABHN—

EERERE 2 RTES
BMITAMNRFEDI D HIER
M EE3(Q)GiFTE M g 5T BUR E
MEtE o BEMSHBRKZE#
SRR B ER - BEE D HIFLE
BRDERAERMNEERTEHE -



BEEM (R ARAF

TR

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

MF

o BB A B

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(c) Financial instruments (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

Derivative financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments are recognised initially
at fair value. At each balance sheet date the fair value
is re-measured. The gain or loss on re-measurement to
fair value is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental
costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or
options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax,
from the proceeds.

Where any subsidiary or controlled special purpose
entity of the Company purchases the Company’s equity
share capital, the amount of the consideration paid,
which includes directly attributable costs, is net of
any tax effects, and is recognised as a deduction from
equity.

Recognition/derecognition of financial assets and
liabilities

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
in the consolidated balance sheet when the Group
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument. Financial assets are de-recognised when
the Group no longer has the rights to cash flows,
the risks and rewards of ownership or control of the
asset. Financial liabilities are de-recognised when the
obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled or
expires.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(d) Property, plant and equipment

0]

(i)

(iii)

Recognition and measurement

Items of property, plant and equipment are measured
at cost less accumulated depreciation (see (iv) below)
and impairment losses (see note 3(1)).

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to
the acquisition of the asset. The cost of self-constructed
assets includes the cost of materials and direct labour,
and other costs directly attributable to bringing the
asset to a working condition for its intended use.

Where parts of anitem of property, plant and
equipment have different useful lives, they are
accounted for as separate items of property, plant and
equipment.

Gains and losses on disposal of an item of property,
plant and equipment are determined by comparing the
proceeds from disposal with the carrying amount of
property, plant and equipment and are recognised net
within “other income” in profit or loss.

Reclassification to investment properties

When the use of a property changes from owner-
occupied to investment property, the property is re-
measured to fair value and reclassified as investment
property. Any gain arising on re-measurement is
recognised directly in equity. Any loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Subsequent costs

The cost of replacing part of an item of property, plant
and equipment is recognised in the carrying amount
of the item if it is probable that the future economic
benefits embodied within the part will flow to the
Group and its cost can be measured reliably. The costs
of the day-to-day servicing of property, plantand
equipment are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(d) Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

(iv) Depreciation
Depreciation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-
line basis over the estimated useful lives of each part
of an item of property, plant and equipment. Leased
assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term
and their useful lives.

The estimated useful lives for the current and
comparative periods are as follows:

Buildings situated on leasehold land 20-40 years
Motor vehicles 5 years
Fixtures, fittings and equipment 2-10years

Leasehold improvements Shorter of leasehold
period and

5 years

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values
are reviewed at each reporting date.

(e) Land use rights

Land use rights represent lease prepayments for acquiring
rights to use land in the PRC with periods ranging from 40
to 70 years. Land use rights granted with consideration are
recognised initially at acquisition cost. Land use rights are
classified and accounted for in accordance with the intended
use of the properties erected on the related land.

For properties that are held for own use, the corresponding
lease prepayments are separately stated as land use rights
in the balance sheet and stated at cost, less accumulated
amortisation and any impairment losses (see note 3(1)).
Amortisation is charged to profit or loss on a straight-line
basis over the period of the land use rights.

For investment properties, the corresponding land use rights
are classified and accounted for as part of the investment
properties, which are carried at fair value as described in note
3().

For properties that are developed for sale, the corresponding
land use rights are classified and accounted for as part of the
properties.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

()

(9)

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held either to earn
rental income or for capital appreciation or for both,
but not for salesin the ordinary course of business, use
inthe production or supply of goods or services or for
administrative purposes. These include land use rights held
for a currently undetermined future use and property that is
being constructed or developed for future use as investment
properties.

Investment properties are stated in the balance sheet at fair
value, unless they are still in the course of construction or
development at the balance sheet date and their fair value
cannot be reliably determined at that time. Any gain or loss
arising from a change in fair value or from the retirement or
disposal of an investment property is recognised in profit or
loss.

Rental income from investment properties is accounted for as
described in note 3(r).

When the use of an investment property changes such
that it is reclassified as property, plant and equipment and
completed properties held for sale, its fair value at the date of
reclassification becomes its cost for subsequent accounting.
When the Group begins to redevelop an existing investment
property for continued future use as investment property, the
property remains an investment property measured based on
the fair value model, and is not reclassified as property, plant
and equipment during the redevelopment.

Properties under development

Properties under development comprise property developed
for own use or for sale. The development cost of property
comprises costs of land use rights for properties under
development for sale (see note 3(e)), construction costs,
borrowing costs (see note 3(s)) and professional fees
incurred during the development period. Properties under
development are carried at cost, less any impairment loss (see
note 3(1)).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(9)

(h)

()

Properties under development (Continued)
Properties under development which are intended to be held
for sale and expected to be completed within 12 months from
the balance sheet date are shown as current assets.

Properties under development which are intended to be held
for own use, or for sale and expected to be completed beyond
12 months from the balance sheet date are shown as non-
current assets.

Completed properties held for sale
Completed properties remaining unsold at the end of each
period are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

Cost of completed properties held for sale comprises
development costs attributable to the unsold properties.

Net realisable value is determined by reference to the sale
proceeds of properties sold in the ordinary course of business,
less applicable variable selling expenses, or by management
estimates based on prevailing marketing conditions.

Intangible assets (other than goodwiill)
Intangible assets that are acquired by the Group are stated in
the balance sheet at cost less accumulated amortisation (where
the estimated useful life is finite) and impairment losses (see
note 3(I)).

Amortisation of intangible assets with finite useful lives is
charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the
estimated useful lives. The following intangible assets with
finite useful lives are amortised from the date they are
available for use and their estimated useful lives are as follows:

Contractor qualification 37 years

Both the period and method of amortisation are reviewed
annually.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

()

(k)

Trade, other receivables and advance
deposits

Trade, other receivables and advance deposits are initially
recognised at fair value and thereafter stated at amortised cost
less impairment losses for bad and doubtful debts (see note
3(1)), except where the receivables are interest-free advances
and repayable on demand or the effect of discounting would
be immaterial. In such cases, the receivables are stated at cost
less impairment losses for bad and doubtful debts (see note

3().

Inventories

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. The cost of inventories is calculated using
the weighted average cost formula, and includes expenditure
incurred in acquiring the inventories, production or conversion
costs and other costs incurred in bringing them to their
existing location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of
completion and selling expenses.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those
inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in which
the related revenue is recognised. The amount of any write-
down of inventories to net realisable value and all losses of
inventories are recognised as an expense in the period the
write-down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any
write-down of inventories is recognised as a reduction in the
amount of inventories recognised as an expense in the period
in which the reversal occurs.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
() Impairment

0]

Financial assets

Investments in debt and equity securities (other than
investment in subsidiaries) and other current and non-
current receivables that are stated at cost or amortised
cost or are classified as available-for-sale securities
are reviewed at each balance sheet date to determine
whether there is objective evidence of impairment.
Objective evidence of impairment includes observable
data that comes to the attention of the Group about
one or more of the following loss events:

° significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

. a breach of contract, such as a default or
delinquency in interest or principal payments;

° it becoming probable that the debtor will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;

. significant changes in the technological, market,
economic or legal environment that have an
adverse effect on the debtor; and

° a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value
of an investment in an equity instrument below
its cost.

If any such evidence exists, an impairment loss is
determined and recognised as follows:

° Forinvestments in associates and jointly
controlled entities recognised using the equity
method (see note 3(a)), the impairment loss is
measured by comparing the recoverable amount
of the investment as a whole with its carrying
amountin accordance with note 3(l)(ii). The
impairment loss is reversed if there has been
a favourable change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount in accordance
with note 3(I)ii).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

()

Impairment (Continued)

0]

Financial assets (Continued)

For unquoted debt or equity instruments carried
at cost, the impairment loss is measured as the
difference between the carrying amount of the
financial asset and the estimated future cash
flows, discounted at the current market rate
of return for a similar financial asset where the
effect of discounting is material. Impairment
losses for unquoted equity instruments carried at
cost are not reversed.

For trade and other current receivables and other
financial assets carried at amortised cost, the
impairment loss is measured as the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of estimated future cash flows,
discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate (i.e. the effective interest
rate computed at initial recognition of the asset),
where the effect of discounting is material. This
assessment is made collectively where financial
assets carried at amortised cost share similar risk
characteristics, such as similar past due status and
have not been individually assessed as impaired.
Future cash flows for financial assets which are
assessed for impairment collectively are based on
historical loss experience for assets with credit
risk characteristics similar to the collective group.

Ifin a subsequent period the amount of an
impairment loss decreases and the decrease
can be linked objectively to an event occurring
after the impairment loss was recognised, the
impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss.
A reversal of an impairment loss shall not result in
the asset’s carrying amount exceeding that which
would have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognised in prior years.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. SEREER(E)
(Continued)
() Impairment (Continued) () EEE)
(i) Financial assets (Continued) (i) =@EEE)

o For available-for-sale securities, the cumulative . AIHEEELSDEAARE
loss that has been recognised in the fair value BEREEERNESTERTY
reserve is reclassified to profit or loss. The BV AZRIER - HiExR
amount of the cumulative loss that is recognised RIERHETEESREA
in profit or loss is the difference between the Wi AR (1 BR (T AR

acquisition cost (net of any principal repayment
and amortisation) and current fair value, less
any impairment loss on that asset previously
recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment losses recognised in profit or loss
in respect of available-for-sale equity securities
are not reversed through profit or loss. Any
subsequentincrease in the fair value of such
assetsisrecognisedin other comprehensive
income.

Impairment losses in respect of available-for-sale
debt securities are reversed if the subsequent
increase in fair value can be objectively related
to an event occurring after the impairment loss
was recognised. Reversals of impairment losses
in such circumstances are recognised in profit or
loss.

Impairment losses are written off against the
corresponding assets directly, except for impairment
losses recognised in respect of trade debtors and bills
receivable included within trade and other receivables,
whose recovery is considered doubtful but not remote.
In this case, the impairment losses for doubtful debts
are recorded using an allowance account. When the
Group is satisfied that recovery is remote, the amount
considered irrecoverable is written off against trade
debtors and bills receivable directly and any amounts
held in the allowance account relating to that debt are
reversed. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously
charged to the allowance account are reversed against
the allowance account. Other changes in the allowance
account and subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously written off directly are recognised in profit or
loss.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
Impairment (Continued)

)

(ii)

Non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial
assets, other than investment properties, inventories
and deferred tax assets, are reviewed at each reporting
date to determine whether there is any indication of
impairment. If any such indication exists, then the
asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. For goodwill,
its recoverable amount is estimated at each reporting
date.

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater
of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell.
In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. Where an asset does not generate
cash inflows largely independent of those from other
assets, the recoverable amount is determined for the
smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows
independently (the “cash-generating unit”).

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss if the
carrying amount of an asset, or the cash-generating
unit to which it belongs, exceeds its recoverable
amount. Impairment losses recognised in respect of
cash-generating units are allocated first to reduce the
carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the cash-
generating unit (or group of units) and then, to reduce
the carrying amount of the other assets in the unit
(or group of units) on a pro rata basis, except that the
carrying value of an asset will not be reduced below its
individual fair value less costs to sell, or value in use, if
determinable.

In respect of assets other than goodwill, an impairment
loss is reversed if there has been a favourable change
in the estimates used to determine the recoverable
amount. An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is
not reversed. A reversal of an impairment loss is limited
to the asset’s carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised in
prior years. Reversals of impairment losses are credited
to profit or loss in the year in which the reversals are
recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(m) Trade, other payables and advance receipts

(n)

(o)

(p)

Trade, other payables and advance receipts are initially
recognised at fair value and thereafter stated at amortised
cost unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in
which case they are stated at cost.

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair
value less attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to
initial recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated
at amortised cost with any difference between the amount
initially recognised and redemption value being recognised
in profit or loss over the period of the borrowings, together
with any interest and fees payable, using the effective interest
method.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call
deposits. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and
form an integral part of the Group’s cash management are
included as a component of cash and cash equivalents for the
purpose of the consolidated statements of cash flows.

Employee benefits

(i) Defined contribution retirement plans
A defined contribution plan is a post-employment
benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed
contributions into a separate entity and will have no
legal or constructive obligation to pay further amounts.
Obligations for contributions to defined contribution
pension plans are recognised as an employee benefit
expense in profit or loss when they are due, except
to the extent that they are included in the cost of
properties under development or completed properties
held for sale not yet recognised as cost of sales.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(p) Employee benefits (Continued)

(ii)

Share option scheme

The Company operates various share option schemes
(the “Share Option Schemes”) where directors and
employees of the Group are granted share options to
acquire ordinary shares of the Company.

The grant date fair value of share options granted to
employeesis recognised as an employee expense,
with a corresponding increase in capital reserve within
equity, over the period in which the employees become
unconditionally entitled to the options. The amount
recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the
actual number of share options that vest.

The fair value is measured at grant date using the
binomial model, taking into account the terms and
conditions upon which the options were granted.
Where the employees have to meet vesting conditions
before becoming unconditionally entitled to the share
options, the total estimated fair value of the share
options is spread over the vesting period, taking into
account the probability that the options will vest.

During the vesting period, the number of share options
that is expected to vest is reviewed. Any adjustment
to the cumulative fair value recognised in prior years
is charged or credited to profit or loss for the year of
the review, unless the original employee expenses
qualify for recognition as an asset, in which case the
adjustment is made to the capital reserve. On vesting
date, the amount recognised as an expense is adjusted
toreflect the actual number of share options that
vest (with a corresponding adjustment to the capital
reserve) except where forfeiture is only due to not
achieving vesting conditions that relate to the market
price of the Company’s shares. The equity amount
isrecognised in the capital reserve until either the
option is exercised (when it is transferred to the share
premium account) or the option expires (when it is
released directly to retained profits). Share-based
payment transactions in which the Company grants
share options to subsidiaries’ employees are accounted
for as an increase in value of investment in subsidiaries
in the Company’s balance sheet which is eliminated on
consolidation.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(p) Employee benefits (Continued)

(iii)

Share award scheme

The Company operates a share award scheme
(the “Share Award Scheme”) where directors and
employees of the Group are granted ordinary shares
of the Company. Ordinary shares purchased under the
Share Award Scheme are held by the Trust.

Where the Trust purchases the Company’s shares
from the market, the consideration paid, including any
directly attributable incremental costs, is presented as
Shares held for Share Award Scheme and deducted
from total equity.

Upon vesting, the related costs of the vested Awarded
Shares recognised are credited to Shares held for Share
Award Scheme, with a corresponding decrease in
employee share-based compensation reserve for shares
purchased with contributions paid to the Trust.

(q) Financial guarantees issued, provisions and
contingent liabilities

()

Financial guarantees issued

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the
issuer (i.e. the guarantor) to make specified payments
to reimburse the beneficiary of the guarantee (the
“holder”) for aloss the holder incurs because a
specified debtor fails to make payment when due in
accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.

Where the Group issues a financial guarantee, the
fair value of the guarantee (being the transaction
price, unless the fair value can otherwise be reliably
estimated) is initially recognised as deferred income
within trade and other payables. Where consideration is
received or receivable for the issuance of the guarantee,
the consideration is recognised in accordance with the
Group's policies applicable to that category of asset.
Where no such consideration is received or receivable,
an immediate expense is recognised in profit or loss on
initial recognition of any deferred income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B B AR M

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(q) Financial guarantees issued, provisions and
contingent liabilities (Continued)

0]

(i)

Financial guarantees issued (Continued)

The amount of the guarantee initially recognised as
deferred income is amortised in profit or loss over
the term of the guarantee as income from financial
guaranteesissued. In addition, provisions are
recognised in accordance with note 3(q)(ii) if and when
(i) it becomes probable that the holder of the guarantee
will call upon the Group under the guarantee, and (ii)
the amount of that claim on the Group is expected to
exceed the amount currently carried in trade and other
payables in respect of that guarantee, i.e. the amount
initially recognised, less accumulated amortisation.

Other provisions and contingent liabilities

A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event,
the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation
that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that
an outflow of economic benefits will be required to
settle the obligation. Provisions are determined by
discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-
tax rate that reflects current market assessments of
the time value of money and the risks specific to the
liability.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow
of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations,
whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
events, are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless
the probability of an outflow of economic benefits is
remote.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
Revenue

(r)

Provided it is probable that the economic benefits will flow

to the Group and the revenue and costs, if applicable, can be

measured reliably, revenue is recognised in profit or loss as

follows:

0]

(i)

(iii)

Sales of properties

Revenue from sales of properties is recognised when
a Group entity has delivered the relevant properties
to the customers and collectability of the related
receivables is reasonably assured. Deposits and
instalments received on properties sold prior to the date
of revenue recognition are recorded as advances from
customers and presented as trade and other payables
under current liabilities.

Rental income from operating leases

Rental income is recognised on a straight-line basis
over the term of the lease. Lease incentives granted are
recognised in profit or loss as an integral part of the
aggregate net lease payment receivable. Contingent
rents are recorded as income in the periods in which
they are earned.

Sales of goods and services rendered

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the
significant risks and rewards of ownership have been
transferred to the buyer. No revenue is recognised if
there are significant uncertainties regarding recovery
of the consideration due, associated costs or the
possible return of goods, or where there is continuing
management involvement with the goods.

Revenue in relation to property management and hotel
operation is recognised when the services are rendered.

Revenue from landscape projects is recognised in
proportion to the stage of completion of the projects
at the balance sheet date. The stage of completion is
assessed by reference to work performed. An expected
loss on a contract is recognised immediately in profit or
loss.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(r)

(s)

(t)

Revenue (Continued)

(iv) Tuition fee
Revenue from provision of education services is
recognised on a time-proportion basis using the
straight-line method. Tuition fee received prior to the
date of revenue recognition is included in non-trade
payables and presented under current liabilities.

(v) Government grants
Unconditional government grants are recognised as
other income on a cash receipt basis.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of an asset which
necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for
its intended use or sale are capitalised as part of the cost of
that asset. Other borrowing costs are expensed in the period
in which they are incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost of
a qualifying asset commences when expenditure for the
asset is being incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred
and activities that are necessary to prepare the asset for
its intended use or sale are in progress. Capitalisation of
borrowing costs is suspended or ceases when substantially all
the activities necessary to prepare the qualifying asset for its
intended use or sale are interrupted or complete.

Expenses

(i)  Service costs and property operating expenses
Service costs for service contracts entered into and
property operating expenses are expensed as incurred.

(ii) Operating lease payments
Payments made under operating leases are recognised
in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term
of the lease. Lease incentives received are recognised
in profit or loss as an integral part of the total lease
expense.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(u) Netfinance expense

(v)

Net finance expense comprises interest expenses on
borrowings (see note 3(s)), net of interest capitalised, interest
income on cash deposits in bank, dividend income, changes
in fair value of other investments in equity securities held for
trading, and foreign currency gains and losses.

Interest income is recognised as it accrues, using the effective
interest method.

Dividend income from unlisted investments is recognised
when the shareholder’s right to receive payment is
established; dividend income from listed investments is
recognised when the share price of the investment goes ex-
dividend.

Foreign currency gains and losses are reported on a net basis.

Income tax expense

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax.
Income tax is recognised in profit or loss except to the extent
that it relates to items recognised directly in equity, in which
case it is recognised in equity.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income
for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantially enacted
at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in
respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is provided using the balance sheet method,
providing for temporary differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting
purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes.
Deferred tax is not recognised for the following temporary
differences: the initial recognition of goodwill, the initial
recognition of assets or liabilities that affect neither
accounting nor taxable profit, and differences relating
to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that they will
probably not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax is
measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to
the temporary differences when they reverse, based on the
laws that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the
reporting date.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(v)

(w)

(x)

(y)

Income tax expense (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally
enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities and assets,
and they relate to taxes levied by the same tax authority on
the same taxable entity, or on different tax entities, but they
intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis
or their tax assets and liabilities will be realised simultaneously.

A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is
probable that future taxable profits will be available against
which temporary differences can be utilised. Deferred tax
assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced
to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax
benefit will be realised.

Dividends
Dividends are recognised as a liability in the period in which
they are declared.

Earnings per share

The Group presents basic and diluted earnings per share
("EPS") data for its ordinary shares. Basic EPS is calculated by
dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders
of the Company by the weighted average number of
ordinary shares outstanding during the period. Diluted EPS
is determined by adjusting the profit or loss attributable to
ordinary shareholders and the weighted average number
of ordinary shares outstanding for the effects of all dilutive
potential ordinary shares, which comprise convertible bonds
and share options granted to employees.

Related parties

(i) A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is
related to the group if that person:
(1) has control or joint control over the group;
(2)  hassignificant influence over the group; or

(3) is a member of the key management personnel
of the group or the group’s parent.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(y) Related parties (Continued)
(i) An entity is related to the group if any of the following

conditions applies:

(M

2)

®3)

)

(5)

(6)

@)

The entity and the group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the group or
an entity related to the group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (i).

A person identifiedin (i)(1) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity).

Close members of the family of a person are those family

members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced

by, that person in their dealings with the entity.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. SITHE(E)
(Continued)
(z) Segment reporting (z) DEIHE
Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item (ARSI N B RS R N TR B =

reported in the financial statements, are identified from the
financial information provided regularly to the Group’s most
senior executive management for the purposes of allocating
resources to and assessing the performance of the Group's
various lines of business.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated
for financial reporting purposes unless the segments have
similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect of
the nature of products and services, the nature of production
processes, the type or class of customers, the methods used
to distribute the products or provide the services, and the
nature of the regulatory environment. Operating segments
which are not individually material may be aggregated if they
share a majority of these criteria.

(aa) New standards and interpretations not yet

adopted

Up to the date of issue these financial statements, the IASB
hasissued a number of new standards, amendments to
standards and interpretations are not yet effective for the
year ended 31 December 2011, and have not been applied in
preparing these consolidated financial statements:

Amendment to IFRS 7, Financial instruments:
Disclosures — Transfers of financial assets

ERMBREE S
EHTA RE-BELHBEE

/

ELEBEE SR HEEHRALEE
RRENTRERERN KERKF
EARE R XBRERIRR M HAE
BER SR -

B BmEmMS - @RS BEAH
KENTTEAMAE - RIEDHH
%E%@EM’M&EM&Wﬁﬁ
BCAEERFME  BEPEHIA
A DHEMBIRERGG AN TTE
NEBRBENIEEMRLL - RIERIG
ZRER TS TBEARKLE DL

MRBEGTE LB RE LR - A
AREA PRI E
(aa) = RERA 2 37 22 R M52 8

TSR R

HEABMBRETIZAS  HEE:
HAZSSEM T ZEMAEA - AR
B kRE  GEE_T—F+=
A=+ —RALFERREN TR
ZERE MG MERREIWRER

Effective for accounting
period beginning

on or after

(unless specified)
RUTRERRS
2R R I
BHHHBEXR
(BREEHAM)

1 July 2011
—E2——%+A—H

Amendments to IAS 12, Income taxes — Deferred tax:

Recovery of underlying assets

Amendments to IAS 1 - Presentation of financial
statements — Presentation of items of other
comprehensive income

B G ERFE 1258 2 BR] - i — 4
EHE - KEIEEEE

B e ERIFE R 2B — 258 5
*—Z2EMmEEMAER

1 January 2012

—=F—A—H
1July 2012
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(aa) New standards and interpretations not yet

adopted (Continued)

IFRS 10, Consolidated financial statements

IFRS 11, Joint arrangements

IFRS 12, Disclosure of interests in other entities

IFRS 13, Fair value measurement

IAS 27, Separate financial statements (2011)
IAS 28, Investments in associates and joint
ventures

Revised IAS 19, Employee benefits

Amendments to IFRS 7, Financial instruments:
Disclosures

Amendments to IAS 32, Financial instruments:
Presentation

IFRS 9, Financial instruments (2010)

Amendments to IFRS 9, Financial instruments and
IFRS 7, Financial instruments: Disclosures
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Effective for accounting
period beginning

on or after

(unless specified)
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Z BB RN

BRHEEX
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1 January 2013
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1 January 2013
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1 January 2013
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1 January 2013
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1 January 2013
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1 January 2014
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1 January 2015
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1 January 2015
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161



162 SPG Land (Holdings) Limited Annual Report 2011

S

VOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B B 5 R M

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. S BEKE)

(Continued)

(aa) New standards and interpretations not yet
adopted (Continued)
The Group isin the process of making an assessment of
what the impact of these amendments, new standards
and new interpretations is expected to be in the period of
initial application. Up to the date of the issuance of these
financial statements, the Group believes that their adoption is
unlikely to have a significant impact on the Group’s results of
operations and financial position.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The IASB has issued a number of amendments to IFRSs and one
new Interpretation that are first effective for the current accounting
period of the group and the company. Of these, the following
developments are relevant to the group’s financial statements:

o IAS 24 (revised 2009), Related party disclosures

. Improvements to IFRSs (2010)

o IFRIC 19, Extinguishing financial liabilities with equity
instruments

o Amendments to IFRIC 14, IAS 19 — The limit on a defined
benefit asset, minimum funding requirements and their
interaction — Prepayments of a minimum funding requirement

The group has not applied any new standard or interpretation that is
not yet effective for the current accounting period.

The amendments to IFRIC 14 have had no material impact on the
Group's financial statements as they were consistent with policies
already adopted by the group. IFRIC 19 has not yet had a material
impact on the Group's financial statements as these changes
will first be effective as and when the Group enters a relevant
transaction (for example, a debt for equity swap).
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CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

The impacts of other developments are discussed below:

IAS 24 (revised 2009) revises the definition of a related party.
As a result, the Group has re-assessed the identification of
related parties and concluded that the revised definition does
not have any material impact on the Group’s related party
disclosures in the current and previous period. IAS 24 (revised
20009) also introduces modified disclosure requirements for
government-related entities. This does not impact the Group
because the Group is not a government-related entity.

Improvements to IFRSs (2010) omnibus standard introduces
a number of amendments to the disclosure requirements
in IFRS 7, Financial instruments: Disclosures. The disclosures
about the Group's financial instruments in note 43 have
been conformed to the amended disclosure requirements.
These amendments do not have any material impact on the
classification, recognition and measurements of the amounts
recognised in the financial statements in the current and
previous periods.

5. DETERMINATION OF FAIR VALUES

A number of the Group’s accounting policies and disclosures

require the determination of fair value, for both financial and non-

financial assets and liabilities. Fair values have been determined for

measurement and/or disclosure purposes based on the following

methods. Where applicable, further information about the

assumptions made in determining fair values is disclosed in the notes

specific to that asset or liability.

()

Properties under development

The fair values of properties under development recognised
as a result of a business combination are based on market
values. The market value of a property is the estimated
amount for which a property could be exchanged on the date
of valuation between a willing buyer and a willing seller in
arms’ length transaction after proper marketing wherein the
parties had each acted knowledgeably, prudently and without
compulsion. The market value of items of plant, equipment,
fixtures and fittings is based on the quoted market prices for
similar items.
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5.

DETERMINATION OF FAIR VALUES
(Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Investment properties

An external, independent valuation company, having
appropriate recognised professional qualifications and recent
experience in the location and category of property being
valued, values the Group’s investment property portfolio
every six months. The fair values are based on market
values, being the estimated amount for which a property
could be exchanged on the date of the valuation between a
willing buyer and a willing seller in arms’ length transaction
after proper marketing wherein the parties had each acted
knowledgeably, prudently and without compulsion.

In the absence of current prices in an active market, the
valuations are prepared by considering the aggregate of the
estimated cash flows expected to be received from renting out
the property. A yield that reflects the specific risks inherent in
the net cash flows then is applied to the net annual cash flows
to arrive at the property valuation.

Valuations reflect, where appropriate: the type of tenants
actually in occupation or responsible for meeting lease
commitments or likely to be in occupation after letting vacant
accommodation, and the market’s general perception of their
creditworthiness; the allocation of maintenance and insurance
responsibilities between the Group and the lessee; and the
remaining economic life of the property. When rent reviews
or lease renewals are pending with anticipated reversionary
increases, it is assumed that all notices and where appropriate
counter-notices have been served validly and within the
appropriate time.

Investment property under construction or development
isvalued by estimating the fair value of the completed
investment property and then deducting from that amount
the estimated costs to complete construction or development,
financing costs and a reasonable profit margin.

Share-based payment transactions

The fair value of employee stock options is measured using
a binomial lattice model. Measurement inputs include share
price on measurement date, exercise price of the instrument,
expected volatility (based on weighted average historic
volatility adjusted for changes expected due to publicly
available information), weighted average expected life of
the instruments (based on historical experience and general
option holder behaviour), expected dividends, and the risk-
free interest rate (based on government bonds). Service
and non-market performance conditions attached to the
transactions are not taken into account in determining fair
value.

(iii)
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NOTE@ TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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SEGMENT REPORTING

The Group has five reportable segments, as described below, which
are the Group'’s strategic business units. The strategic business units
offer different products and services, and are managed separately
because they require different technology and marketing strategies.
For each of the strategic business units, the chief operating decision
maker (the “CODM") reviews internal management reports at least
on a monthly basis. The following summary describes the operations
in each of the Group’s reportable segments.

° Sales of property: this segment develops and sells residential
properties, including villas, townhouses and apartments, etc.
Currently the Group’s activities in this regard are carried out
in Shanghai, Kunming, Changshu, Wuxi, Suzhou, Haikou,
Taiyuan and Ningbo.

° Lease of property: this segment leases commercial and
residential properties to generate rental income and gain from
the appreciation in the properties’ values in the long term.
Currently the Group's investment property portfolio is located
in Shanghai, Haikou, Kunming, Suzhou and Wuxi.

° Hotel and related services: this segment operates hotels and
service apartments to generate accommodation service and
related income. Currently the Group’s activities in this regard
are carried out in Shanghai, Suzhou and Huangshan.

o Education: this segment provides education and
accommodation service to college students. Currently the
Group’s activities in this regard are carried out in Shanghai.

° Property management and other related services: this
segment provides property management services, project
management services, greenery construction services and
other related services to external customers and group
companies. Currently the Group’s activities in this regard are
carried out in Shanghai, Kunming, Changshu, Wuxi, Suzhou
and Haikou.

In prior periods, the Group managed the operations of sales of
property and hotel and related services as a whole. The composition
of the reportable segments was changed in the current year as a
result of the significant growth of hotel and related services. The
change in the composition of the operating segments has resulted
in the change in the internal reporting information reviewed by the
CODM.
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SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

In a manner consistent with the way in which information is reported
internally to the CODM, the Group has separated the segment of
sales of property into two segments: (i) sales of property; (ii) hotel
and related services. Comparative figures have been reclassified to
reflect such change.

For the purposes of assessing segment performance and allocating
resources between segments, the Group’s senior executive
management monitors the results, assets and liabilities attributable
to each reportable segment on the following bases:

Segment assets include all current and non-current assets with the
exception of interests in associates, interests in a jointly controlled
entity, financial derivatives and other corporate assets. Segment
liabilities include all current and non-current liabilities except for the
senior notes managed at corporate level.

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable segments
with reference to the revenue generated and the expenses incurred
by those segments or which otherwise arise from the depreciation
or amortisation of assets attributable to those segments. Segment
results do not include fair value change on financial derivatives,
compensation income, share of losses or profits of associates, share
of losses of jointly controlled entity and those profit or loss related
to senior notes, share-based payments and any other transactions at
the corporate level.
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6. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 6. PWHE(E
For the year ended 31 December 2011 BE—ZE——F+-A=1+—HLFE

Property

management

Hotel & & other

Sales of Lease of related related

Expressed in RMB'000 property property services  Education services
NEEE

BIER REAM

UARBTR3IE NEHEE  WXEE RERK ¥E  HERE

Revenue from external HBEF Wi

customers 5,417,462 36,430 80,858 77,343 65,430 5,677,523
Inter-segment revenue et - - - - 23,852 23,852
Reportable segment revenue ] B #§ 5 8B Ut 35 5,417,462 89,282 5,701,375
Reportable segment EREABRR

profit/(loss) (B18) 995,140 (67,252)  (106,494) 4,097 (6,387) 819,104
Interest income FIBWA 28,352 566 8,760 100 1,159 38,937
Finance expenses BEMAK (21,506) (25,548) (14,227) (15,588) (76,869)
Revaluation losses on investment & & ¥£ S EE

properties (28,844) (28,844)
Reportable segmentassets ~ THHEHHEE 19,819,429 1,651,000 2,407,164 308,566 168,413 24,354,572
Additions to non-current FRENS

segment assets during the year ~ 3EiRENEE 17,928 122,492 8,030 11,404 160,165
Reportable segment liabilities T[ERHESHEE 16,114,776 645,020 1,996,662 227,041 19,073,470

Depreciation and amortisation ¥ k&4 11,949 37,612 13,770 63,771
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6. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 6. DEWMEE)
For the year ended 31 December 2010 (Reclassified) BE—E-—-ESF+-A=1+—HIEEEH
%)
Property
management
Hotel & & other
Sales of Lease of related related
Expressed in RMB'000 property property services Education services
NEER
BIER A
MARETTIIE F B MR = R
Revenue from external HEEF S
customers 4,113,664 29,069 - 77,229 51,227 4,271,189
Inter-segment revenue o PR - - - - 18,435 18,435
Reportable segment revenue ] B 3 5 2P i 5 4,113,664 29,069 - 77,229 69,662 4,289,624
Reportable segment AHED B,
profit/(loss) (E#8) 324,764 181,651 - 10,966 (18,414) 498,967
Interest income FEHA 106,641 267 - 36 907 107,851
Finance expenses BARAK (62,906) (3,150) - (11,212) - (77,268)
Revaluation gains on investment X &% 51
properties - 229,203 - - - 229,203
Reportable segmentassets ~ ARHEAHEE 17,815,271 1,948,000 2,155,674 276,213 306,645 22,501,803
Additions to non-current FREMS I
segment assets during the year  JERENE & 6,810 78,381 18,179 5,843 955 110,168
Reportable segment liabilities TR HHHEF 16,799,940 640,045 1,672,137 198,784 179,594 19,490,500

Depreciation and amortisation ~ #7% [ 54 13,749 - - 13,691 557 27,997
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6.

SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

Reconciliation of reportable segment revenues,

profit, assets and liabilities

Revenue

Wz

—JEﬁiﬁ o BRI AR
BEHH R

B E (4

2011
—E——fF
RMB’000
AR¥T T

5,701,375
(PXR:17))

Reportable segment revenue IR HDUE
Elimination of inter-segment revenue 53 B U 2 3 B
Consolidated revenue el

5,677,523

Profit
Reportable segment profit

Elimination of inter-segment losses/(profits)

Fair value change on financial derivatives

Repurchase of convertible bonds

Compensation income

Share-based payments

Gain on acquisition of a jointly controlled
entity

Share of (losses)/profits of associates

Share of losses of jointly controlled entity

il
] ER R 2 &P )

o EBRIER, O ) 18
MTEEBMTANAAEEES

BorEinEs
HERA
Bedn A

Ui R B R m U en

2011
—=E——F
RMB’000
AR®T T

819,104

1,526
(25,209)

160,997
(1.126)

Py *U N

FEAREE AR (B1R),E R
FEME KRG BRI

(68,639)
(3,333)

Consolidated profit after income tax

bR TSI E 4R G m T 883,320

Assets
Reportable segment assets

Elimination of inter-segment receivables
Elimination of inter-segment investments
Other unallocated assets

Financial derivatives

Interests in associates

Interests in a jointly controlled entity

aE
Al ¥R BB A EE

PR & S i
ARDBECEE
Eﬁ%ﬂlﬂ
A

B I e W SR IR 8

2011
—=E——F
RMB’000
ARBT T

24,354,572

(1,814,430)
(632,076)

1,194,608
735,135

Consolidated total assets

23,837,809

BEERE

2010
—E-TF

RMB’000
ARBETT

4,289,624
(18,435)

4,271,189

2010
—ET-TF
RMB’000
[EERSSEE

498,967

(2,282)
(20,123)
17,248

(3,899)

149,911
281,792
(20,008)

2010
—E-TF
RMB’000
ARET T

22,501,803

(2,173,229)
(488,216)
1,491

625
1,263,247
738,468

21,844,189
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6. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 6.

Reconciliation of reportable segment revenues,
profit, assets and liabilities (Continued)

7 HRBERE (E)
AHREs Bk E  EF > BEERE
EHHIR(E)

2011 2010
—g——%  -T-2F

RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET ARBFT

19,073,470 19,490,500

(1.814,430) (2,173,229)
1,270,928 -
1,742 -

Liabilities =L

Reportable segment liabilities RS HEE
Elimination of inter-segment payables 53 B e FE A FRIB T 88
Senior notes BEERE

Financial derivatives PTESmTA
Consolidated total liabilities e aBEE

18,531,710 17,317,271

Geographical information
In view of the fact that the Group mainly operates in the PRC, no
geographical segment information is presented.

Information about major customers
For the year ended 31 December 2011 and 2010, no single
customer contributes 10% or more of the total sales of the group.

7. REVENUE 7.

The amount of each significant category of revenue recognised is as
follows:

Sales of properties YEHE

Rental income HE WA

Property management income MIEEBEWA

Sales of goods and rendering of services ERHE MR AR
Tuition fee 28

Hotel operation income B S EERA

tEER
AAREBEEERHLE  GFE25
B D IER

FRAETEEFHNER
NE-F——FR-"F-FTF+-A
S+-RLEFE  BEE-FSAMAR
488 H10% S I -

Iy 55
EHRZ S EEAMFIMSSBMT -

2011 2010
—g——%  -T-2F

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREETT

5,417,462 4,113,664
36,430 29,069
44,595 38,268
20,835 12,959
77,343 77,229
80,858 -

Total A&t

5,677,523 4,271,189
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8. OTHERINCOME

e

Compensation

HABA

2011 2010
e i

—E-TF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T AREFIT

160,997 -
2,474
794
5,045

Government grants TR #8 Bh

Forfeited deposits from customers RERFPHEKEN S
Others Hith

Total &t

169,310

Pursuant to the announcement of the Company dated 18 July
2011, the Group subsequently received a compensation amounting
to RMB161 million from a third party company, as a result of
unilaterally terminated a share purchase agreement entered into
with the Group in April 2011.

9. OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

Donations B

ERIRA

Penalty costs

BEAATANR - ——F+ A+ /\ B T3
WA AREETERKEZTE——FN
REAEETIHNBRNDEERZ  A5H
HigEE =7 r#EARE161,000,000

o

o

H K&

2011 2010
—®--%  -T-%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMTFT  ARKTR

5,478
22,086
153
81,146
509

Loss of fixed assets EEERE
Impairment loss WEEE
Others HAth

Total =

109,372

As of 31 December 2011, the Group assessed the recoverable
amounts of its properties. As a result, the carrying amounts
of certain properties under development were written down
by RMB37,912,000 (note 23) and the carrying amounts of
certain completed properties held for sale were written down
by RMB43,234,000 (note 24). The estimates of recoverable
amount were based on the properties’ fair values less costs to sell,
determined by reference to the recent observable market prices for
similar assets.

MN-_ZT——F+-_F=+—08  KEHF
HEMENAIRE S - AmMEE T8
REHRMENREEARE37,912,0007T (M
23 RMUBRE TEERSFEMENER
BARM43,234,0007T (HizE24) » AJUR[E]
SRMFIRBYEND R BERIEEK
K WBRERBEAERPHAERTISE
IEMEEE
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10. PERSONNEL EXPENSES 10. ETRAX

2011 2010
—g—-%  -FT-%F

RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR AREFT
TARFE 179,607 126,952

Wages and salaries

Contributions to defined contribution plans [\ 5 7 £ 5k 5+ 2 it 3% 21,706 15,287
Staff welfare, bonuses and EERF - TE4T R EH AL ERL

other allowances 25,527 10,966
Equity-settled share-based payment RIEEE RN AR
expenses (note 39(i)) (MF5E39()) 1,126 3,899

Total A&t 227,966 157,104
11. EXPENSES BY NATURE . BZUEEEHTNEH
The following expenses are included in cost of sales, selling and FEASERAR  IHE RIS HEREK AT
marketing costs and administrative expenses: HHAZHRAZET

2011 2010

S e
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRE  ARETZ

B HEWERAE 3,215,888 2,899,867

Cost of properties sold

Auditors’ remuneration Z AN B &
— audit services — BAZRTE 3,810 3,000
— audit-related services — FEERIRTS 1,100 650
Depreciation WE 61,848 26,213
Amortisation of land use rights b P A 5 1,879 1,739

Operating lease charges KEHELTH 15,572 8,768
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12. FINANCE INCOME AND EXPENSES

Interest income on bank deposits RITIFHFBBA

12. BERARRA

2011
—g——%

2010
—E-TF

RMB’000
AREFIT

RMB’000
ARBT R

38,937

Interest income on long-term receivable HOBERAGTENRAIE

measured at amortised cost WK A S A
Finance income & WA 107,851
Interest expenses on bank loans and RIOTERRBERENEER

senior notes
Interest expenses on other financial
liabilities measured at amortised cost HFE & A

Less: interest capitalised (note 23)

HEEERATENEGSRARE

B BAERFS (FRE23)

(633,379) (354,508)

= (13,857)
494,398 261,454

Net interest expenses MEERFHE
Interest expenses on long-term payable

measured at amortised cost BT S &R
Net change in fair value of

other investments

REHEERATENRBENR

(138,981) (106,911)

(3.259) (3,436)

(207)
74,964

(2,287)
50,652

Net foreign exchange gain b 5 Uz 58
Finance expenses AE KR

TEEBMTANAABEED

Fair value changes on financial derivatives

(note 36, 37) (Mt3E36 ~ 37)

(67.483) (61,982)

(25,209)

BE(KA) RAFE

Net finance (expenses)/income

(53,755)
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13. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 13. FRIEHFAX
(i) Income tax in the consolidated statement of (i) ZKEZEANBERANAEERN

comprehensive income represents:

Current tax BV HA i 18

Provision for PRC enterprise income  #r B {d TS i B AR FE

tax for the year (note 32(i)) Faa (FEE32(0)

Provision for PRC land appreciation — F Bl £ 3 38 (& 75 13 5 AR 4F &

tax for the year Ti1E

X

2011 2010
—E——F —ET-TF

RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T ARBFT

394,778 299,260

124,082 104,880

Deferred tax BB E

Origination and reversal of temporary k¥ 2= 8 #) 2 4 N 0l
differences (note 32(ii)&iii)) (B =32 B i)

Benefit of tax losses recognised BRERHERBETE
(note 32(ii)) (B 3E32(i))

Realisation of withholding tax SIRFEH (P EE32(iii))
(note 32(iii))

Deferred PRC land appreciation tax ~ ¥EFE A1 B + 3t 32 (B i

518,860 404,140

(128,306) (23,382)

(8,731) (2,197)

- (18,400)
104,808 258,117

(32,229) 214,138

P15 750 5 S 48R

Total income tax expense

486,631 618,278

Enterprise income tax

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made as the
Group did not earn any income subject to Hong Kong Profits
Tax during the year ended 31 December 2011.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands
and the British Virgin Islands, the Group is not subject to
any income tax in the Cayman Islands and the British Virgin
Islands.

Pursuant to the Corporate Income Tax Law (“New Tax Law")
of the PRC passed by the Fifth Plenary Session of the Tenth
National People’s Congress on 16 March 2007 and effective
from 1 January 2008, the Group’s main project companies
were subject to PRC income tax at arate of 25% (2010:
25%).

RSB
HRAEERBEZE-_Z—F+=A
=+ — B 1L FE 3 B REE R A
BENEHOWA - R EELFE
TSR -

REFASHEMABRZEHENMRA
KRG - REBBAYMERFSE
ENEBRELBSEH -

BER-_ZTTLF=A+AE+E
2EARREASERANGHBAT
RZTENF—A—HABRERHHR
#EARAMBSEMSBE( IR
E]) o AEEMEBIHEA ARER
25% B RHMFRBEDCERER(=
T—FF :25%) °
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13. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

(i)

Income tax in the consolidated statement
of comprehenswe income represents:
(Continued)

Withholding tax

Pursuant to the New Tax Law, a 10% withholding tax was
levied on dividends declared to foreign enterprise investors
from the PRC effective from 1 January 2008. A lower
withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty
arrangement between the PRC and the jurisdiction of the
foreign enterprise investors. On 22 February 2008, Caishui
(2008) No. 1 was promulgated by the PRC tax authorities
to specify that dividends declared and remitted out of
the PRC from the retained earnings as at 31 December
2007 determined based on the relevant PRC tax laws and
regulations are exempted from the withholding tax. As at 31
December 2011, nil withholding tax (2010: RMB16,135,000)
have been recognised in respect of the tax that would be
payable on the distribution of the retained profits of the
Group's PRC subsidiaries. No deferred withholding taxes has
been recognised, as the Company controls the dividend policy
of these subsidiaries and it has been determined that it is
probable that certain of the profits earned by the Group’s PRC
subsidiaries for the year ended 31 December 2011 will not be
distributed in the foreseeable future.

Land appreciation tax

PRC land appreciation tax is levied on properties developed
for sale by the Group at progressive rates ranging from 30%
to 60% on the appreciation of land value, which under the
applicable regulations is calculated based on the proceeds
of sales of properties less deductible expenditures including
lease charges of land use rights, borrowing costs and all
property development expenditures. Land appreciation tax of
RMB228,890,000 has been included in profit or loss for the
year ended 31 December 2011 (2010: RMB362,997,000).

13. Fif%

(i)

BiF > (&)
REEEAERAMNFEHA
X (&)

Lk
BEFBE AN ERCEREES
2R B B AR B 10% FBHIEL -
BT N\F—A—BREH - fWF
HEIINECEREEMBaEERZ
MEAMBEE LA IRRIETEN
REHH - RZFENF_A=Z+=
H - B 7% 4 B 28 4 B 15 (2008) 1
BHEEZEEEF+ZRA=1—
H 8RB F 5 R & fE A B 5 S 2
i SARIEAR B P B R S A R AR A
ERERREND - R_T——F
FTZA=+—A AEETERAE
B B 72 R H R B i F) ) R S5 18 B
XM ERRTAENE (=
T AR¥16,135,00050) - R
RATHESIZEFARIMRSBUR -
MEBEETKAIRER A R 2R ARG
REBFEFRARRBEZS——F
+:HE+—H¢¢F%WM%$m
FETHIRE - B RIEETEH
i o

+ i IR ER
REBHEMBEROYMERIR T ME
{EHE 18 LA30% £ 60% K R HE T R B
AR E IR ER - IRBE RO
T IR E R Ty iR B E W E PSRRI
AHRAS (BE T E AR ES
o EERARBEYERERASL)
HE HE_Z——FTZA=+—
BIEFEFTABREF N MIBET A
AR#228,890,0007T( =T —F4F ¢
AR#362,997,0007T) °
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13. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Income tax in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income represents:
(Continued)

Land appreciation tax (Continued)

The subsidiaries of the Group engaging in property
development businessin the PRC are subject to land
appreciation taxes, which have been included in the income
tax. However, the implementation of these taxes varies

0]

amongst various provinces and the Group has not finalised
its land appreciation tax returns with various tax authorities.
Accordingly, significant judgement is required in determining
the amount of land appreciation and its related taxes. The
ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary
course of business. The Group recognises these liabilities
based on management’s best estimates. Where the final
tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts
initially recorded, such differences will impact the profit or
loss and provisions of land appreciation taxes in the period in
which such determination is made.

Reconciliation between tax expense and
accounting profit at applicable tax rate:

(ii)

Profit before income tax
Less: PRC land appreciation tax

B FT1S BLAT & F
B B IR AT

BASER TS ARERREFE
BB

Tax calculated at the rates applicable
to respective companies that
comprise the Group

Tax effect of share of results of
associates and jointly controlled
entity

Non-deductible expenses, net of

FEIEHE R R R AREHIEEES
RIS R &

RATHR S 1 (B B AR

non-taxable income I A)
Unused tax losses not recognised AIERHAE BFIEEE
Over-provision in prior years BEFEBRERE

B R (A A (B RE32(3)
BB

PRC land appreciation tax (note 32(i))
Withholding tax

13. FiSHiBA (&

REEREABERANTEHRA
X (#F)

T IREBL ()
AEEGETEEEMEEREHNT
ARG ABMTIEER - HEA
FTSHE - AT > EARED » ZEH
HENBEREEEZR  BAKEREAKR
N RIF 75 4 A e 45 i E L L IR (AT
R - Bt EEE L IRERE
HEREN SR AEL EXHE -
REBEBERTRKETNRER
THEEN - ARBRRELENRE
EFHERZEAE - HREEENR
RRBEERMLHENEETR - BlZ
EZHBETEFELBRRERMRE
BN IRETEYE

FrEBimXMEsZFiRER
BiRITEHHAR

2011
—g——%

2010
—EFF

RMB'000
ARBTT

1,519,884
(362,997)

RMB’000
AR®TT

1,369,951
(228,890)

1,141,061 1,156,887

221,882 219,145

148

2,644
33,195
(128)

257,741 239,146

228,890

486,631 618,278
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13. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued) 13. FIEHAX(E)

(ii) Reconciliation between tax expense and (i) FAIERHEIMETTERIRER
accounting profit at applicable tax rate: HERITENYE : (&)
(Continued)

Profit before income tax of the Group for the year ended 31 REBRBEE-_Z——%F+ A
December 2011 was mainly generated by Shanghai Oriental =T —RIEFEZBRASHANRT X
and Kunming SPG Land, which are subject to PRC income tax ERALERTEBLERRSE
at 25%. o WEHL25% 2 RGBS

Bt e
In accordance with the accounting policy set out in note 3(v), REMFEIVATE NS TEE » B8R
the Group has not recognised deferred tax assets in respect of A F AT RAO e EA @R TR
cumulative tax losses of certain subsidiaries for the year ended FER R E SR EE R R EER R 5 A LA
31 December 2011 as it is not probable that future taxable HEABAMNER  HAEEEEHZE -
profits against which the losses can be utilised will be available EZ——F+_A=1+—BIEFEXRHR
in the relevant tax jurisdiction and entity. 2 HEEERARLEHRIBEE -
14. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 14. EEME

Basic
salaries,  Contributions
allowances  to retirement
and other benefit Share-based
benefits schemes payment

9%

2ER mRKER
e HitFles SR 4 BB %A &
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥ETR AE¥TR ARETR ARETR AR¥ETR AERETR
(note 38) (note 39)
(KizE3s) (H&E39)

For the year ended
31 December 2011 =t

Executive Directors HiEs

Mr. Wang Weixian TRERE
Ms.Wang Xuling (notei) ~ FHIZEL+ (M)
Mr. Cheung Man Hoi, Ronny 33046 (I 25l

(noteiii)

Non-Executive Directors ~ 3F#i{TE%F
Mr. Tse Sai Tung, Stones (note ) /1t & 46 4 (Hi i)
Mr. Lai Kin, Jerome (notelv)  ZREE4E 4 (Fifitiv)

Independent Non-Executive BuH7ES
Directors

Mr. Cheong Ying Chew, Henry REE 54

Mr. Fong Wo, Felx, JP FARERTHL

Mr. Jiang Simon X. BA%E

Mr. Kwan Kai Cheong BRERE

Total At
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14. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (Continued)

14. EEME(E)

Basic
salaries,  Contributions
allowances  toretirement
and other benefit Share-based
benefits schemes payment
454
2B R R RER]
e e FERS el R Rt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARBETT ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT ARETT
(note 38) (note 39)
(3E38) (M#39)
For the year ended BZ-2-3f%
31 December 2010 +ZA=t+-BLEE
Executive Directors HiTESE
Mr. Wang Weixian TRERE - 5322 - - - 5322
Mr. Tse Sai Tung, Stones WHRLE - 4633 - 6,231 - 10,864
Ms. Wang Xuling Tzt - 3,900 - 4451 - 8,351
Non-Executive Directors ~ 3k#/7ES
Mr. Lai Kin, Jerome B 566 - _ _ _ 566
Independent Non-Executive BIFHTEE
Directors
Mr. Cheong Ying Chew, Henry 3R #15 4 260 - - - - 260
Mr. Fong Wo, Felix, JP FREERTHL 260 - - - - 260
Mr. Jiang Simon X. BINBEE 260 _ _ _ _ 260
Mr. Kwan Kai Cheong BREEE 260 - - - - 260
Total A% 1,606 13,855 - 10,682 - 26,143
(i) Mr. Tse Sai Tung, Stones resigned as chief executive officer of () HttREEEZT——FOA—BE

BEARRITHARSR YB —F——
FOR—HEBAERARARIFNITAE
HE

the Company and was re-designated as a non-executive vice
chairman of the Company with effect from 1 April 2011.

HTEEEFRELTE T —F0
A—BREZEIR/ARAITHAE -
IARBBHER AL -

(i) Ms. Wang Xuling, an executive director, was appointed as the (i)
chief executive officer of the Company in place of Mr. Tse Sai
Tung, Stones with effect from 1 April 2011.

RXogEER —E——FMNA B
BZERARBNTES -

(i) Mr. Cheung Man Hoi, Ronny was appointed as an executive (i)
director of the Company with effect from 1 April 2011.

R ANTHE-_T——%F+_A
—tHERERETESSIFNITE
F g2 —F—HB—HEEK-

(iv)  Mr. Lai Kin, Jerome retired from the Board as a non-executive (iv)
director with effect from 1 January 2012 upon the expiry of
his term of appointment on 31 December 2011.
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15. SENIOR MANAGEMENT REMUNERATION 15. SR EEEM S
The five highest paid individuals of the Group during the year ended RERHE—"ZET—F+_A=+—H1
31 December 2011 comprise four directors of the Company, whose FEHNOLELESHFMATBEARRNE
remuneration is disclosed in note 14. Details of remuneration paid to EE HMESERAWT14HE - MAEH
the remaining highest paid individuals of the Group are as follows: E#MBESHEMA LTSNS EmT -
2011 2010
—E2——F —T—FF
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
AR¥T ARBT T
Basic salary, allowances and other benefits  FEA#F & « 0L M E ATz 1,698
The emoluments of the one (2010: two) individuals with the highest —Z(ZE—ZF MB)ZoFMALH
emoluments are within the following bands: & FIA T EE -

2011 2010
S

Number of Number of
individuals individuals

BT

Hong Kong Dollar

2,000,001-2,500,000 2,000,001-2,500,000
2,500,001-3,000,000 2,500,001-3,000,000
During 2011, no emoluments were paid by the Group to the I —FEASEVEREFTINEM
directors as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as B tER A A MDA R 52 B I 2 52 E) ok
compensation for loss of office. VERRERE -
16. DIVIDENDS 16. K&

2011 2010

S i
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMTRL  ARETR

FAEERMEN ZBEMRFE

Final dividends in respect of previous

financial year, declared and paid FEIPR B.(3i)

during the year (i) 56,402
Final dividends proposed after the BAEABRBBEIRKE

balance sheet date (ii) % 2.(ii) 68,390
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16. DIVIDENDS (Continued)

U]

(ii)

In the meeting held on 7 March 2011, the Board of Directors
proposed cash dividends of RMB6.5 cents per ordinary share
for the year ended 31 December 2010, which was approved
at the Annual General Meeting held on 2 June 2011. The cash
dividends were paid on 9 June 2011.

The Board of Directors has resolved not to propose dividends
in respect of the year ended 31 December 2011.

17. EARNINGS PER SHARE

(a)

(b)

Basic earnings per share

The calculation of basic earnings per share for the year ended
31 December 2011 was based on the profit attributable to
equity holders of the Company of RMB898,320,000 (2010:
RMB890,206,000) and the weighted average number of
ordinary shares of 1,051,128,275(2010: 1,051,128,275) in
issue during the year, calculated as follows:

Weighted average number of ordinary shares

16. RS
(i

(if)

(&)
RE-ZF-——F=ZALBHRTNE
# EFSRARNBE_Z-TF
TZA=+T—HBLEFENRERE
FhEBRAR®BESD  ER-F
——HFRAZHBTHRRAEF RS
HEHE - BEWRER T ——F KA
NEDIK

ESEREATRARBE-F——
F+= A=+ ALERRMEAR

B o
o

17. BRER

(a)

BREXREF

HE-_Z——F+-_A=+—HLHF
EFRERENTIIRA R A B AEF
B A EAE T A R #898,320,0007T
(ZZ—Z 4 : AR¥890,206,000
T RFERB BT RRZ NETH

811,051,128275 R (=T —Z4F -
1,051,128,275/%)st& - st&EWT ¢

EERNEFIIH

Ordinary shares issued at 1 January
Effect of bonus issue

R—A—BNE#ITEER
ARETHREE

1,025,491,000
25,637,275

Weighted average number of

198K

ordinary shares at 31 December

BT ZA=+—HHNEBER

1,051,128,275

Diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding
based on the assumption that all dilutive potential ordinary
shares are converted.

(b)

BREERR
AEEBREERANEERMABETS
BEBRCERNRRMARS HT
ERElECopL: R ak
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17. EARNINGS PER SHARE (Continued)
(b) Diluted earnings per share (Continued)

The calculation of diluted earnings per share for the year
ended 31 December 2011 was based on the profit attributable
to equity holders of the Company of RMB898,320,000 (2010:
RMB907,563,000) and the weighted average number of
ordinary shares outstanding after adjustment for the effect of
all dilutive potential ordinary shares of 1,051,128,275 (2010:
1,102,422,896) calculated as follows:

(i) Weighted average number of ordinary shares
(diluted)

Weighted average number of AR N I B (EAK)

ordinary shares (basic)
Effect of share options in issue
Effect of conversion of

convertible bonds

BRTREREZVE
R EBBmESZEE

17. BRER (E)
(b) ERBERR(E)

HEZZ——F+ZA=1+—HLF
EGREERFTIIRA RN R RER
B AFEGEFIA R 898,320,000
(ZZ—2ZF : AR¥907,563,000
T RRFAERGERROMAETYE
BB REEBRTERAROMETS
21,051,128275 R (= — = F :
1,102,422,896% )5t & - st & T ¢

(i) HERMETHE(EE)

2011

g%

1,051,128,275 1,051,128,275
- 227,244

51,067,377

Weighted average number of
ordinary shares (diluted) at
31 December

T ()

Rt -A=+—B0NZERmE

1,051,128,275 1,102,422,896

The Company has no share options and convertible
bonds outstanding as at 31 December 2011.

(ii) Profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of
the Company (diluted)

BRI ES A ARMESEF

Profit attributable to ordinary
equity holders (basic) (EX)

Effect of effective intereston the  AJEEM(EAH B EIH BE
liability component of convertible 7| B #) 57 £
bonds

Effect of gain recognised on PEE IR ES TR
repurchase of convertible bonds Iz z5H) /2

Effect of loss recognised on A IR EHITER D FT
the derivative component of REENTE

convertible bonds

R+ A=+—
B - AR A SEAE R AT
FBB IR RS -

(i) FALAEBRBREZTEARMNG
R (HE)

2011 2010
—E——F

—ET-TF
RMB’000
AREFIT

RMB’000
ARMT T

898,320 890,206

13,857

(17,248)

20,748

Profit attributable to ordinary equity & i@ A% A% #E35 B A FE1H )% A
holders (diluted) (#58)

898,320 907,563
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18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

1BUMER -HERRE

Fixtures,
Leasehold Motor fittings &  Hotel under
In RMB’000 Buildings improvements vehicles  equipment construction
£E.
HE HRER B
ARB TR ¥ MEEE RE RHE B IE
Cost: B
Balance at 1 January 2010 —E-ZE-8-AH
i & e 238,843 31,250 29,222 63,969 - 363,284
Acquisitions BE 2,899 1,223 5,656 22,010 - 31,788
Transfer from properties under ¢ % & 1 ¥ % & &
development (note 23) (P 5 23) 152,318 - 314 4,801 511,830 669,263
Disposals [ - (230) (1,835) (6,810) - (8,875)
Balance at 31 December2010 —ZE—-FF+ = f
ST-ANE G 394,060 32,243 33,357 83,970 511,830 1,055,460
Acquisitions BE 3,564 - 10,327 17,937 5,845 37,673
Transfer from propertiesunder % E R M ¥ K
developmentand completed B B E Y ¥
properties held for sale oA (523 24)
(note 23, 24) 44,760 - 1,178 73,735 - 119,673
Transfer from investment REEameaEi
Properties (note 22) (M 55 22) 5,865 - - - - 5,865
Transfer from construction ftrEeIRER
in progress 384,067 - - 133,608 (517,675) -
Disposals e - - (6,293) (590) - (6,883)
Balance at 31 December2011 —Z£— -+ =1
=+-HNER 832,316 32,243 38,569 308,660 - 1,211,788
Depreciation: E:
Balance at 1 January 2010 —E-Z¥-A-H
&t 49,916 23,188 19,793 34,243 - 127,140
Charge for the year FAME 14,054 957 3,321 7,881 - 26,213
Disposals Bi% - (157) (206) (1,598) - (1,961)
Balance at 31 December2010 —Z£-—-E &+ - A
Zt-HNER 63,970 23,988 22,908 40,526 - 151,392
Charge for the year FRME 29,492 1,649 4,258 26,449 - 61,848
Disposals HiE - - (5,503) (422) - (5,925)
Balance at 31 December2011 —ZE— -+ =8
St+-BH&ER 93,462 25,637 21,663 66,553 - 207,315
Carrying amounts: EHE
At 31 December 2011 R=-Z--%+=A
=t+-8 738,854 6,606 16,906 242,107 - 1,004,473
At 31 December 2010 R-Z-Z%+-AH
=+-H 330,090 8,255 10,449 43,444 511,830 904,068
() Allbuildings owned by the Group are located in the PRC. iy AEE#HEBEMNMEEFHELRL
-
(i) Asat 31 December 2011, buildings with a total carrying value i) RZE——F+-_A=+—8"
of RMB592,798,000 (2010: RMB563,497,000) were pledged AEBDEFRFEEDREARE
as collateral for the Group'’s borrowings. 592,798,000t ( = & — F F: A
R #563,497,0007T ) 09 1 F 1 &
REEBEMNEARAR-
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19. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Contractor qualification

Cost:
Balance at 1 January
Acquisitions

19.

BAS
w—HA—B&&H
Y &

BREE
AEBHEK

RMB’000
AR®BTR

RMB’000
AR®T T

1,700

Balance at 31 December

Amortisation:
Balance at 1 January
Amortisation charge for the year

5
W—HA— B8
FREHEMAX

Balance at 31 December

RTZA=1+—BW&ER

Carrying amounts:
Balance at 31 December

AR -
R+ A=+—HBHH&ER

20. LAND USE RIGHTS

Cost:

Balance at 1 January

Transfer (to)/from properties under
development (note 23)

20.

A
R—A—B8N&E&
BREZE),/BERTYE
(M 3£ 23)

T i fF R

2011

o
RMB’000
LRS-

RMB’000

92,484

(1,219)

Balance at 31 December

R+t A=+—BHH&ER

91,265

Amortisation:
Balance at 1 January
Amortisation charge for the year

Transfer to properties under development

(note 23)

# 8

R—A—B0&E&

FRE A

HBEZHETRYE
(Fff 5£23)

10,752
1,879

(65)

Balance at 31 December

R+t A=+—BHH&ER

12,566

Carrying amounts:
Balance at 31 December

REE:
R+ A=+ —BWN&E&

Land use rights represent lease prepayments for acquiring rights to

use land, which is all located in the PRC, for own use properties.

THEAREEREE2SACRTED
THERABMNOEERNKE 2%
THRAEERDE-
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21. OTHER INVESTMENTS 21. HM K&

2010
—E—Z2F

RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT R ARBT T

AHEERAESH 14,032

Equity securities available-for-sale

Equity securities held for trading BERXS B MR AKE?2 5,824

Other available-for-sale investment Ht At €% & 5,000

Current investments BN HR % & 10,824
As at 31 December 2011, equity securities available-for-sale R—_ZE—-——F+=A=Z+—8"
represents the Group's 2.81% equity investment in XDM Resources A SRR E S AR K E RXDM
Inc, which is incorporated in Canada and is engaged in minerals Resources INcHI2.81% % # % & » &% &
exploration and development, and 10% equity interest of Shanghai ARNMEREMR I TR EREDF
Putaihui Commercial Co., Ltd. & % B’ 2 7% - LA & B Shanghai Putaihui

Commercial Co., Ltd. #) 10% A% #£ °

As at 31 December 2011, equity securities held for trading mainly RZE——F+_A=+—H B
represent the investment in stock for trading purposes, which are RPENBOBRAFFETER LBER
listed on the stock exchanges of Shanghai and Shenzhen. ANEBEBHRGAEMRERE  AE
R RA®E-
22. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 22. REWE

RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT R ARBT T

FERRESREKNE

Completed investment properties

held to earn rentals or for capital BXEANEMERZ

appreciation or both WEREKIEEDZE (a) 1,573,000 1,223,000
Investment properties under EHPRBERAOEE

construction or development L7/ (b) 78,000 725,000

Balance at 31 December RT+_A=+—HBHW&EH 1,651,000 1,948,000
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22. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)
(a) Completed investment properties held to
earn rentals or for capital appreciation or

both

Balance at 1 January

Additions

Transfer (to)/from completed
properties held for sale (note 24)

Transfer from investment properties

under construction or development (b)

Transfer to property, plant and
equipment (note 18)

Fair value adjustments:

Recognised in profit or loss

REWEE)
() FEMMBEETREAREE
FEULEMERENE &

22.

RMB'000
AR®T R

RMB’000
ARBETT

R—A—-—B®#e 1,223,000 1,138,500
30 - 1,374
BREZ)/BEBRRAEEDE

(Fff 3% 24) (384,783) 1,476
BERAHEBERAEEFRD

& & ¥ % (b) 728,827 68,000
EREWE BERR

(B 52 18) (5,865)
AR EBEHE:
LB m R 11,821

Balance at 31 December

R+ _A=+—HW&E® 1,573,000 1,223,000

(b)

development

Balance at 1 January
Additions
Transfer to investment properties (a)

Fair value adjustments:
Recognised in profit or loss

Investment properties under construction or

(b) BEPRBRERINRENE

RMB’000
AR®BTR

RMB’000
ARBT T

Balance at 31 December

R—A—BH&Es 725,000 502,000
32N 122,492 75,447
HEBEEREYEQ) (728,827) (68,000)
NAEEAE:

EEZER (40,665) 215,553
R+ A=+—BWN&E& 78,000 725,000
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22. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

(b)

Investment properties under construction or
development (Continued)

All the Group'sinvestment properties are stated at fair
value at 31 December 2011. The fair values were arrived at
based on valuations carried out by DTZ Debenham Tie Leung
Limited. The valuations, which conform to the Valuation
Standards (First Edition 2005) on Valuation of Properties
published by the Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors, have been
determined by reference to comparable sales evidence and,
where appropriate, by capitalisation of net rental income. The
revaluation losses/gains have been debited/credited to profit
or loss of the respective year, or, in the case of revaluation
gains arising on transfer of an item of property, plant and
equipment to investment properties following a change in
use, to equity directly.

As at 31 December 2011, investment properties with
a total carrying value of RMB745,545,000 (2010:
RMB1,160,654,000) were pledged as collateral for the
Group's borrowings.

23. PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT

Properties under development expected to 78 8§ #% A

VAT HA 2 A EY

22. REWE(E)
(b) BERhRBREINREYE

(&)
AEBEBRAEREDER -F
——F T A=t -HBHUAR
AREEAR - 2ABEIRER
BRRTEARRARETHR/EM
BE ZEHEREFENEM
BeRMMMEGMERE(CT
THEE-RET L2E
REEERR(MERBBEHE
SUWAFBEEACMEE -
BR/AASEMRAEGFAZTE
MBS HEDX BERKMH
FEEREREREBRERE
MEMELEMG WS MEEG
ARE

RZF-——F+ZA=+—8"
AEEBEKEBEBRLREARE
745,545,000 (= & — T F: A
R #1,160,654,0007T ) M) & & ¥
XERERTEEBENER® -

23. B R AP Y E

2011
o

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® TR ARBTR

4,452,903 4,921,467

be completed: BRERBYE:
— within twelve months —T+TZ@ AR
— beyond twelve months —+TZE A%

6,618,792 3,600,904
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23. PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT 23. HE Y E(E
(Continued)

2011
o

RMB’000
AR®T R

Balance at 1 January R—A—BH&&#% 8,522,371
Cost capitalised KRN E AR AL 6,607,983
Transfer from/(to) land use rights (note 20) & # & /(%) + #h {5 FA &

(Fft 5 20) 1,154
Transfer to property, plant and equipment #EE =¥ % - WE & &
(note 18) (Bt 3£ 18) (107,367)
Transfer to completed properties held EREOEREEDE
for sale (note 24) (Pt 52 24) (3,914,534)
11,109,607
Less: impairment loss (note 9) R (B B 1B (T 3 9) (37,912)
Balance at 31 December R+t -_BA=+—BW&E&% 11,071,695

Interest capitalisation included in the above: B &t A £ it 18 B A9 % & K {t

MR
Balance at 1 January R—A—BRN&E# 328,075
Cost capitalised (note 12) AR & AR AL (B 312) 494,398
Transfer to investment properties WEBEKEYE =
Transfer to property, plantand equipment #EE =W % HME R &R E (5.431)
Transfer to completed properties held HEBEOENGTEWE
for sale (149,790)

RMB’000
ARBTT

7,199,309
4,955,101

(9,279)

(669,263)

(2,953,497)

8,522,371

8,522,371

206,926
261,454

(3,353)
(28,272)

(108,680)

Balance at 31 December R+ _A=+—BW&E& m 328,075

The properties under development are located in the PRC. BRAMWEHCRPE-
The weighted average capitalisation rate of borrowings is 9.40% for Hz-_Z—-——+-_A=+—H L
the year ended 31 December 2011 (2010: 6.24%). FE BENNEFEFHELRNLLRN XA

9.40% (—Z T — T 4F :6.24%) °

As at 31 December 2011, properties under development of RZE——F+ZA=+—HB &%
approximately RMB6,450,244,000 (2010: RMB6,370,161,000) B R EELD AR K6,450,244,000
were pledged as collateral for the Group's borrowings. T(ZZE—FF: AR %6,370,161,000

TN BERTVEERAASTERBED

A
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24. COMPLETED PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE

2 EEREEWE

2011 2010
e

—E-—FF
RMB’000
ARET T

RMB’000
ARBT R

Balance at 1 January R—A—B8&E#®% 505,220 235,635
Transfer from properties under HEEaBERDYEMTE23)

development (note 23) 3,914,534 2,953,497
Transfer to cost of sales [ = N (3,215,888) (2,682,436)
Transfer from/(to) investment properties wEE(B2)REDE

(note 22) (Bt 5% 22) 384,783 (1,476)
Transfer to property, plant and equipment & =¥ % « [ 5 & & &

(note 18) (M 3E18) (12,306)

Less: impairment loss (note 9)

R B & 1R (P 3E9)

1,576,343 505,220

(43,234)

Balance at 31 December

R+ZA=+—B&O&ER

1,533,109

505,220

All completed properties held for sale are located in the PRC.
As at 31 December 2011, there was RMB487,018,000 (2010:

RMB13,150,000) completed properties held for sale pledged as
collateral for the Group’s borrowings.

25. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

LERBEEKE
Management Co., Ltd. B R A T
The Peninsula Shanghai Waitan Hotel = 4 # - & & /&

BERRA

Shanghai ZhongXin Asset

Company Limited
Shanghai Zhaozhi Shiye Co., Ltd.

LEREBEEXEER QT

PRBEERKFENEAMNFE-

NR—_E——FE+_A=+—H &
BB EHFEEARKAL87,018,000m(=
T —ZTF: AR#13,150,00070) K E
ERAFEEDEERAERBEENK
e

RMB'000
ARBT T

(a) 112,975 110,144

(b) 1,078,086
(0) 3,547

1,149,466
3,637

1,194,608 1,263,247
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25. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)
Shanghai ZhongXin Asset Management Co.,
Ltd. (“Shanghai ZhongXin")

(a)

(b)

Cost of investment % & KR
Goodwill on acquisition hEEENEE
Share of post-acquisition profit ok IR R 18 s B
Loan B

5. BMERANTERE

(a)

I BRBEELERERD
A(EERE]D

RMB'000
AR®TR

26,933

2,794
62,248
21,000

RMB’000
AR®T T

112,975 110,144

The loan to Shanghai ZhongXin of RMB21,000,000 (2010:
RMB21,000,000) represents the Group's proportional share
of a shareholders’ loan, which is unsecured, interest free and
has no fixed terms of repayment.

The Peninsula Shanghai Waitan Hotel
Company Limited (“Peninsula Waitan")

BERAK
7o 15 W RE 18 0 A

Cost of investment
Share of post-acquisition profit

(b)

MEEBRERENERARY
21,000,000 c(ZF —ZTF: AR
#21,000,0007T) - BD 7K & & fr (4
BREERILD REEF 28
RmETEERE-

LtBNEFXEBERERA
Al Ex 5]

RMB’000
AR®T R

880,678
197,408

RMB'000
ARBETT

880,678
268,788

1,078,086 1,149,466

Peninsula Waitan is 50% owned by the Group, and is
engaged in development, operation and management of The
Peninsula Shanghai Waitan Hotel.

The share of post-acquisition profit of Peninsula Waitan for
the year ended 31 December 2011 was mainly attributable
to the revaluation gain on Peninsula Waitan's investment
properties.

SMEEF B AR B EA50% A
FTHERE KL REE LB
B EHIE -

BE-T——S+-A=+-
B UL 5 45 50 K B O
EFEERANBLEBRE D
00 B 5 3 -



190 SPG Land (Holdings) Limited Annual Report 2011

S

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A O BB R A% B ek

25. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)
(c) Shanghai Zhaozhi Shiye Co., Ltd. (“Shanghai
Zhaozhi")

BRERA

Cost of investment
Share of post-acquisition (loss)/profit

25. & N T REE(E)
(0 LesmEgEsRAACL
EHEHED

RMB’000
ARBT R

3,633

RMB’000
ARBT T

216 W EE & (& 18), i 7 (86)

3,547

Shanghai Zhaozhiis 36.33% owned by the Group, and is
engaged in development of commercial properties.

(d) Summary of financial information relating
to the associates, not adjusted for the
percentage of ownership held by the Group,
is as follows:

31 December 2011
In RMB'000 Assets

AR®TR EE

748,055
5,377,692

Shanghai ZhongXin
HNEE B
LBHE

Peninsula Waitan
Shanghai Zhaozhi

82,434

31 December 2010

In RMB'000
ARBFT
Shanghai ZhongXin £ /8 % & 752,487
Peninsula Waitan ~ 4h# ¥ & 5,251,845
Shanghai Zzhaozhi /& ¥ % 37,851

LtHBME B AEEEE3633%
Pt WHEEHEMERBEE -

d FXFREIHNBE QAN
HBEERBEERRBRELR
EEELCERZBE L MHA
B o
—E-—%+Z-ZHA=+-—H

Shareholders’

Other
liabilities

loans and
equity Revenue Profit/(loss)
(e Vs
EX ks = (& #8)
376,583 23,269 9,436
2,184,030 377,706 (143,586)
9,764 - (247)

HittBfE

371,472
3,193,662
72,670

—E-ZHF+=-A=+-—H

Shareholders’

Other loans and
liabilities equity Revenue
REREHRK
HipafE i
385,340 367,147 43,736 20,486
2,924,229 2,327,616 332,887 550,235
27,840 10,011 - "
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26. INTERESTS IN A JOINTLY CONTROLLED 26. P HIERBES
ENTITY

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR FTx AR T
KR F £ 735,135 738,468

Tianyuan Lifeng

Cost of investment & & K AR 758,476 758,476
Share of post-acquisition losses G U 18 B 1B (23,341) (20,008)

735,135 738,468

Tianyuan Lifeng is 50.1% owned by the Group, and is mainly AKEMNZHANEBHEB501% B
engaged in property development in Haikou, Hainan Province, the N MEASOTMHEDEERERE-
PRC.

Summary of financial information relating to the jointly controlled TXHENWHNHERIZHELZD B
entity, not adjusted for the percentage of ownership held by the EBRIBMENABERNE B E(§ RS
Group, is as follows: ERasaik k=%

31 December 2011 —E-—H%+4+=-H=+—AH

Current Non-current Current Non-current

In RMB'000 assets assets liabilities liabilities Income Expense

il il

AR® TR RBEE BE RBAR & A B X
Tianyuan Lifeng 24,443 2,844,167 157,419 1,243,838 44 6,697

31 December 2010 —_E-ZFEH5+-A=+—H

Current Non-current Current Non-current
In RMB'000 assets assets liabilities liabilities Income Expense

FRE R
ARETTT BB E BE RPHEE BfE L'@N 3

Tianyuan Lifeng RNIRNE 153,469 2,714,698 125928 1,268,233 64 40,000
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27.

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES AND 27. FREIRZEHE®REW
CONTROLLED SPECIAL PURPOSE ENTITIES ERRE
(@) Investments in subsidiaries (a) T2rAIKRE

Company
XA F

—_E =
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR Tt AR T T

Unlisted shares, at cost JEETMHRH T A 4,080,695 3,914,405
Cumulative fair value of BTFRARIEEBNERE
share options granted to MEBEQAAEE
employees of subsidiaries 20,687
4,101,382 3,935,092
The Company’s major operating subsidiaries are as follows: AARMWEZELETFRARIWT

Percentage of
equity attributable
to the Company
VNG 3
Bak
Place and date of

Name of company incorporation  Direct Indirect  Registered capital Principal activities
NEER MR BERAE  EE AR afER TEEHR
3 3

SPG Investment Ltd. British Virgin Islands, ~ 100% - USD1  Investment holding
2 March 2004 1% REEKR
ERRNAS -
—ZTWE=AH
Delta Link Holdings Limited British VirginIslands, ~ 100% - USD100  Investment holding
6 May 2004 100%€7T REER
KBNS
ZEIMERARA
Shanghai Cambridge (Group) Co., Ltd. the PRC, - 98.24% USD67,670,000 Property development,
LERETS (KB) BRAA 25 August 1998 67,670,000%7C  sales and lease
FE - —AANE FHERY  HEREE

NAZt+RB
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27. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES AND
CONTROLLED SPECIAL PURPOSE ENTITIES
(Continued)

(a)

Investments in subsidiaries (Continued)

Place and date of

Name of company incorporation

Ak SRR A

Shanghai SPG Property Service Co., Ltd. the PRC,
LERRNERBERAR 17 January 2001
h -

“ZZ-F-f++AH

Shanghai Cambridge Country Club Co., Ltd the PRC,
LEERYBANBENBRAF 22 November 2001
HE - ZTT-F

T—-AZTZH

Shanghai SPG Land Property Development Co., Ltd. the PRC,
HERRENEHERRERLA 14 August 2002
ME

= i

Shanghai SPG Hotel Development Co., Ltd. the PRC,
HERSBEERRERAR 1 December 2006
4

“EEXNF+=FA-H

Shanghai Sipo Education Development Co., Ltd. the PRC,
("Sipo Education”) 9 October 2001
TERRHRERERATIEEHED i -
ZZT-ETANA

Shanghai Sipo Polytechnic the PRC,
HRRERINER 15 April 2003
HE - ZTT=F

MmA+ERA

Percentage of
equity attributable
to the Company
FRAREEER
BA

Direct Indirect  Registered capital Principal activities
HE BE aMER FEEH
% %

- 98.42% RMB5,000,000  Property management services
ARHES,000,000 WEERRS

- 98.24% RMB5,000,000 Clubhouse operation
AREES,0000000 EFF4E

- 98.24% RMB10,000,000 Property development, lease
AR#10,000,00070  and management
EHERYE HERER

- 98.24% RMB405,500,000 Hotel operations, property
AR®8405,500,0007C  development, sales and
lease
BERE  BHERE -
HERBE

- 65.96% RMB70,000,000  Investment holding
AE#70,000,000 HEER

- 65.96% RMBS5,000,000 College education
AE5,000,0007 ERHE
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27. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES AND
CONTROLLED SPECIAL PURPOSE ENTITIES
(Continued)

(a) Investments in subsidiaries (Continued)

Percentage of
equity attributable
to the Company
AR REGER
BAk

Name of company

DRER

Place and date of

incorporation

TR A

Direct
B
%

Indirect
G
%

Registered capital
EMER

Principal activities

TERH

Shanghai Sipo Vocational Technical Training Centre the PRC, - 65.96% RMB200,000 Technical training and
HEREBERIEIRO 14 October 2003 ARH200,0000  technology consultancy
hE - CTE=F B R RN
TATHEA
Shanghai Oriental Cambridge Property Development the PRC, - 100% RMB650,000,000 Property development, sales
Co., Ltd. 26 September 2002 AR%650,000,0007C  and lease
TERARRRHERRABAT HE - ZTTCF BiERE  HEREE
NAZT/A
Shanghai Lishui Greenery Ecology Engineering Co., the PRC, - 100% RMB10,000,000  Landscape construction
Ltd. 7 November 2003 AR®10,000,000  project
TRBKEREI TRERAR HE - ZTT=F HEDEE
T-AtA
Shanghai Cambridge Construction Consulting Co., the PRC, - 100% RMB500,000 Project management,
Ltd. 29 April 2004 ARH500,000C  consulting and services
LERBBRERABRAR FE - ZTTME HEER  BARRH
mA=TAA
Shanghai Shikang Property Consulting Co., Ltd. the PRC, - 100% USD140,000 Property agency and
LAt RENESAERAR 7 January 2003 140,000%7T  consulting
FE - ZTE=F MERIER A
—AtA
Shanghai Zhuxi Investment Development Co., Ltd. the PRC, - 98.24% RMB30,000,000  Industry investment,
EEREERREGRAA 2 December 2003 AEH#30,000,0000  managementand
RE CTT=F business consulting

+-A=H

EXRA  BEREKES
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27. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES AND
CONTROLLED SPECIAL PURPOSE ENTITIES

(Continued)
(a)

Name of company

Ak

Huangshan SPG Property Development Co., Ltd.
BERYERUEERERAA

Huangshan Cambridge Property Development Co.,
Ltd.
BRGYERUEERERAA

Huangshan SPG Land Development Co., Ltd.
ELBEEHERERAR

Huangshan Shengyuan Hotel Development Co., Ltd.
BRREERRERAR

Huangshan Shengzhi Hotel Development Co., Ltd.
BLESEERRARAT

Huangshan Shengdi Real Estate Development Co.,
Ltd.
BlEEEERERAT

Investments in subsidiaries (Continued)

Place and date of
incorporation

SRR A

the PRC,
7 January 2004
HE - ZTTME
—RtH
the PRC,
22 July 2004
HE - ZTTREF
+tA=+ZAH
the PRC,
16 August 2007
FE - ZT5tE
NA+7<A
the PRC,
17 August 2007
M
ZEREENATLA
the PRC,
17 August 2007
ME -
ZZRHENATHR
the PRC,
16 August 2007
-

“ETLENATAE

Percentage of
equity attributable
to the Company
FRAREEER
BA

Indirect
A
%

Direct
BE
%

- 100%

- 100%

- 100%

- 100%

- 100%

- 100%

Registered capital
EMESR

RMB120,000,000
AR#120,000,0007T

RMB50,000,000
AR H50,000,0007C

RMB50,000,000
50,000,007

RMB150,000,000
AR#150,000,0007T

RMB150,000,000
AR H150,000,0007C

RMB150,000,000
AEE150,000,0007T

Principal activities

TERH

Hotel development and
operation

BEREREE

Property development, sales
and lease

FHERY - BEREE

Property development, sales
and lease

FHERE HERES

Hotel development and
operation

BEREREE

Hotel development and
operation

EEREREE

Property development, sales
and lease

FHERE HERES
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27. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES AND
CONTROLLED SPECIAL PURPOSE ENTITIES
(Continued)

(a)

Investments in subsidiaries (Continued)

Place and date of

Name of company

DREH

incorporation

TR A

Huangshan Shengde Real Estate Development Co., the PRC,
Ltd. 16 August 2007

BIRERHEERERAR HE
ZETHENRTAA

Huangshan Shengjie Real Estate Development Co., the PRC,
Ltd. 11 June 2009
BRANEHEERERAR HE

“ERNFRATH

Huangshan Shengwei Real Estate Development Co., the PRC,
Ltd. 11 June 2009
ELBREEHELERBAT FE -

“EENERATH

Huangshan Shengheng Real Estate Development Co., the PRC,
Ltd. 11 June 2009
BIRERNEERERAR HE

“FBAERATR

Huangshan Hiddentigger Club Management Co., Ltd. the PRC,
BB REMERBRAT 7 July 2009
i

ZETNELALA

Kunming SPG Land Development Co., Ltd. the PRC,
BRESENERERAA 9 November 2006
e

ZZERE+-ANE

KK

&l EHBEKBEB

54
R& (&)

i N
i
B

\[[HN

(@) FRAAKREE)

Percentage of
equity attributable
to the Company
KA REGER
BAk

Direct Indirect
B BE
% %

Registered capital
AMER

Principal activities

TERH

- 100% RMB 150,000,000

AR 150,000,0007C

Property development, sales
and lease

FIERE  BELEE

- 100% RMB15,000,000

ARH15,000,0007

Property development, sales
and lease

FHERE - BELHE

- 100% RMB15,000,000

AEH15,000,0007

Property development, sales
and lease

FHERE  HEREE

- 100% RMB34,000,000

AER#34,000,0007T

Property development, sales
and lease

FUERE  BELEE

- 100% RMB1,000,000

ARH1,000,0007

Property management
services

FHEERRS

- 100% RMB142,500,000

AR 142,500,0007T

Property development, sales
and lease

FHERE  HELEE
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27.

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES AND
CONTROLLED SPECIAL PURPOSE ENTITIES

(Continued)
(a)

Name of company

DRER

Kunming SPG Grand City Development Co., Ltd
ERES IR EERERAA

Shanghai Zhujia Cambridge Property Development

Co., Ltd.
HERERB Y SEHEREERAT

Suzhou Runjian Property Co., Ltd.
HFNEREXEARAT

Suzhou SPG Property Management Co., Ltd.
BNEENERBERAT

Suzhou Runjian Property Management Co., Ltd.

HNERNEREBRAT

Wuxi Guosheng Property Development Co., Ltd.

BHRREEREARAR

Investments in subsidiaries (Continued)

Place and date of
incorporation

SRR A

the PRC,

15 June 2007

HE
ZZRLERATRA

the PRC,

24 September 2003
hE —FT=F
NAZ+EA

the PRC,

28 September 2007
HE - ZTTEF
NAZTNA

the PRC,
5 March 2009

thE
“EENEF=-ARA

the PRC,

8 December 2009
%8 “TENF
+-ANA

the PRC,

2 November 2007
FE ZT5tE
+-AZH

ARARZTEHEHRBE W
BEREE)

(@) FRAAKREE)

Percentage of

equity attributable

to the Company
SAREGER
BA

Direct Indirect

B HE
% %

- 100%

- 100%

- 100%

- 100%

- 100%

- 100%

Registered capital
EMESR

USD40,000,000
40,000,000 T

RMB280,000,000
AR 280,000,0007C

RMB550,000,000
AEHS550,000,0007T

RMB500,000
ARE500,0007T

RMB500,000
AR H500,0007C

HKD776,530,000
776,530,000/ 7T

Principal activities

TERH

Property development, sales
and lease

FHERE  BEREE

Property development
and sales

FHEREREE

Property development, sales
and lease

FHERE HERES

Hotel operations, property
management services

BESE  NEEERE

Property management
Services

MEEERY

Property development, sales
and lease

FHERE HERES
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27. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES AND
CONTROLLED SPECIAL PURPOSE ENTITIES

(Continued)
(a)

Name of company

ARER

Wuxi Shenglian Property Development Co., Ltd.

BHRBEEREARAR]

Hainan Jiangiao Property Corporation Ltd.

BHRREXARAA

Hainan Jiangiao Property Management Co., Ltd.

BHRBNZERARAA

Wuxi Xishuidong Advertising Culture Media Co., Ltd.

BHRKRESXBRERAR

Hubei Huazhong Constructing Co., Ltd.
BLEPRERHBEREART

Changshu SPG Land Development Co., Ltd.
RARRREREARLHF

Investments in subsidiaries (Continued)

Place and date of
incorporation

TR E R A

the PRC,

2 November 2007
-

e e

the PRC,

4 January 2008
-
—%%F/\%-ARA

the PRC,

4 January 2008

e
—ZT\E-AEA

the PRC,

9 June 2009

Ll
ZETNERANA

the PRC,

21 May 2009

HE - —EBENE
TR-1+—H

the PRC,

12 July 2007

e
“EPLELATR

ARZEFEKREDN
R & (&)

KK

i N
i 1>

T

(@) FRAAREE)

Percentage of
equity attributable
to the Company
KA REGER
BAk

Direct Indirect
B BE
% %

Registered capital Principal activities

AMER TEEHK

- 100% HKD805,000,000

805,000,000/ T

Property development, sales
and lease

FIERE  BELEE

- 100% RMB115,000,000
ARE

115,000,0007T

Property development, sales
and lease

FUERE - BELHE

- 98.42% RMB1,000,000

AEH1,000,0007

Property management
services

NEEERB

- 100% Advertisement services

BERB

RMB500,000
AR500,0007T

- 100% RMB20,052,000  Construction and

AR#20,052,0007T decoration services

RERKERS

- 100% RMB200,000,000

AE#200,000,0007C

Property development, sales
and lease

FHERE  HEREE
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27. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES AND
CONTROLLED SPECIAL PURPOSE ENTITIES

(Continued)
(a)

Name of company

Ak

Changshu SPG Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.

BREHEXARAT

Wuxi SPG Land Information Consulting Co., Ltd.
BEERESHAERAR

Shanxi SPG Land Development Co., Ltd.
LARSENERER AR

Wuxi Xindu Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.
BONAEEREARAR

Wuxi Shengdong Property Development Co., Ltd.

ERBERFEREARLA

Shanghai Yingjie Industrial Co., Ltd.
LERERERARAA

Investments in subsidiaries (Continued)

Place and date of
incorporation

SRR A

the PRC,

24 October 2007
HE - ZTTHE
+E=-tmA
the PRC,

5 June 2007

hE - ZEELE
~NALR

the PRC,

27 August 2009
HE - ZTENF
JAY: B =

the PRC,

29 January 2010
HE - ZT-TF
—R=thA
the PRC,

6 May 2010

HE - Z5-TF
TARA

the PRC,

28 April 2010

HE - ZF-TF

mA=+/N\B

Percentage of

equity attributable

to the Company
FRAREEER
BA

Direct Indirect
HE B
% %

- 100%

- 100%

- 100%

- 60%

- 100%

- 100%

Registered capital
EMESR

RMB350,000,000
AR#350,000,0007T

UsD20,000,000
20,000,000 7T

UsD20,000,000
20,000,000t

RMB200,000,000
AR#200,000,0007T

RMB200,000,000
AKH200,000,0007

RMB10,000,000
AEH10,000,0007C

Principal activities

TERH

Property development, sales
and lease

FHERE  BEREE

Project management,
consulting and services
HEEE - HARES

Property development, sales
and lease

FHERE HERES

Property development, sales
and lease

FHERE  BEREE

Property development, sales
and lease

FHERE - BEREE

Investment Management
and consulting
RAEE R
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27. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES AND
CONTROLLED SPECIAL PURPOSE ENTITIES
(Continued)

Investments in subsidiaries (Continued)

(a)

Name of company

ARER

Tianjing Hengzhi Investment Management Co., Ltd.

RRERREEEARAT

Tianjing Hengxuan Investment Management Co., Ltd.

RREHREERBRAF

Tianjing Runheng Investment Management Co., Ltd.

REBEREERARAA

Ningbo SPG Cicheng Property Development Co., Ltd
ERERENEHERREBAT

Ningbo SPG Hotel Development Co., Ltd.
ERERBEEREERAR

Shengya (Shanghai) Investment Consulting Co., Ltd
BRE(EBBREZAERAR

Place and date of

incorporation

TR E R A

the PRC,

14 December 2010
RE —E-TF
+=A+HmA
the PRC,

14 December 2010
HE —E-TF
+ZA+mA
the PRC,

14 December 2010
HE - —T-5F
+=A+mA
the PRC,

21 March 2011
RE —E——F
ZAZ1+-H
the PRC,

8 September 2011
FE -
—E—FNANR
the PRC,

3May 2011

HE

—E——%RA=H

Percentage of
equity attributable
to the Company
KA REGER
BAk

Direct Indirect
B BE
% %

Registered capital
EMEE

- 100% RMB10,000,000
AE#10,000,0007T

- 100% RMB10,000,000
AR#10,000,0007T

- 100% RMB10,000,000
AR#10,000,0007T

- 100% RMB230,000,000
AE230,000,0007T

- 100% RMB50,000,000
AR#50,000,0007T

- 100% USD50,000,000
50,000,000% 7

Principal activities

TERH

Investment Management
and consulting
RAEERHAS

Investment Management
and consulting
REERRHEH

Investment Management
and consulting
RATERHA

Property development,
sales and lease

NEER  BEREE

Hotel operations
BEEE

Investment Management
and consulting
RAEER#A
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27. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES AND
CONTROLLED SPECIAL PURPOSE ENTITIES
(Continued)

Investments in subsidiaries (Continued)

(a)

Name of company

Ak

Shanghai Shengyuan Investment Consulting Co., Ltd
LERERETAERAT

Shanghai Yingxiang Investment Management
Co., Ltd.
LEEIREERBRAR

Shanghai Yingkai Investment Management Co., Ltd.

LBREREERARAT]

Shanghai Hengbai Investment Management Co., Ltd.

LEERREERERAT

Shanghai Hengkai Investment Management Co., Ltd.

LEEERAERARAT

Shanghai Yingyi Investment Management Co., Ltd
LERRRAERERRA

Place and date of
incorporation

SRR A

the PRC,

7 June 2011

M
Z2——FRAtH

the PRC,

8 July 2011

HRE
“E——Ft+ANH

the PRC,

2 September 2011
hE -
—Z—ENAZA

the PRC,

7 April 2011

thE
“E——FNALA

the PRC,

8 April 2011

R
—T—EmANR

the PRC,

25 October 2011
HE . ZE-—F
+A=+ER

Percentage of

equity attributable

to the Company
FRAREEER
BA

Direct Indirect
HE B
% %

- 100%

- 100%

- 100%

- 100%

- 100%

- 100%

Registered capital
EMESR

USD50,000,000
50,000,000 7T

RMB10,000,000
AEH10,000,0007T

RMB10,000,000
AEH10,000,0007C

RMB10,000,000
AR#10,000,0007T

RMB10,000,000
AEH10,000,0007T

RMB10,000,000
AEH10,000,0007C

Principal activities

TERH

Investment Management
and consulting

REEERHA

Investment Management
and consulting

BEEEREN

Investment Management
and consulting
RAEE R

Investment Management
and consulting
REERL#A

Investment Management
and consulting

BEEERAN

Investment Management
and consulting
RAEE R
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27. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES AND
CONTROLLED SPECIAL PURPOSE ENTITIES
(Continued)

(a) Investments in subsidiaries (Continued)

Percentage of
equity attributable
to the Company
KRR
BOL
Place and date of
Direct Indirect
EE BE
% %

Registered capital
AMER

Principal activities

FEXK

Name of company

DREH

incorporation

AR A

Shanghai Yingjun Investment Management the PRC, - 100% RMB10,000,000  Investment Management
Co., Ltd. 25 October 2011 AR#10,000,0007T and consulting
HERRREERERAR HE - ZF——F REERRHH
+E=-+%A
Shanghai Yingzhuo Investment Management the PRC, - 100% RMB10,000,000  Investment Management
Co., Ltd. 25 October 2011 AR#10,000,0007 and consulting
TEEEREERERAT HE T ——F REERRHEH
+E=-1+%R

All these entities are controlled subsidiaries as defined under

note 3(a)(i) and have been consolidated into the consolidated

financial statements.

FrB %SRBG /M E3OM
RENZEGFRABRKEE &
AR B M B®REK -
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27. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES AND
CONTROLLED SPECIAL PURPOSE ENTITIES
(Continued)

(b) Controlled special purpose entities
The Group controls a special purpose entity which operates in
Hong Kong, particulars of which are as follows:

Special purpose entity

BHRENER

SPG Land Employee Benefit Trust (New Zealand)
("the Trust”)
SPG Land Employee Benefit Trust (New Zealand)
( T#%fEsE])

As the Trust is set up solely for the purpose of purchasing,
administrating and holding the shares of the Company for
the Share Award Scheme, the Group has the power to govern
the financial and operating policies of the Trust and it can
derive benefits from the services of the employees through
their continued employment with the Group. The assets and
liabilities of the Trust are included in the Group’s consolidated
balance and the shares of the Company held by the Trust are
presented as a deduction in equity as Shares held for Share
Award Scheme (note 39(ii)).

N

NARZEHFHBEKRB D
g RE(E)

b) EEHBHEHER
AEERH—RESB BN
REMER  HABOT :

Principal activities

EEEK

Purchases, administers and holds

the shares of the Company for the benefit

of eligible participants (note 39 (ii))
REBEBR2EER

MumWE EBER

B A R BB (BT &2 39(0)

HRRLZELENENAERES

BhEBEMBE  EREF
BARQA KD AEANEEEE

MEXEENMBNEERR
IR fE B #HE R A B MK
BERBHFR - ZEANEE
RBEFAREENGAEER
AR HZEEFENAQFK
2N ARSI - ER D&
Byt 80 A5 B (B RE39(Gi) ©
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28. TRADE, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND

28. BUWARF ~ HMBWRERE

ADVANCE DEPOSITS

—E——F
RMB’000
AR%T T

Receivables due from related parties: [i& U 838 A + 7018 ¢

— Subsidiaries — FRA]
— Other related parties — HREAL
(note 46(c)) (BfsE46(c)

R E =TT E S

Trade receivables due from

third parties BRIX
Advance payments to contractors  FE # B R FIE
Advance deposits for acquisition of Uz + 1115 FRAEEY A~
land use rights Be
Non-trade receivables Hfth pE s 3RIE
Tax prepayments TRETIER
Total =5

The receivables due from related parties are unsecured, non-interest
bearing and repayable on demand.

Non-trade receivable balances, deposits and advances to third
parties are expected to be settled or recovered within one year.

Tax prepayments mainly represent prepayment of business tax, land
appreciation tax and income tax during the pre-sale stage of certain
properties under development.

1,532,975
414,274
237,407

2,439,436 3,270,269

s

Group
£ %M
2011

Company

PN
2011
———#
RMB’000
ARBT T

2010
—T-TF

RMB’000
AREFTT

2010
—TZF
RMB’000
ARETF T

423,990 590,711

103,223 30 32

103,223 424,020 590,743

14,599 5,499

136,958 74,480

2,714,149
221,504
252,728

424,020

EUREEALTRARERR RS RAR
EREFEE -

Hip U RIEER - AT RANE=TT1
FRRFAEHR —FRBEIE -

BHBREIEEABEETERTWEMN
TEFEEEN - THIRETR KRS -
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28. TRADE, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND 28. BWARA - HMBEWRHIERA
ADVANCE DEPOSITS (Continued) TR&E (&)
The ageing analysis of trade receivables at each balance sheet date EWEFINESEEAGRBNESE ST
is as follows: A

Group
AEH
2011 2010

—B——fF —E-TF
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AR¥ETTT
Within 90 days 90R 14,322

Over 90 days and within 180 days HBiBEI0H =180 A 7
Over 180 days and within 365 days HBiRm180HE365AK 270

14,599

29. LONG-TERM RECEIVABLE 29. REAEEWFR

Group
Term Initial Cost 2011 2010
FH MR A ZB——F —Z-TF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARKETFTT ARBT T ARETTT

Long-term receivable REAEUGR 10 years 1,300,000 939,672 939,672
Less: Long-term receivable due W —FEREIES R T

within 1 year YR (125,486) (125,486)
Long-term receivable due after —FRIHRY
1 year JEH R 814,186 814,186

The amount is repayable as follows: 7 LA~ HA UL X &) 008

W
Within 1 year —ER 125,486 125,486
Over 1 year and within 2 years BB —FEMEA 113,103 113,103
Over 2 years and within 5 years BBMTFERAFA 247,166 247,166
After 5 years BERFU 453,917 453,917

939,672 939,672
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29. LONG-TERM RECEIVABLE (continued) 29. RIBEWF (&
Long-term receivable represents shareholders’ loan provided to EHEWRZERE T RBRMNLENREE
Tianyuan Lifeng. The amount is non-interest bearing and repayable RoZBEFBEBARE BFrEA_ZT—%F
in 10 annual instalments of RMB 130,000,000 each, starting from 11 NAT—BREDI10FEEE - BEWE S5
June 2011 as scheduled. Since the repayment schedule delayed for A AR #130,000,0007T © /R IEZHI 8
one year, there is nil (note 13) interest income recognised in relation ®—%  FHEFERNLEGRAAERIER
to the long-term receivable during the year (2010: RMB48,236,000). MBWA(ZZ—Z4F : AR¥48,236,000

Je) (BisE13) °

30. RESTRICTED CASH 30. ZRHEKE

For property construction and development HRIEZZEN EREYE

As pledge for bank loans and bank EBRITERMIBITEAN ZER
acceptance notes IR
Others HAh

Group
AEE
2011 2010

—B——F —E-TF
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARTR ARBFT

436,489 702,765

861,763 1,282,771
9,215 -

1,307,467 1,985,536
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31. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

An analysis of the balance of cash and cash equivalents is set out

below:

Cash at bank and cash in hand

W XRHIRE
(FF3E30)

Less: restricted cash (note 30)

RITERLRE

31. BERBEZEEY
B MRS SEBMNERIWTOT ¢

Group Company
iy ZNG
2011 2010 2011 2010

—E——fF
RMB'000
ARET

2,952,493

—Z-TF —B——F —T T
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTIT ARBTR AR®TRT

3,499,975 39,799 743

o (1,985,536)

1,645,026 1,514,439

Cash at bank and cash in hand is denominated in:

RMB AR
usb ETT
AUD RIT
HKD BT

AT EBEERNIRTEARRE

2,847,965 3,444,433

88,267 25,705 114
7 - —
16,254 29,837 629

2,952,493 3,499,975

RMB is not a freely convertible currency and the remittance of funds
out of the PRC is subject to exchange restrictions imposed by the

PRC government.

ARBIIFEHEBEYE  KPEEDLA
R¥72:8 7 BT HIET A9 E SRR B o
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32. TAXPAYABLE/DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/

RNENHE EEZHREE

(LIABILITIES) E(af)
(i) Current taxation in the consolidated balance (i) GKEEEEBRNWABHAER
sheets represents: fe

PRC income tax

HEFTS

Balance brought forward

Provision for PRC enterprise income

tax for the year (note 13(i))
PRC income tax paid

2011
—=E——fF

2010
—E—ZF
RMB’'000
ARETF T

RMB’000
AR® TR

HCHT SRR 150,432

Balance carried forward

PRC land appreciation tax

B 3R E B

Balance brought forward

Provision for PRC land appreciation
tax for the year (note 13)
PRC land appreciation tax paid

FRFBRCERSHEE

(Bft3E13()) 394,778 299,260
BT REEAEH (229,797) (226,833)
EpteE 315,413 150,432

2011
—_E——£F
RMB’'000
AR¥T T

2010
—ET—FTF
RMB’000
AREETIT

Balance carried forward

AR 729,499 488,658
FERE) T B IS (B R B

(ftzE13) 228,890 362,997
B A B A IS (E R (64,568) (122,156)
e 893,821 729,499
A& 1,209,234 879,931
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32. TAX PAYABLE/DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/ NREMNBHE EEHESE

(LIABILITIES) (Continued)
(ii) Deferred tax assets recognised:

The components of deferred tax assets recognised in the

consolidated balance sheets and the movements during the

year ended 31 December 2011 were as follows:

Temporary
difference
on revenue
recognition
and related
cost of sales
W R
EEEE
AHY
FRER
RMB’000
ARBTT

B2/ (8fE)(#E)

(i) ERFELEHREE :
BERAAERBREBOEEHE
BEHSRRBE-E——F1+-A
St -RLEEOEHMT

Deferred
land
appreciation
tax and other
accruals Tax losses

T IBER
R HAt
FESTIE R
RMB’000
AR¥T T

BBEE aF

RMB’000
ARBTR

RMB’000
AR®BTR

At 1 January 2010 —T-TF—f— 70,880 125,684 16,405 212,969
Additions by 5,830 81,689 14,912 102,431
Realisation #315 (13,830) (1,716) (12,715) (28,261)
At 31 December 2010 —ET-TF

+=-—A=+—H 62,880 205,657 18,602 287,139
Additions 140 74,935 32,801 25,606 133,342
Realisation #I15 (47,706) (11,094) (16,875) (75,675)
At 31 December 2011 —E——%F

+=-—A=+—H 90,109 227,364 27,333 344,806
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32. TAXPAYABLE/DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/
(LIABILITIES) (Continued)
(ii) Deferred tax assets recognised: (Continued)

32.BEMNBE EELEHREE
B/ (BfE)(#)
(i) BRBETHEEE : (#)

As at 31 December 2011, the Group had unused tax losses
of RMB330,565,000 (2010: RMB182,100,000) available to
offset against future profits. Deferred tax assets have been
recognised in respect of the tax losses of RMB109,332,000
(2010: RMB74,408,000) at the applicable income tax rates
of the respective subsidiaries as at 31 December 2011.
No deferred tax assets have been recognised in respect
of the remaining tax losses of RMB221,233,000 (2010:
RMB107,692,000) due to the unpredictability of future
taxable profit streams of the individual subsidiaries concerned
as at 31 December 2011. The unrecognised tax losses for the
year ended 31 December 2011 will expire in the following
years ending 31 December:

RZZE——F+=ZA=+—H" ' &
5 B 7] B3 2R 8 R 2R s I 8 oK B A
i % B8 A A R ¥ 330,565,000 7T
(ZZ—F4% : AK¥ 182,100,000
L) e RZE——F+_A=+—
B ®REEBRZERNFAREAZ
MEBRNELEFRBEERARE
109,332,0007C( —ZE—FF : AR
74,408,0007T) - BT EEHBERE
B A E BB ) R R B AR B T SR H
BMisEE AR -—T——F+=A
=T —RYARRESRBEEBARE
221,233,000 (=Z—ZF : AR
107,692,0007T ) MERIBLEH A& & -
REE-_ZT——F+-A=+—AH1t
FENAERRBEESNATHE
+ZA=Z+—BILEFEER

2011 2010
= —T-TF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T ARBTT

10,498
2,402
10,336
57,037
140,960

221,233 107,692
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32. TAX PAYABLE/DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/ 32N HE EEBEE
(LIABILITIES) (Continued) E/(afE) (&)
(iii) Deferred tax liabilities recognised (iii) CRVELEHEESE
The components of deferred tax liabilities recognised in the BEEGAEEEABRERNELERIE
consolidated balance sheets and the movements during the BESXSOMREE-_ZE—F+_H
year ended 31 December 2011 were as follows: =+—BHIFENEENT -

Revaluation
of
Withholding  investment Fair value
tax properties adjustments Total

REME DREE

mMB Bl ik &%
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTRT AR®TR ARETRT AR®T=R

At 1 January 2010 18,400 235,809 207,293 461,502

Addition el = 72,733 49,537 122,270
Realisation o] (18,400) - (73,679) (CYRL))
At 31 December 2010 —E-FF
+=-A=t+—8 308,542 183,151 491,693
Addition 0 27,850 - 27,850
Realisation o] (50,673) (56,547) (107,220)
At 31 December 2011 —ET——4F
+-A=t+—8 285,719 126,604 412,323
(iv) Net-off of deferred tax assets/deferred tax (iv) EEEERIBEESE EEME
liabilities =L

2011 2010
S
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBFLE  ARETI

Deferred tax assets recognised ERERELEHEEE 344,806 287,139
Net-off with deferred tax liabilities ~ E2jRIET TE & (E 1 5 (133,739) (147,354)

Deferred tax assets RIERIBE = 211,067 139,785

Deferred tax liabilities recognised ERRIELEHIBEE 412,323 491,693
Net-off with deferred tax assets B3R AE B TE A EE I AN (133,739) (147,354)

Deferred tax liabilities FERIEEE 278,584 344,339
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33. INTEREST-BEARING LOANS 33. ;tEE®X

EH

Current

2011 2010
—g——f —E-zf

RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T ARBFT

877,275 971,694

1,200,340 563,000

2,077,615 1,534,694

Secured bank loans BEEBIRITER

Current portion of non-current secured BEMRITRAETH
bank loans BIEAEE

Non-current RE

Secured bank loans BEBRITER

Unsecured loans IR E R

Less: current portion of non-current A BEARRITREERDN

secured bank loans BIEREE >

5,175,030 4,280,386
200,000 630,000

(1,200,340) (563,000)

4,174,690 4,347,386

As at 31 December 2011, the Group’s secured bank loans were

secured by the following:
(i)  the Group's properties and land use rights with a total carrying

amount of RMB8,275,605,000 (2010: RMB8,107,462,000)
(notes 18, 22, 23 and 24);

(i) pledged time deposits of RMB299,898,000; and

(i) charges over equity interests of certain subsidiaries of the
Group.

RZB—-——F+ZA=+—H FEEK
BEMRITEFTUATIIRBRERER

() AEBEREAEAKRES 275,605,000
7T (ZZT—FF  AKR#8,107,462,000
To) MYIERTERE (18-
22~ 23%24)

(i BEMTEHFHARE299,898,000
T &

(i)  AEEBETFTRAHRAESIET
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33. INTEREST-BEARING LOANS (Continued) 33. sTEER(E)
The Group's non-current bank loans were repayable as follows: REBEBHWESSEITESAN U THEES -

2011 2010
e —z-zf

RMB’'000 RMB’'000

ARBT T ARBETTT

Within 1 year —FR 1,200,340 563,000
Over 1 year but less than 2 years BR—FEMFER 3,057,350 1,823,730
Over 2 years but less than 5 years BAMFERFNR 639,590 1,247,107
Over 5 years BEAFN 477,750 1,276,549

5,375,030 4,910,386

The effective interest rate of the year ended 31 December 2011 was REBE-_EZ——F+_A=+—RHILEFE
as follows: HERFEOT :

Bank loans

The carrying amounts of current and non-current bank loans CHEEHETERNEREE A A
approximate their fair value. BEME o
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34. TRADE, OTHER PAYABLES AND ADVANCE 34. BHERAR - HMENRERTE
RECEIPTS WA

Group Company
FEE AAF
2011 2010 2011 2010

—§-—-% -T-TF —¥-——& -T-TF
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
AEMTR ARETRT ARMTRE ARMT:

FERTREE A LR -

Payables due to related parties:

Non-trade related: HAD MR FIE :
— Dividends payable (note 46(c))  — FEfTH&E
(P 7E46(0)) - _
— Subsidiaries — FR7] 415,625 878,558
— Other related parties (note — HREEA L
46()) (FiF5¥46(c)) 2,532,049 2,665,911
2,541,222 2,675,084 415,625 878,558
Trade payables FEERIR 2,776,785 1,752,740 -
Advance receipts from customers  TBUE 2B 2,955,884 5,303,410 -
Other taxes payable H b eI 7518 37,812 48,758 -
Dividends payable JERRRE 163 96 96
Unpaid land cost RIAF AR AR 890,081 167,953 -
Non-trade payables and accrued  Efth B RIBATELR
expenses b=g= 310,483 214,142 46,683 11,921
Total Ast 9,512,430 10,162,183 462,471 890,575
The payables due to related parties are unsecured, non-interest ENBAEATRELRERR  2REREAR
bearing and repayable on demand. ERIER -
The ageing analysis of trade payables at each balance sheet date is ENERFRSEEBNREBSITIT
as follows:

Group

FrEE

2011 2010

—=E——fF T -TF

RMB’'000 RMB’'000

ARET T ARETT

Within 90 days 90HA 1,272,165 970,307
Over 90 days and within 180 days HiEI0HE180H K 420,679 471,033
Over 180 days and within 365 days HiE180H £365HK 583,922 235,298
Over 365 days and within 3 years @365 E3F A 500,019 76,102

2,776,785 1,752,740
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35. LONG-TERM PAYABLE 35. REAER

Group

A%
Initial Cost 2011 2010
MERA  —F-—F —2-FF

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT AR®TR AREBTT

Long-term payable REBFEIIR 15 years 58,453 45,997

THF
Less: Long-term payable due B —FREI B R A
within 1 year FERTER (6,000)
Long-term payable due after —F B RE
1 year TERTRR 39,997
The amount is repayable RATFHREENZIE
as follows: NN
Within 1 year —FR 6,000
Over 1 year and within 2 years B —EEMFEAN 5,682
Over 2 years and within 5 years ~ BBMFEEAFR 15,296
After 5 years BEAFUELE 19,019
45,997
Long-term payable represents construction cost payable to a KHEMNRIEREMN —2ABRNESE
contractor. The amount is non-interest bearing and repayable in KA - ZERBEBARE B _ZEZE
15 annual instalments of RMB6,000,000 each, starting from 1 NENLA—BREDISFEESE - SHE
September 2008. E2¥ER/RARKG6,000,0007T ©

Company
AAFE
2011 2010
-5  -—T-%%
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR ARBFT

Due to subsidiaries FENFRARIFIE 402,190 952,229

Long-term payable represents amounts due to certain subsidiaries. EHENZEENEFFLAIONOR
The payable is interest bearing and repayable over one year but TH o X FENFIEBEBLE  WERBIE

within two years. —FEMERNEE -
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On 8 April 2011, the Company issued 13.5% senior notes
due 2016 (the "Notes”) with an aggregated nominal value of
US$200,000,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB1,308,400,000)
at a value equal to 98.244% of the face value. The Notes are listed
on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited. The Notes
carry interest at the rate of 13.5% per annum, payable semi-
annually on 8 April and 8 October in arrears, and will mature on
8 April 2016, unless redeemed earlier. The net proceeds, after
deducting the direct issuance costs, amounted to approximately
US$191,298,939 (equivalent to RMB1,251,477,657).

At any time on or after 8 April 2014, the Company may redeem
the Notes, in whole orin part, at aredemption price equal to
the percentage of principal amount set forth below plus accrued
and unpaid interest to (but not including) the redemption date if
redeemed during the twelve month period beginning on 8 April of
each of the years indicated below:

2014 —T—mE
2015 and there after

At any time prior to 8 April 2014, the Company may at its option
redeem the Notes, in whole but not in part, at a redemption price
equal to 100% of the principal amount of the Notes plus the
applicable premium as of, and accrued and unpaid interest, if any,
to (but not including) the redemption date.

At any time prior to 8 April 2014, the Company may redeem up
to 35% of the aggregate principal amount of the Notes with
the proceeds from sales of common stock of the Company at a
redemption price of 113.5% of the principal amount of the Notes,
plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to (but not including) the
redemption date, provided that at least 65% of the aggregate
principal amount of the Notes originally issued remains outstanding
after each such redemption and any such redemption takes place
within 60 days after the closing of the related equity offering.

—T-hFRNME

RZE——FWANA @ ARAIRERE
B98.244% M BEETR T —REH
HA 42 8 18 200,000,000 € JT (A E R O A
R ¥ 1,308,400,000 7T ) B 1352 E % &
BORE]D  RERINEELER S L
e ZHRIZERRI35EHNE - REEN
ARNBRTANBEFFHREE - I
RZZE—XR"EMANBEH(BRIEERT
BEE) - SR EEBITRANAERIE
SFEEH) 191,298,939 T (HENARKE
1,251,477,6577¢C) °

ARARAR-_ZE-NFMNANBRERE
MEE BERTXMEASEA DL
BEE N8z (EB1eHE) BEAH
) RERT T AR AR (R T XA REFED
ANBRBH+ —EARBER)E D2

BOERE

106.75%
103.375%

RZZE—NFMNANEREARRE - AR
AIAEBERESNEBEAREE100%HED
B ZNEBEE(ETERFE)ERARNER
HEREMANME (ME) - BE 2
(BTEAED)RE -

RABAIRZE—WOFMA N A RTEA
M AHEARAREBROMERIE @ 1%
ZEASEIB5%MERE  SNER
(B E4E ) BEE B EE R R FE
(nE)  BEOAESBEERSI5%HEE -
HEREEHEBERRRBERAEELERE
60H NETHEMARMERE - RAD
THEBRSBREEEELS%INIARER -
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36. SENIOR NOTES (Continued) 36. BAERE(E)
The redemption options held by the Company are separately AR 15 B 75 2R R B 5E 3(c) (i) FT &k A9 & 5T I
accounted for at fair value at the initial recognition date and 30 % AATIFEANBLOES BN Y 1%
June 2011 as derivative financial instruments in accordance with the RABPER—_FT——FXA=ZTHEZARE
accounting policy set out in note 3(c) (iii) to the financial statements. BARYATESRITA
The movements of different components of senior notes are set out BAEETRIISSHEHEINNDOT -
below:

Call option
Liability of the
component Company Total

REHs AQAREE &%
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBT T ARBT R ARBT R

Senior Notes issued on 8 April 2011 RZZE——FWANR

BANELEE 1,274,320 (22,842) 1,251,478
Interests and issue cost amortised FRBHEF B RBEITRA
during the year 129,519 - 129,519
Interest paid during the year FREMAFIE (85,791) - (85,791)
Exchange gain B 5 iz (47,120) - (47,120)
Change in fair value (note 12) DR EEZE(ME12) - 22,842 22,842
As at 31 December 2011 RNZBE——E+=-A=1+—H 1,270,928 - 1,270,928
Represented as B THIBE 8K
— Other payables — accrued interests  — EL 4 fE < Z0 78 — FEETF & 39,510
— Senior notes —-BEER 1,231,418
—Total —&%t 1,270,928
Liability component of the Notes represents the contractually EENEETD AEMNEIFHROLTEREK
determined stream of future cash flows discounted at the rate of HERE  FERLKEERANFTNELRE
interest determined by the market instruments of comparable credit LB R % B EERIEENTS
status taken into account the business risk and financial risk of the TEEBF HE-_ZE—F+_A=1+—
Company. The effective interest rate of the liability component is BEEE BEXINERENRA

14.257% per annum for the year ended 31 December 2011. 14.257% -
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36. SENIOR NOTES (Continued) 36. BELAEE(£)

At 31 December 2011, the liability component of the Notes was
repayable as follows:

MEREDLFA

After two years but within five years

RZZE——F+-A=+—H REHNE
BEEBARRATFEEER :

2011 2010
= —T-TF
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®ETT ARETTT

1,231,418

37. FINANCIAL DERIVATIVES

AR (M E12)

Interest rate swaps (note 12)

7. TEEMIA

2011 2010
2% —ETF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R ARBETT

(1,742)

During the year ended 31 December 2011, interest rate swaps,
denominated in Hong Kong dollars, have been entered into to
achieve an appropriate mix of fixed and floating rate exposure. At 31
December 2011, the Group had interest rate swaps with a notional
contract amount of HKD400,000,000 (2010: HKD400,000,000) to
fix the interest rate of certain bank borrowings so as to reduce the
impact of interest rate fluctuation. The swaps mature over the next
2.5 years, matching the maturity of the related loans and have fixed
swap rates ranging from 0.79% t0 0.995%.

The fair value of interest rate swap is determined by discounting
the future cash flows of the contracts at the current market interest
rates. The changes in the fair value during the year resulted in a fair
value loss of RMB2,367,000 (2010: gain of RMB625,000), which
has been recorded as “Fair value changes on financial derivatives” in
profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 2011.

BE-S——&+-A=+—RILFEN
B« A2 B 4T 7 B T 51 (8 9 L 4
B EBEEOEE TR ERRE
2 RZT-—£+-A=t-A &%

=2 B e 2 & & 408 §8/2400,000,000
BT (ZZ—2Z4 : 400,000,000 7T)
A TRITEEHNRE - DURK T %5
MR - B EBR AR 5FREIER - i
SHBEXRMISNE - BEEAFENT
0.79%%0.995% °

MERHE QA BETIRE TSN X
FTHRAENNAKRASREET - FAMN

2,367,000 (=2 —ZF : I ARE
625,0007T)  EREBE-T——F+=A
=+ —HIEFENBENGFATESHRT
B RAnEEZE]—3E-
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38.

39.

EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS

As stipulated by the regulations of the PRC, the Group participates
in various defined contribution retirement plans organised by
municipal and provincial government authorities for its employees.
The Group is required to make contributions to the retirement plans
at rates ranging from 20% to 22% of the salaries, wages, bonuses
and certain allowances of the employees. The local government
authorities are responsible for the entire pension obligations payable
to retired employees.

The Group has no other obligations for the payment of pension
benefits associated with those schemes and other post-retirement
benefits beyond the annual contributions described above.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS
(i) Share option plan
(@) Thetermsand conditions of the grants are as
follows, whereby all options are settled by
physical delivery of shares:

Number of
shares involved
in the option

BREY R
KRt 2 E

Options granted to directors:
RTESHERE

—on 19 September 2006 7,500,000

BB R

38.

39.

Vesting condition

(i) 25% on the date of grant at an exercisable price

EERKER

REFBEEZRRTE  A5EEAHESESHR
Z B B A AR BUR &R P9 RR 32 89 5E K
RIKEFGE - AEEAREENT S -
BN - TEALE TOEREMN20% £ 22% MR
REFEIHR - FHEFHFIBERERIK
EEZRH2HENKRE -

B bt fF R KON AEEY EEME R
ZEA R EMBRKEENNRAKSHR
BfE-

B AD 3214
() BErEta
(a) BHBENHRRREHDT -
1 B B B39 1B B 3 44
ROEHE :

Contractual
life of options
FEARAE
BHHR

5 years

—E—FFH 219

—-RZEEXRFAATAR

—on 3 December 2007 10,000,000

-R_EZLF+ A=A

of HKD3.824 per share; (ii) 25% on each of the first,
second and third anniversary of the date of grant at
an exercisable price of HKD4.302 per share
(IPREE H25% T EKE3.8248 THTRESR
B (PR PSNE—  E-RE=(BEFRH
EH25% R ER4.3028 TR ERB

25% on the date of grant and on each of the first,
second and third anniversary of the date of grant at
an exercisable price of HKD6.526 per share
RELERRAELERHANSE—  E-RE=(EE
FEH - DHEE25%HNBIETZERE6.526/
THITRERE

54

5years

54
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39. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued) 39. RO X&)
(i) Share option plan (Continued) (i) BRETEI(E)
(@) Thetermsand conditions of the grants are as (a) BHEENBGRIREHEDT -
follows, whereby all options are settled by MAAMEBREYEREERH
physical delivery of shares: (Continued) BROEE: (&)

Number of
shares involved Contractual
in the option  Vesting condition life of options

ERESR fER
HRHBE BEELS ELLILE

Options granted to employees:
BT EENBRE:
—on 19 September 2006 11,040,000 (i) 25% on the date of grant at an exercisable price 5 years
of HKD3.824 per share; (i) 25% on each of the first,
second and third anniversary of the date of grant at
an exercisable price of HKD4.302 per share
—RIEERFAATAA (VAR HE B25% AR Ek3.824 B T MTRER 5%
& (RREASNE— F-RE= 1I3Jﬂ¢EIHH
&H25% AR EAR4.3028 THTRES

—on 10 October 2007 640,000 30% on the date of grant, 30% and 40% on the 5 years
first and second anniversary of the date of grant at
an exercisable price of HKD6.3 per share

-RZZETtF+A+H 30%REMLEBHE - M30% k40% D BIRE 54
HSNE-RE_(ERFAHREE  TFEEHAS
6.3 7T

—on 30 October 2009 9,000,000 (i) 1/3 on the date of grant at an exercisable price 5 years

of HKD4.59 per share; (ii) 1/3 before the first
anniversary of the date of grant as and when the
average of the closing prices of the shares as stated
in the Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s daily quotations
sheet for the past 10 consecutive business days
immediately preceding the date is higher than HKD8
atan exercisable price of HKD8.00 per share; (iii)
1/3 before the second anniversary of the date of
grant as and when the average of the closing prices
of the shares asstated in the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet for the past 10
consecutive business days immediately preceding the
date is higher than HKD12 at an exercisable price of
HKD12.00 per share
TAF+A=TH (i) 1B3REHE RARERA B THITRER 5%

B (i) 13R RN BN E—EBRE BB RNE
BEZBAAERAEEI0EEEBERABMEA
BEXMIETFEROETERNSBETE XS
R&8.00BTTHITTILEERE + (i) 130K H IS
ZEBRFRBAI RN EEZARNEBEEE 0@
¥ AEFBBIME B RERMIINTHRGOUT
EaR 2B TR AIEER12.008 TN TRERE

Rz

*H
A

Total share options

BREZS 38,180,000
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39. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

0]

Share option plan (Continued)
(b)

The number and weighted average exercise price
of share options are as follows:

Year ended 31 December 2011
BE-E—-F
tZA=+-ALEE
Weighted

exercise price

39. R XS (4E&)
(i) BRESE(E)
(b) BREZHBRMEFLHTE
BuT :

Year ended 31 December 2010
BE-_ZT-Z%
+TZA=+—HIEFE

Weighted

average

Number of Number of

average shares involved shares involved
in the options
fRlkE

Py R

RG#E

exercise price in the options
B

By R
O E!

il R
I8

¥
68

Outstanding at 1 January ®R—A—H@EATE . HKD6.061HETT 19,350,000
Granted 2EH _ _
Exercised oATE _ _
Bonus issue impact BT RAFE - 483,750
Lapsed BER HKD5.6163% 7T 00 HKD7.069% 7T (4,059,000)
Outstanding at 31 December ~ A+—-A=+—H

WARITE HKD5.616/8 7T 15,774,750
Exercisable at 31 December W+=—A=+—-8

af7fE HKD4. 1413 7T 12,699,750

During the year ended 31 December 2011, all the
options lapsed or expired and therefore there is no
outstanding or exercisable options at the year end.

During the year, an expense of RMB1.1 million (2010:
RMB3.9 million) in relation to share-based payments is
charged to administrative expenses in profit or loss.

BE-T——F+tZA=1—
AIEFE  fEBRELEX
MBI - FH R FREET
(AR AR A i AR TR AT FATHE

FRN - BEROIFHRAZA
R¥ 1,100,000 (=ZF — %
F: AR®3,900,0007T) BER
BRANTRER—BNR -
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39. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

(ii) Share award scheme

39. R {F (&)
(i) BRDEBE2

The Company adopted a share award scheme (the “Share
Award Scheme”) on 3 December 2010. The purpose of
the Share Award Scheme is to recognise and reward the
contribution of the executives and employees (whether
serving full-time or part-time) and directors of the Group to
the growth and development of the Group through an award
of the shares of the Company. Pursuant to the Share Award
Scheme, the remuneration committee (the “Committee”)
shall oversee the operation of the Share Award Scheme
whereas a trustee shall be entrusted with the administration
of the Share Award Scheme. The Share Award Scheme
shall be valid and remain in force for a term of 10 years
commencing from the adoption date.

The Committee may, during the period of the Share Award
Scheme and at its absolute discretion, make awards to any
eligible participant and any number of eligible participants.
The eligibility of any eligible participant to an award shall be
determined by the Committee from time to time on the basis
of his contribution to the growth and development of the
Group.

During the year, the Share Award Scheme acquired
20,584,000 shares of the Company (2010: Nil) through
purchases on the open market. The total amount paid to
acquire the shares during the year was RMB31,718,000 (2010:
Nil).

As at 31 December 2011, no executives and employees and
directors of the Group has been granted shares under the
Share Award Scheme.

ARBAN-ZZE-—ZFTF+_A=ZBK
M—IB AR 10 SRR ET & ([ AR 1) 28 @) &t
2l1) o Rth RENFEIR B M RRBR
TARRGBHRG - BEELRBREREEH
NEEAE - BE(TwmE2BIHFE)
RESRAEENERRERMAED
MER - BEBERMDEBE - FHE
Be([ZZEe)aEEERN XD
FTEIRENE - WEAREXTATER
MEEENET & - IR RENEEIBRMAA
HREHSER M F -

R R B HIRA - ZZBEA
E2RBBREMNAER2EE REM
BEMAERZEERTRE - AK&
RERBENSHENER  BZE
BgkBRR2RER/AEENERLK
BRATELHERM TRETE -

FRN - ROEBEEBERMTS
HERR - Y2iE T A2 F]20,584,000% 8%
M(ZE—ZFF : T) - FRWERD
PRI IB % m A K #E31,718,0007T
(Z2—ZF:F)-

RZIB——F+-A=1+—0H  #HE
RIBR G RE TS AAERERNEE
ANE  EEREBERTRMD
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40. SHARE CAPITAL 40. R
Authorised and issued share capital EERBERITRA

At 31 December 2011 and 2010
R-E——FR-F-FF

+=A=+—R
The Group and the Company
REERARQE
No. of shares Amount
iabard= &5
(thousand) HKD'000
(FK&%) FHET
Authorised: VAT ¢
Ordinary shares of HKDO.1 each FREE0 BT TR 10,000,000 1,000,000

2011 2010
—E—-F —ZT-ZF
No. of shares No. of shares

of nominal of nominal

value of Nominal value of Nominal
HKDO.1each value of shares HKDO.1 each value of shares

BREE01ET BREHE. 1T
KRGS E RGEE oS IR EfE
(thousand) RMB’000 (thousand) RMB'000
(TR) ARBTT (Fh) AREFT

Issued and fully paid: BEAIRER :

At 1 January R—A—H 1,051,128 106,591 1,025,491 104,347

Bonus issue of ordinary shares BTE BRI 25,637 2,244

At 31 December R+ZA=+—H 1,051,128 106,591 1,051,128 106,591
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Aok 1 A 2 AR B

41. SHARE PREMIUM AND RESERVES

41. R sEBERFEE

(a) The Company (a) &AF
Capital reserves (undistributable)
Xl (FA2E)

Retained

Capital -convertible  -employee profits/

Share redemption  Contributed bonds equity share (accumulated
premium reserve surplus  component option losses) Total

&AHm - ERES REEH/
Rit&E fiff  EBBR  EENS -REEBRE (ZRER) it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTn ARMTr ARETR AR¥TR ARETR ARETn ARET:n

(note41(b))  (note 41(c)) (note (i)) (note 39)
(WEa1(b)  (RoEa1(c) (HiEG) (H339)
At1January 2010 R=Z-Z£-5-H 2,071,330 1,231 308,439 98,622 41,640 5175 2506437
Equity-settled share-based transactions  FELEZHRATHLS - - - - 3,899 - 3,899
Bonus issue of ordinary shares (note 40) - /7 E&IRAT & (Hi5H40) (2,244) - - - - - (2,44)
Repurchase of convertible bonds EOEAES - - - (98,622) - 14,903 (83,719
Dividends declared to equity holders B RER B AZ RS - - - - - (56,402 (56402)
Profit for the year ERRT - - - - - 189212 189212
At31December 2010 R-Z-BE+-B=1+-B 2,069,086 1,231 308439 - 45539 152888 2,577,183
Equity-settled share-based transactions  RIE&ZHRATHRS - - - - 1126 - 1126
Transfer from reserves EREEE - - - - (46,665) 46,665 -
Dividends declared to equityholders — BRREEBASRRE - - - - - (68,390) (68,390)
Loss for the year EEER - - - - - (147388)  (147388)
At31December 2011 WZE--E+ZB=+-0 2,069,086 1,231 308,439 - - (16225 2,362,531
Note (i):  The excess of the consolidated net assets represented by WaEG) : TR TRARBRM ZEAFE

the shares of the subsidiaries acquired over nominal value
of the shares issued by the Company in exchange under
the Reorganisation was transferred to the contributed

surplus account in the Company’s financial statements.

EBRBARANEARETL
UZBZEROEE L ZHE
BERARBDHBEHRRNDELZK
REHREK -
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41. SHARE PREMIUM AND RESERVES (Continued)

(b)

(9)

(d)

(e)

()

Share premium

The application of the share premium account is governed
by the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands. Under the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands (2007 Revision), the
funds in the share premium account of the Company are
distributable to the shareholders of the Company provided
that immediately following the date on which the dividend is
proposed to be distributed, the Company will be in a position
to pay off its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of
the business.

Capital redemption reserve

Capital redemption reserve represents the nominal value
of the shares repurchased which has been paid out of the
Company’s distributable reserves.

Merger reserves

The merger reserves represent the difference between the
Company's share of the nominal value of the paid-up capital
of the subsidiaries acquired over the nominal value of the
ordinary shares issued by the Company.

Revaluation reserve

The revaluation reserve relates to property reclassified
from owner-occupied to investment properties. For such
reclassifications, the cumulative increase in the fair value of
the property at the date of reclassification in excess of any
previous impairment losses is included in the revaluation
reserve.

PRC statutory reserves

Transfers from retained earnings to PRC statutory reserves
were made in accordance with the relevant PRC rules and
regulations and the articles of association of the Company’s
subsidiaries incorporated in the PRC and were approved by
the respective boards of directors. The statutory reserves
consist of:

(i) General reserve fund
Transfers from retained earnings to the general reserve
fund were made in accordance with the articles of
association of the Company’s subsidiaries and were
approved by the respective boards of directors.

For the entity concerned, the general reserve fund
can be used to cover previous years’ losses, if any, and
may be converted into capital in proportion to equity
holders’ existing equity holdings, provided that the
balance after such conversion is not less than 25% of
their registered capital.

41. R RERGEE(Z)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

5=
BOEERNBAXFASESEARE
RE BREFRERERARE(ZE
TEFBFIAR)  ARERMEER
MESA DK FARBRIR - HERE
DK EER®R - ARRIMBAGRE
BEAEXGTOIHES -

EREE B
AREE R DR AR IR
B2 BERAEE -

B
AU REEBERIKBAR R T RROM
RRAEEEANR R ETHLBRE
fEHZE -

Efh#EAE
EMFHESHTOBRAREMENAE
AMEER - BREEFVEME -
MERIAREBEREFH BB HRNRG
iR EA TR ERENEES AR
-

FERE B
BRI B R E D EAE AR
155 W o B A B K B AR B A o
B MR T A RO ERMEAET -
VREBEEEHE - AEHER
i

(i) ZEBRBRLES
mMRZENBEEEETRRA
BENRERRBFARNE
RARNET TEZAESFS
HEAE

HREBORRME @ EERK
~EE A BERE LFEEE
(%) - MARBERSE AR
R B 15 B L 19 51 R R AR AR - HE
RBRESTIFINEMER
#925% ©

T —FFH 225
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41. SHARE PREMIUM AND RESERVES (Continued)

(f)

(9)

(h)

()

PRC statutory reserves (Continued)

(ii)  Enterprise expansion fund
Transfers from retained earnings to the enterprise
expansion fund were made in accordance with the
articles of association of the Company’s subsidiaries
and were approved by the respective boards of
directors.

For the entity concerned, the enterprise expansion fund
can be used for business development purposes and for
working capital purpose. This fund is non-distributable
other than upon liquidation. Transfers to this fund must
be made before distribution of dividends to the equity
holders.

Translation reserve

The translation reserve comprises all foreign currency
differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign operations. The reserve is dealt with in
accordance with the accounting policy set out in note 3(b)(ii).

Distributable reserve

As at 31 December 2011 the aggregate amount of
reserves available for distribution to equity shareholders
of the Company was RMB2,362,531,000 (2010:
RMB2,531,644,000).

Capital management

The Group’s primary objective in managing capital is to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
so that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders
and benefits for other stakeholders, by pricing products and
services commensurate with the level of risks and by securing
access to finance at a reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its
capital structure to maintain a balance between the higher
shareholders returns that might be possible with higher levels
of borrowing and the advantages and security afforded by a
sound capital position, and makes adjustments to the capital
structure in light of changes in economic conditions.

41. R BERREEE)

(f)

(9)

(h)

()

REEE R E(E)

(i) CEBRES
HRBENEEECERRE
EPRBEAARNTFARAMER
WANETT  TRSABEEGH
o

REENRARIME  CE#HR
AU REXHERREEER
Z - BBERI ZEETAD
& o B REBNEBREEZE
S A RBAER A AD RS

BE 5 fré

S R BB A R EIRINEBD
MBREAMELWINEEZE - LA
ETIIRIBHTEE3 ()P E A & 5T IR
I8 o

A 7k
RZF——F+ZA=1+—8 A%
RFPARBRENEESBEAAR
#£2,362,531,0007T (ZZ—FF : A
[R#2,531,644,0007T) °

EXEE
AREEREAZEEBBEIRER
SEENEERERBECEEEL
2 femEREmEBK TR ZE
A M AR TS TE (8 A K 15 A FE R AN #) Rl
B FEABRRAEDR R AEMH
SRR E R AR o

AEBERG R ERHERNRBETR
HMER  NERSBERDRIERT
AREHEZ BRREEKFERRNE
GRS PR B 4T R AR B 2 ER 1S F
> TRESERRENELHEARAR
BIEHEE
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41.

42.

o BB e B

SHARE PREMIUM AND RESERVES (Continued)

(i) Capital management (Continued)
Consistent with industry practice, the Group monitors its
capital structure on the basis of a net debt-to-adjusted equity
ratio. For this purpose the Group defines net debt as total
debt (including interest-bearing loans, senior notes, long-
term payable, trade, other payables and advance receipts)
plus unaccrued proposed dividends, less cash and cash
equivalents and restricted cash. Adjusted capital comprises all
components of equity less unaccrued proposed dividends.

The net debt-to-adjusted equity ratio as at 31 December 2011
was 287% (2010: 288%). There were no changes in the
Group's approach to capital management during the year.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to
externally imposed capital requirements.

FINANCIAL GUARANTEES

The Group has arranged mortgage loan facilities for certain
purchasers of property units and provided financial guarantees
to secure obligations of such purchasers for repayments. The
outstanding guarantees amounted to RMB1,173,608,000 as at
31 December 2011 (2010: RMB819,864,000). Such guarantees
terminate upon the earlier of (i) the issuance of the real estate
ownership certificate which will generally be available within six
months after the buyer takes possession of the relevant properties;
and (ii) the satisfaction of the mortgaged loan by the buyer of the
properties.

In the opinion of directors of the Company, the fair values of the
financial guarantee contracts of the Group are insignificant at initial
recognition and the directors consider the possibility of default by
the parties involved to be remote. Accordingly, no value has been
recognised in the balance sheet as at 31 December 2011.

41.

42.

A E R (E)
(i) EXERHE)
RIEFTEED) - RRELUE R B

AEERE R IEREEEAEBNE
%o Al ZISE@aEQE@ EEBRBE
B (REFEER  BEER - RH
BT - FEERAR - HAFERTFRIE R
TEUGRIE) IR EE & 2 BRI BOR &
RekBEEEMRIRGES - &
ABERBEERZ BB RER
EEZHEIRRE

%:%——$+*Hi+—a-%%
B AR R A287% (=
TE 1 288%) ° FRA M.%lZé%
BRI ERRE o

AR B Sk H AR F R B ER SR
MEERERRTEFIRR °

MBER

REBME RIS MESNNE S REILBE
o UHZEETNERETREV B E
ReRZE—F+ZA=1+—8 2EH
WERAARK1,173,608,0005T (ZF—
T 0 ARBES19,864,0007T) ° ZFHER

%DATFEE@F'Elﬂt C()BEHEHEMARE
BE CREESHAERMERNEAN

) B R>VDEBE T EBRIBERE -

ARBEERR  AREUBERAEONE
REBHNAAEBERE MEERREH
FIHVTRAME RSN - At - WER —F
——Ft+-A=t—HNEERBERTER
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43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 43. €T A

The Group conducts its operations in the PRC and accordingly is
subject to special considerations and significant risks. These include
risks associated with, among others, the political, economic and
legal environment, influence of national authorities over pricing
regulation and competition in the industry.

The Group has exposure to the following risks from its use of
financial instruments:

. credit risk

o liquidity risk

. market risk (including interest rate risk, currency risk and
equity price risk)

This note presents information about the Group’s exposure to each
of the above risks, and the Group's objectives, policies and processes
for measuring and managing risk.

Management has overall responsibility for the establishment and
oversight of the Group's risk management framework. Management
establishes policies to identify and analyse the risks faced by the
Group, to set up appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor
risks and adherence to limits. Risk management policies and systems
are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and
the Group’s activities. Through training and management standards
and procedures, management aims to develop a disciplined and
constructive control environment in which all employees understand
their roles and obligations.

(a) Creditrisk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a
customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to
meet its contractual obligations, and arises principally from
the Group's trade and other receivables and investments.

The Group’s management has a credit policy in place and
exposure to credit risk is monitored on an ongoing basis.

REBEPRELEY  RAIKERER

BEARBEE  HBhBREEA - KFERES

RS BZXRBERERENNTZERITE
$§H[§uu o

REEFERNSMTAEBUTRER

s [FERR
o RBMERMR

. mERER (BEMERE SRS
MERERRR)

AW 25 ARA SR s B -
AEENEE BRI R R
EREER -

ﬂ%@%ﬁéﬁf@ﬂi%ﬁ%ﬁﬁ@’ﬂ,@
UE - BIRERNBCRR A T BB
$‘$IEE€E’\JJ‘L b - WRREEEHRBR G
%D% Il B LA BE 4 [ »"EEEEBE%'J%@.W °
BB IR BR R R AAT B TR R
miﬁfﬁi,a&$%l%$%>ﬁﬁﬂﬁm1t EIRE
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43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(a)

Credit risk (Continued)

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade, other
receivables and advance deposits. In respect of trade and
other receivables, individual credit evaluations are performed
on each new customer. The Group’s review includes external
ratings, when available, and in some cases bank references.
These evaluations focus on the customer’s liquidity to make
payments when due and current ability to pay, and take
into account information specific to the customer as well
as pertaining to the economic environment in which the
customer operates. Customers are generally required to
transact with the Group on a prepayment basis. The Group
generally offers no credit terms to customers and does not
usually obtain collateral from customers.

The Group's exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the
individual characteristics of each customer. The default risk of
the industry and country in which customers operate also has
influences on credit risk, but to a lesser extent. At the balance
sheet date, the Group had a certain concentration of credit
at 63% (2010: 83%) of the total trade, other receivables and
advance deposits arising from the Group’s deposits for land
acquisition. These deposits will be transferred to the cost of
properties under development upon the Group obtaining the
relevant land use rights.

The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the
carrying amount of each financial asset, including derivative
financial instruments, in the balance sheet after deducting any
impairment allowance. Except for the financial guarantees
given by the Group as set out in note 42, the Group does
not provide any other guarantees which would expose the
Group or the Company to credit risk. The maximum exposure
to credit risk in respect of these financial guarantees at the
balance sheet date is disclosed in note 42.

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the Group's
exposure to credit risk arising from trade, other receivables
and advance deposits are set out in note 28.

Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash are placed
with a group of banks and financial institutions which
management considers have good credit ratings. Investments
are normally only in liquid securities quoted on a recognised
stock exchange and management does not expect any
investment counterparty to fail to meet its obligations.

43. EMIA(E)

(a)

EERR(E)
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43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 43. TRTRA(EZ)

(b) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to
meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Group's
policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity requirements and
its compliance with lending covenants, to ensure that it
maintains sufficient reserves of cash and adequate committed
lines of funding from banks to meet its liquidity requirements
in the short and longer term.

The following table details the remaining contractual
maturities at the balance sheet of the Group's non-
derivative financial liabilities, which are based on contractual
undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments
computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based on
rates current at the balance sheet date) and the earliest date
the Group can be required to pay:

Undiscounted

Carrying

31 December 2011 amount
“E-—%+-F=1-H REE
RMB'000

ARETT

AR - RAERTR

Trade, other payables and

advancereceipts excluding  RIENFUBETBER

advance receipts from WEEZERE R

customersand other taxes 478

payable 6,518,734
Unsecured interest-bearing &zt S &

loans 200,000
Secured interest-bearing loans A #1B2t 5 &2 6,052,305
Senior notes BEER 1,231,418
Long-term payable REENH 45,997

14,048,454

contractual
cash flow
REBRE
ARRERE
RMB'000
ARET T

(6,518,734)

(233,370)
(6.715,039)
(1,985,765)

(66,000) (6,000) (6,000)

(15,518,908)

(b) RENEREER
RBERRSAEEERHAE LR
THYBERFNRR - AREHEK
REMEZERDESTENETHE
RRONBER - BRESTRORS
RERCRITESRANDITORE
#HE  NWENASEEHIREHN

TERFAMNEREBAREITESR
BEETEAAENIRER - %
BRINAMBRASRE (BREEREH
MEH (HETE) SEAZERMEK
SEHFENR) RAKEREE
MR & F BB RELEED

Within 1

year oron

Within 2

years but

Within 5
years but Over5
demand  over1year
Ak WER
RER  E-FUE
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR  ARMTR

over 2 years years
REHR
BRFSL
RMB'000
ARMTT

RENE
RMB'000
AREFR

(6,018,715) (500,019)
(20,055)
(2.852,461)
(170,124)

(213,315) - -
(2:482,508) (797,543) (582,527)
(170,124)  (1,645,517) -
(18,000) (36,000)

(9,067,355)

(3,371,966)  (2,461,060) (618,527)



BEEM (R BARAF

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ok BV 25 R B

43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(b) Liquidity risk (Continued)

43. T R(#E)
(b) REMRER(Z)

Undist

Carrying

31 December 2010 amount

counted

contractual
cash flow

AHHE

e e R
RMB’000 R
ABRT

Trade, other payablesand ~ FEfTERE: » EftfEN R

AN ERE

MB'000

ARETT

Within 1
year or on
demand
—ER
REX
RMB'000
AEBTT

Within 2
years but

Within 5
years but Over5
over 1 year years
MER
B—FM0E
RMB'000

ARETT

over 2 years
REHA
{BREIA £
RMB'000
AREFT

BEE
RMB'000
ARBTT

advance receipts excluding  REMFEET AR

advance receipts from W ERER LR

customersand other taxes  (TE

payable 4,810,015 (4,810,015) (4,733,913) (76,102) - -
Unsecured interest-bearing BT 8 &5

loans 630,000 (740,464) (61,200) (679,264) - -
Secured interest-bearing loans Mt 8 &5 5252080  (6,063722)  (1,810910)  (1,495320)  (1,891,348) (866,144)
Long-term payable REENT 48,738 (72,000) (6,000) (6,000) (18,000) (42,000)

10,740,833 (11,686,201) (6,612,023) (2,256,686) (1,909,348) (908,144)
(c) Interest rate risk (c) FIRE

The Group's interest rate risk arises primarily from interest-
bearing loans, convertible bonds, interest rate swaps, cash
and cash equivalents and restricted cash.

Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash comprise
mainly cash at bank, with an interest rate of 0.50% per
annum as at 31 December 2011 (2010: 0.36% per annum).
Pledged bank deposits and time deposits maturing after three
months are not held for speculative purposes but are placed
to satisfy conditions for borrowing facilities granted to the
Group and for higher yield returns than cash at bank.

The Group’s variable rate borrowings are exposed to a risk
of change in cash flows due to changes in interest rates. The
interest rates and terms of repayment of the interest-bearing
loans and senior notes are disclosed in notes 33 and 36.

AEEMFEARTIBZREFTEER
o ATEIRES MRS BER
ReSEYRIRERE -

RekREEBYREZRIIBEEE
BETER R-Z——%+_-H4
=+—RESFMNEXR0SE (=ZF
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43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 43. TRTRA(EZ)
(c) Interestrate risk (Continued) (c) FEmEE)
The Group manages the net exposure to interest rate risks AEFRBARS R EHEEEE G
by maintaining sufficient lines of credit to obtain acceptable EHERAEATESKE R BBEE
lending costs and by monitoring the exposure to such risks B 1002y 2 I [ S TR K RSB ELS o fE
on anongoing basis. When appropriate and at times of TR R YFRAAREEEE - Al A
interest rate uncertainty or volatility, interest rate swaps may {85 F ) R 45 HA 177 B A £ [B) 5 38 I SR A
be used to assist in the Group’s management of interest rate % o
exposure.
(i) Interestrate profile (i) FI=ER
The following table details the interest rate profile of THRIEMAEE QA REELS S
the Group's interest-bearing borrowings at the balance EEHFRBR
sheet date:

2011 2010
—g--% —F-F
Effective Effective
interest rate interest rate

ERFE BEH%
% RMB'000 % RMB'000
AR¥TR ARETT

Fixed rate borrowings EEF|Z& %
Secured interest-bearing BT B EH

loans 12.98% 2,131,000 13.71% 674,000
Unsecured interest- EIRFTBER

bearing loans 10.00% 200,000 9.71% 630,000
Senior notes BEER 14.257% 1,231,418 - -

3,562,418 1,304,000

Variable rate AEFIEEE

borrowings
Secured interest-bearing BT B EH

loans 3,921,305 4.67% 4,578,080

Total borrowings gt 7,483,723 5,882,080

Fixed rate borrowingsas  ElE M| REEHEE
apercentageof total A DL

borrowings 22%
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43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 43. ERMIA(H)
(c) Interestrate risk (Continued) (c) FERREBEE)
(i)  Sensitivity analysis (i) BREDIM
The Group does not account for any fixed rate financial ANEBIEE IR AL BEHE
assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. RIEXEENEFEN RS REE
Therefore, a change in interest rates at the reporting RERE - Bt - RiREEEeF
date would not affect profit or loss. RGBT E LI o
A change of 100 basis points in interest rates applicable AR HHAA & H R T B A EF
to variable rate instruments at the reporting date would EEEE) 1 00(E B S R, Gl
have increased/(decreased) equity and profit or loss by D) X RIE  AERT
the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that * o RO BRFFE M ERE
all other variables, in particular foreign currency rates, = (EHBHINEER) R
remain constant. The analysis is performed on the same o — T —TENDITIRMARE
basis asin 2010. HEMELT o

Profit or (loss) Equity
BRI (EE) i
100 bp 100 bp 100 bp 100 bp
increase decrease increase decrease

BMI00EER  EO100EER HMI00EER AP 100EER
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARBTT ARBTT

31 December 2011

—E——F
tZA=t-H

Variable rate AEFETA
instruments (29,410) 29,410 (29,410)

31December 2010 =Z—%F
+=A=t+—-H
Variable rate AEFETA
instruments (34,336) 34,336 (34,336) 34,336
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43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 43. €T RE(4Z)
(d) Currency risk (d) E¥EBs

Renminbi is not freely convertible into foreign currencies. All
foreign exchange transactions involving Renminbi must take
place through the People’s Bank of China or other institutions
authorised to buy and sell foreign exchange. The exchange
rates adopted for the foreign exchange transactions are the
rates of exchange quoted by the People’s Bank of China and
are determined largely by supply and demand.

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk primarily
through borrowings and senior notes that are denominated
inacurrency other than the functional currency of the
operations to which they relate. The currencies in which
these transactions primarily are denominated are Hong Kong
Dollars (HKD) and United States Dollars (USD).

In respect of the monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies, the Group ensures that the net
exposures to this risk is kept to an acceptable level by buying
or selling foreign currencies at spot rates where necessary to
address short-term imbalances. Management does not enter
into currency hedging transactions since it considers that
the cost of such instruments outweighs the potential risk of
exchange rate fluctuations.

ARBETABRLBRINEG - AW
RAREWINER ZRBBTEAR
RITH R EEITINEE T
BETT - INER B ERMNER TP E
ARBRITAMAOE R (EERHKE

E)

&£

o

REBAZINERR  TEBBIAE
B EBEAIMNER (EIsEE
B sHENEERELARE - ZF
RPEBFHENER RABTTRET °

BHELINEENEREERBE
REBRBULER AR EEREF I
B BREFEBRBEREZAIK
1‘%%%%%$1@°5@%E%
EITEBHARS  REAREEER
Bt S T A MR = A R R 8 2

R
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43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(d) Currency risk (Continued)

(0]

Exposure to currency risk

The following table details the Group’s exposure at

the balance sheet date to currency risk arising from

recognised assets or liabilities denominated in a

currency other than the functional currency of the

entity based on notional amounts.

31 December 2011

Trade, other receivables and

FEU AR~ E b EUTIR 2

43.

EMIAE)
(d) EWRERE)
() HEEB

TRAMASENGEEREER
EHRARBERERE NERIE
BRI ERFHENEERR

BERNEERR -

—2——f+=-A=+-AH

BT

T

696
8,683
11,367

(2,149)

(3,975)
(500,000)

advance deposits EffiEe

Cash and cash equivalents ReMBSEEY

Restricted cash ZRHIEE

Senior notes BERE

Financial derivatives MEemIA

Trade, other payables and FERTERFR - HibERFRE R
advance receipts TEM IR

Interest-bearing borrowings it EEE

Overall exposure REYEN

(485,378)

31 December 2010

usD
E
"000
Tr

8,300
14,009

(195,435)

(6,277)
(39,100)

(218,503)

—E-ZTF+-_F=+—H

Trade, other receivables and

FEUER R ~ E At UK K

advance deposits TEffiES 10,246 13,000
Cash and cash equivalents RENIREZEY 18,892 3,861
Financial derivatives MEemIA 625 -
Trade, other payables and JERBRIR - HibER FRE R

advance receipts Tl R IE (3,983) 9
Interest-bearing borrowings it BEE (500,000) (169,850)
Overall exposure AR (474,220) (152,998)
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43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 43. €MIT HE(Z)
(d) Currency risk (Continued) (d) E¥mEba4E)
(i)  Exposure to currency risk (Continued) (i) E¥EEmE)
The following significant exchange rates applied during UTABENERAHTIEER
the year:
Average rates Reporting date spot rate
THEE REANREER
2011 2010 2011 2010
—E—-F —T-TF —Z2—-F —T-IF
0.8308 0.8107
6.4618 6.3009
(i) Sensitivity analysis (i) BEBEDN

The following table indicates the approximate change TRET  WARBEHUTAS
in the Group's profit and other components of EREERERBMNINEFAE
consolidated equity in response to a 5% strengthening 5% @ NEBEAGEF RIS S
of the RMB against the foreign currencies to which the EMEy BB EB) o NOMTE
Group had exposure at the balance sheet date. This REREE B RAESEIREMIN
analysis assumes that the reasonably possible change MEREE)  TOFEALEEE
in foreign exchange rates had occurred at the balance BEENZAGFENEMIAEE
sheet date and had been applied to each for the B - BFrEEMAE#RE (L
Group entities’ exposure to currency risk for financial HEME) REPE - —T——
instruments in existence at that date, and that all other FRAWIEERELEET

variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant.
The analysis is performed on the same basis for 2011.

Profit or (loss)
AR (E5IE)
2011 2010

—g——%  —T-2F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARMFT  ARRTR

BT 12,906
usbD ES 51,629 37,997
A 5% weakening of the RMB against the above MARERt+ZA=+—HK L
currencies at 31 December would have had the equal MEEZES% - AJ¥ Fll e
but opposite effect on the above currencies to the BEERSR RSB ERRAM
amounts shown above, on the basis that all other VRE - RERMTAEEMAIEEE

variables remain constant. (RIZTEE o
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43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(e) Fairvalues

(i)

Financial instruments carried at fair value

The following table presents the carrying value of
financial instruments measured at fair value at the
balance sheet date across the three levels of the fair
value hierarchy defined in IFRS 7, Financial Instruments:
Disclosure, with the fair value of each financial
instrument categorised in its entirety based on the
lowest level of input that is significant to that fair value
measurement. The levels are defined as follows:

o Level 1 (highest level): fair values measured using
quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical financial instruments.

. Level 2: fair values measured using quoted prices
in active markets for similar financial instruments,
or using valuation techniques in which all
significant inputs are directly or indirectly based
on observable market data.

o Level 3 (lowest level): fair values measured using
valuation techniques in which any significant
input is not based on observable market data.

43. SRTR(Z)
(e) DAEE

(i)

UARBEIRZEHMIA
TREFNEE ATERR IR R
SREANETRI 2B TA - K
PRI EZ AR BE=ZBRET
BAnBEFEZEMIAZE
EE m&EERMIAEZAAEE
NEZARBEAEBEAZR
EERBABURMEBRESE -
SEZRBRIT

o FEBR(&EBER MK
BREmIAERNERTS
FrmER (CREFHE)GE
NAfEE -

o FBIER:AELERT
ARERTISME - A
HERMEFREEX
BABUR T EESEE A
AEEMSEIERA)

EQfnEE-

o FZER&EEER)
HEXMEFRBEEX
BABBDY IR BET
LEEBRN)HERIARE
(@ o
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43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 43. ST A (%E&)
(e) Fair values (Continued) (e) ARAEBHEE)
(i) Financialinstruments carried at fair value i) URAAEBEIEZEMIA
(Continued) (%)
201m - &

The Group
AEH

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

E-BR F-EBX F=ER st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBT R AR®TR ARBTR

Assets BE

Equity securities held  ##EE BEHRAEH
for trading

Other available-for-sale  H b A it £ ERE
investment

Liabilities &85

Financial derivatives ~ $T4 4@ TE

The Company
VN

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F—BR FB/IR E=BR #st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR AR¥TR AR¥BTR ARBT T

Assets gE
Financial derivatives  $THSRTE
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43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 43. ERIT E (&)
(e) Fair values (Continued) (e) DABEE)
(i) Financial instruments carried at fair value (i) UDAAEBEIEzZE®mIA
(Continued) (#&)
2010 —E-BF
The Group
AEE
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F—ER FZER F=ER e
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTT ARBTFT ARBTFT
Assets &E
Equity securitiesheld  #{EE BRI AEH
for trading 16,115 - - 16,115
Financial derivatives ~ $TH SR TE - 625 - 625

16,115 625 - 16,740

The Company

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

FER F_BR FZRBR @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT

Assets BE
Financial derivatives ~ £T4 4T E - - - -

During the year there were no significant transfers F-—EREE_ERzIAZHE
between instruments in Level 1 and Level 2. EF R EEE REEHE o
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43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 43. E@IT E (&)
(e) Fair values (Continued) (e) AREE(E)
(ii) Fairvalues of financial instruments carried at (i) YHFUAAEEIEZERT
other than fair value B
The fair values of financial instruments carried at cost RZF——FR-F-FTF+=
or amortised cost as at 31 December 2011 and 2010, A=+ — B ARASE AT
together with the carrying amounts shown in the R EERBERNSRMTA

ZRRBEREEERNT

consolidated balance sheet, are as follows:

2011 2010
S =

Carrying amount Fair value Carrying amount Fair value

SRE{E NAEE fRAE RAEE

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

AR¥TT AR¥TT ARETT AREFT

Long-term receivable REEKH 939,672 939,672 939,672 939,672
Available-for-sale ARinERREE
financial assets 14,032 14,032 13,032 13,032
Trade, other receivablesand ~ FEUMCEEZT - {0 JEIE
advance depositsexcluding  ERBEMEEETE
tax prepayments ERATE 2,202,029 2,202,029 3,017,541 3,017,541
Restricted cash TREES 1,307,467 1,307,467 1,985,536 1,985,536
Cashand cashequivalents & RBELZEN 1,645,026 1,645,026 1,514,439 1,514,439
Trade, other payables and ENER - HHERR
advance receipts exduding  ERBRFEETR

advance receipts from ERUEFHERE

customersand other taxes  bfE(TIE

payable (6,518,734) (6,518,734) (4,810,015) (4,810,015)
Interest-bearing loans FEER (6,252,305) (6,252,305) (5,882,080) (5,882,080)
Long-term payable REENR (45,997) (45,997) (48,738) (48,738)

Senior notes BAEE (1,231,418) (1,231,418) - -
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43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Estimation of fair values

(f)

Fair value estimates are made at a specific point in time and

based on relevant market information and information about

the financial instrument. These estimates are subjective in

nature and involve uncertainties and matters of significant

judgment and therefore cannot be determined with precision.

Changes in assumptions could significantly affect the

estimates.

The following methods and assumptions were used to

estimate the fair value for each class of financial instruments:

0]

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, trade,
other receivables and advance deposits and trade,
other payables and advance receipts

The carrying values approximate fair value because of
the short maturities of these instruments.

Equity securities held for trading

Fair value is based on quoted market prices at the
balance sheet date without any deduction for
transaction costs.

Interest-bearing loans

The carrying amounts of bank loans approximate
their fair value based on the borrowing rate currently
available for bank loans with similar terms and maturity.

Long-term receivable and long-term payable

The fair values of long-term receivable and long-term
payable are estimated as the present value of future
cash flows, discounted at the market rate of interest at
the reporting date.

43, €T E(#E)
(f) AREEME

R EEGEEE B ERREIZ
HEATSENEERZERTANE
BimiEL - ARZSEHAAELET
B B RTHBEREEE RKZE
MARBHE  BERT—E+HE
T o (ERR LW EE) - et eH
HERTEEERTE -

CLEs EIES =
AT s R

B2 EERKRA

() RERREZEY - ZTRER
- EWRR - b WA
REMEE - BARMK - Hit
A SRE R B RE
mRNZETASERYRES
HAREER QA EERT -

(i) BEXZENHREIFS

ANABEDBREREEBHRT
B (THRERRSKA) 5
(=}

s
o
Ea

(iii) FREX
RIBRE AR B R 2R
BERRITEROEERNE - R
TEFRNEEEER A EER
i o

(iv) REIBWRRRBENSK
REIE Y R R AR A R
BEERRRSRENREET
st WL 2B BT 5T
AR -

—E—FFR 24
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43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Estimation of fair values (Continued)

(f)

(v)

(vi)

Derivative financial instruments

An external independent valuation company, with
appropriate recognised professional qualifications,
values the Company’s senior notes at each balance
sheet date. Appropriate valuation methods and
assumptions with reference to market conditions
existing at each balance sheet date to determine the
fairvalue of the embedded financial derivative of
the senior notes that is separated from the host debt
contract are adopted. The basis for determining the fair
value is disclosed in note 36.

The Group relies on the valuations provided by financial
institutions to determine the fair values of the interest
rate swaps based on the discounted cash flow analysis
using the applicable yield curve over the duration of
the instruments. Judgment is required for the variables
used in arriving at these fair values.

Financial guarantees

The fair value of financial guarantees issued is
determined by reference to fees chargedin arms’
length transaction for similar services, when such
information is obtainable, or is otherwise estimated by
reference to interest rate differentials, by comparing
the actual rates charged by lenders when the guarantee
is made available with the estimated rates that lenders
would have charged, had the guarantees not been
available, where reliable estimates of such information
can be made. The basis for determining the fair value is
disclosed in note 42.

43. €@ T HE (&)

DN AEEMF(E)

(f)

(v)

(vi)

fTESRMIA
REEEREBXRA - —HINDE
SDRERTT (RBERTTABE
BERACEXER) HART]
B ERBETTE - ARFF
ETBEUREEBANNELR
BOBRARTESRTAN AR
EBEMSRREEERERAN
RITH R NE E (h (BT AR
Ra& - BEAABEMHEERH
FE364KEE -

AEBKEHSBEBIRMAN
E - NEERRTRRESR
ESMEEFSENANXRHR
REEEIAFHANERER
MU ES AR ) - BHIEFEAR(E
{EFT R R 805 I i P I

B ER

BERHMBRERROAAEBELZ
BRI A R Bl E AR DL AR 75 PR
B RAmEE (MRS HEER
B - 2B EEB e
B E B AR ERER TR
BAERFE - BEAEEER
1850 T AT UCER B9 F) 3 4 HH EE R
(Hnpedt BRI E RHEL AT S04
i) BE AR EEEERM
FEA2HIEE -
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43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 43. EMIT R (E)
(f) Estimation of fair values (Continued) f) AAEEMETE)
(vii) Interest rates used for determining fair value (vii) AEEEQARAEBEZRIER
The interest rates used to discount estimated cash BB EA RS e (3
flows, when applicable, are based on the government ) WiRIRNERE B R TZE
yield curve at the reporting date plus an adequate credit B EEnEE s E A
spread, and were as follows: EMFIEAT

2011

—E——F
REA UK 7.13% 7.13%

Long-term receivable

Long-term payable REAFER R 6.90% 6.90%
Interest-bearing loans FAFEER o 1.30%-14.00%

Senior notes BREEE 14.257% N/AZTiE F
44. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS 44, KREHEFRE
(i) Leases as lessee (i) EAEREANEE
Non-cancellable operating lease rentals are payable as TR BN ETREEN A TR S A
follows: miESmT

2011 2010

—=E——F —E=-TF

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT T ARBFT
Less than one year 10,274
Between one and five years —FERF 2,662

Total X8 12,936

The leases, in respect of office rental charges, run for a period mRNEHERATBEENHEEERST
within five years. AIfEH ©
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44. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

(Continued)

(ii) Leases as lessor
The Group leases out its properties, which include investment
properties and completed properties held for sale leased out
on a temporary basis, under operating leases. The future
minimum lease payments under non-cancellable leases are as
follows:

Less than one year

44, REHERIE(E

(i) FREBANEE
FERBHEEHENANE 28
BANMEREHHENDRRFEY
¥ - REFTHEHESRBRAT
AR ER ) B (4 SR FE E SR T

2011 2010
—g——5 —T-TF

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®ET T ARETT

41,962 29,099
172,634 117,646
234,090 235,998

Between one and five years —FERF
More than five years HBiEAF
Total &5t

448,686 382,743

For the year ended 31 December 2011, RMB36,430,000 (2010:
RMB29,069,000) was recognised as rental income in respect
of investment properties in profit or loss.

45. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

MEERED

Property development activities:

BE-F—FT-A=T-ALEE-

ERBREMECAZEIANESWARA

R ¥ 36,430,000 (ZZE—ZTF : AR
29,069,0007T) ©

45, B AEIE

2011 2010
—2—-%  -T-TF

RMB’000 RMB'000
AR® TR ARETT

3,445,465 3,094,452
2,174,828 3,122,908

— Contracted but not provided for — BETAERERE
— Authorised but not contracted for — BEREEXRETY
Total of property development L E Y
Joint venture interests AEPEER

5,620,293 6,217,360

50,000

Total A&t

5,670,293 6,217,360
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46. RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Particulars of significant transactions between the Group and certain

46. BEALTRS
AEERETHEAT (AAFBSEREE
AIHETEEAFEE) HEARZFIEN

in a position to exercise significant influence are as follows: T

related parties in which a director or shareholder of the Company is

(@) During the year ended 31 December 2011, () RBZ=-Z2——%+=A

transactions with the following parties were
considered as related-party transactions:

Name of party

BRALTER

=+—HLEFE > EUTAL
ETHXERBEBEALX
3

Relationship

%

—Mr. Wang Weixian

-TERESE

— Starwaly Properties (Group) Pty Ltd. (“SPG")

—Shanghai ZhongXin

- HERE

— Shenzhen Huibo Investment Development
Company Limited (“Huibo"”)

-ANTEFRERRARAT ( [EF] )

— Peninsula Waitan

-INEY B

— Prestige Glory Enterprises Limited (“Prestige Glory”)

—Boom Rich Investment Limited (“Boom Rich")

— SPG Investment Holdings Limited (“SPG Investment”)

The founding equity holder and Chairman
of the Company; Controlling shareholder
of the Company's ultimate holding company
RRBBIPHREREE ARERE © RRBINELIERA
AR AR R

Controlled by Mr. Wang Weixian
HEREBEEEES

An associate of the Company

KA BB A A

A minority equity holder of Sipo Education

BEHAENLEBESAA

50% indirectly owned by Delta Link
FADelta Link &l #H50%

Equity holder of the Company
and owned by Mr. Wang Weixian
RARREREARBERE R ERS

Equity holder of the Company
and owned by Ms. Wang Xuling
RABIBREREARBERELLHESR

Equity holder of the Company
and owned by Mr. Wang Weixian
RARBREHEARREREERERS
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46. RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS 46. BBEALT RS (&)

(Continued)

(@) During the year ended 31 December 2011, @) RB8zz==——+=A4
transactions with the following parties were =t+—HULEEE > HUTAL
considered as related-party transactions: ETHXREHREBEBEBE AL
(Continued) 5 (&)

Name of party Relationship

BERALEE BEF

—Tianyuan Lifeng and its subsidiaries Jointly controlled group of companies of the Group
(collectively as “Tianyuan Lifeng Group”)

—RRFEREFAT (578 [RRFZEE] ) REE QR A HFEEHIEE

— Wauxi Taihu Xincheng Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. A minority equity holder of Wuxi Xindu
("Taihu Xincheng”)
—EHTAORTRERIREETRARAR EIHFTE N L BEAER A A
(TR )

— Shanghai Zhaozhi An associate of the Group
— LE3HE AREEEE AT

— Peninsula Shanghai (BVI) Ltd. (“Peninsula BVI") An associate of the Group
AREBEEE AT

(b) Recurring transactions (b) BEXRS

2011 2010
—g——%  —T-2F

RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT ARBETT

Pre-sale of properties:

BEME

Wang Xuling TRE 4,048
Receipt of accommodation services: Y EU{ETE AR -

Peninsula Waitan SNEF S 6,710
Financing cost: BRERKAN

Huibo g 381
Leasing service: THERT

Shanghai Zhongxin HERE
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46. RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)
(b) Recurring transactions (Continued)

(c)

Expenses and costs of the above transactions were charged
based on the services rendered between the related
parties and in accordance with the terms of the underlying
agreements.

The directors of the Company are of the opinion that
the above related-party transactions were conducted on
normal commercial terms and were priced with reference
to prevailing market prices, and in the ordinary course of
business.

Balances with related parties
As at the end of 2011, the Group had the following balances
with related parties:

Non-trade balances due from related & Ui 838 A + E fh g

46. BEBEALTXRB (&

(b)

(c)

parties (note 28): WsRIB & A (T 5E28) -

Peninsula Waitan HNEEF B

Mr. Wang Weixian and his close FEER A REAR

family members

Prestige Glory Prestige Glory

Boom Rich Boom Rich

SPG Investment SPG Investment

Tianyuan Lifeng RIRHNE

Shanghai Zhaozhi FBEE

Shanghai Zhongxin FERE

Peninsula BVI Peninsula BVI
Long-term receivable due from FEUR R A TR HA B UK

related parties (note 29): (FFE29) -

Tianyuan Lifeng Group KRR E%EE

REXS (&)

MR SHAL KA REMEAL
2 RIIR R0 BR 5 K278 7 15 28 16k 3Kl
B e

ARABEER R LABEALRRHZ
—REEGTETT  XBEAEEHR
BREPERMEETER -

BRRAE A T A ER
BE_T——FEK AEEEMEA
TR

2011 2010
—g——5  —T-TF

RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBTT

891

72 969
8 8
12 12
27 29

75,600 -
26,465 -
652 -

40 -

939,672 939,672

1,042,895 941,581




248 SPG Land (Holdings) Limited ~Annual Report 2011

S

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ok BV 25 e B

46. RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)

(c) Balances with related parties (Continued)
Long-term receivable due from Tianyuan Lifeng Group is
unsecured and repayable by 10 annual instalments starting
from 30 June 2012.

Non-trade balances due to related A< B3 A + H At i
parties (note 34): NFRIB& R (HTEE34) ¢
SPG SPG

— dividends payable — AR A

— other payables — H MR
Huibo FE 1
Tianyuan Lifeng Group KRN EEE
Shanghai Zhaozhi BabisE-iE=s
Taihu Xincheng kiR

46. BEALTXF (&)

(0 ERBAEATHERR(E)
FEUR KR ) £ 5 B ) = ER AR T 2
ERRER B -—FX A=A
S8 (+F) B8 -

2011 2010
—E——f

—ET—TF
RMB’000
ARKETIT

RMB’000
ARBT R

9,173
4,051
6,930
128,900
4,030

2,522,273 2,522,000

ﬁim 2,675,084

Trade and non-trade balances due from/to related parties are
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

(d) Key management personnel remuneration
Remuneration for key management personnel, including
amounts paid to the Company’s directors as disclosed in note
14 and five of the highest paid to employees as disclosed in
note 15, was as follows:

T & RH A

Salaries and other emoluments

e, FE A B A £ BROE I Ho A R
W/ BN RESSGAEER 28R
ANERKFEER -

(d) FREEASHH
FRERABHH - REENEI4F
BEXN T AR REEOHIAEH
HISREESLN T ANKSHHIES
MF BT :

2011 2010
—g——% T4
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT 5 ARBFT

21,256
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47. POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS

(i)

(i)

Dividends

Pursuant to a resolution passed at the Board of Directors
meeting held on 23 March 2012, it was resolved that no
dividends were declared for the year ended 31 December
2011.

Borrowing

On 12 March 2012, certain subsidiaries of the Group signed
a loan agreement with a non-bank financial institution for
aloan of RMB300,000,000 (the “New Loan") to replace
the original loan due on 14 March 2012. The period of the
New Loan is from 15 March 2012 to 14 March 2014, with
instalment payments of RMB90,000,000, RMB60,000,000
and RMB150,000,000 due on 14 March 2013, 19 September
2013 and 14 March 2014, respectively.

47.
(i)

(ii)
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SUMMARY OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL INFORMATION
A 1 B 5 ORI B

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FEEEABEXR

Year ended
31 December

2011
L

—E—-&

25
=t-§

LR
RMB'000

ARETR

Revenue & 5,671,523
Cost of sales HERA (3,738,880)
Gross profit E 1,938,643
Other income HiA 169,310
Selling and marketing costs HERTHEERA (105,203)
Adrministrative expenses THER (368,856)
Other operating expenses AR (109,372)
Net gain on acquisition of a jointly i £ EIE IR

controlled entity Wage
Net gain on disposal of equity interest in HETARRESN

subsidiaries
Net gain on repurchase of convertible bonds

eyt
BRAEaES KEFE

Results from operating activities REEEEBNER 1,524,522
Finance income L ON 38,937
Finance expenses BEKE (67,483)
Fair value changes on financial derivatives T4 2RI EHAL BEE (25,209)
Net finance income/(expenses) BEWN/(BE)BE (53,755)
Share of profits of associates JEfREE N AR (68,639)

Share of losses of jointly controlled entity ~ [E{5 R 5| LB (3333)
Profit before revaluation gains on RATRENEERKER

investment properties and income tax ~ FT{S B AT A7 1,398,795
Revaluation gains on investment properties % EMEEfia (28,844)
Profit before income tax RIS B AER 1,369,951
Income tax expense FEHRR (486,631)
Total comprehensive income for the year FE2EWALAE 883,320
Total comprehensive income AT ATEEZERA

attributable to: g
Equity holders of the Company KREREREA 898,320
Minority interests DERRER (15,000)
Total comprehensive income for the year FE2H A4 883,320
Earnings per share gRERN
Basic earnings per share (RMB) BREAZF(ARET)
Diluted earnings per share (RMB) SRBERN(ARET)

Year ended
31 December

K
RMB'000
ARBTT

Year ended
31 December
2009

S
—ETNE
+=A
=1+-A
LLEE
RMB'000
ARBTT

Year ended
31 December
2008

2
—TINE
=k
==
ILFE
RMB'000
ARETT

Year ended
31 December

LLEE
RMB'000
ARBTT
(Restated)
(=51

4271189 3065441 1394993 1,714,507
(3003983) (2,151,003  (853,196)  (1,072,2989)
1,267,206 914,438 541,797 642,209
3423 5,020 3,289 9237
(150,186)  (116,507) (69,484) (65,592)
(260446) (154183 (157982 (151,743)
(24,005) (4,994) (7,129) 9,115)
149,911 - 18216 -
- - 61,140 193,112
17,48 49,394 58,252 -
1,003,151 693,168 478,099 618,108
107,851 16,914 14,199 46,359
(61,982) (86771) (102,05  (152,729)
(20,123) 50,263 (42,495) 20,725
25,746 (19504)  (130352) (85,645)
281,792 66,645 (12,717) (8.239)
(20,008) - - -
1,290,681 740,219 335,030 524,04
229,203 517,254 25,000 269,626
1519884 1257473 360,030 793,850
(618278)  (427,726) (172,025 (251,580)
901,606 829,747 188,005 542,270
890,206 678,520 151,499 517,614
11,400 151,27 36,506 24,65
901,606 829,747 188,005 542,270
0847 0.644 0.146 0499
0823 0524 0.146 0462
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SUMMARY OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL INFORMATION
A 1 BA 05 PR 2E

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

REEERER

31December 31 December
2011 2010
e--F  ZF%F

+=h +=R
=t-8  =t-8

RMB'000
ARBTR

RMB'000
AREFT

31 December
2009
ZEENE
T=A
==
RMB'000
ARETT

31 December
2008
ZEENE
TZA
==
RMB'000
ARETT

31 December
2007
—TRAE
TZA
==
RMB'000
ARETT
(Restated)
(1m=5)

Assets BE
Property, plant and equipment ER S 1,004,473 904,068 236,144 252,756 246,039
Intangible assets ayEE 1,566 1,610 1,655 - -
Land use rights iR 78,699 81,732 74192 79,500 64,173
Other investment HitikE 14,032 13,032 13,032 - -
Properties under development FEANE 6,618,792 3,600,904 4,235,962 2,558,728 2,356,458
Investment properties REME 1,651,000 1,948,000 1,640,500 723,000 698,000
Investment properties under development BB ENE 1,194,608 - - - -
Investments in associates BENARE 735,135 1,263,247 989,822 923,177 982,507
Interests in a jointly controlled entity KREEHERER - 738,468 - - -
Long-term receivable RERUR 814,186 814,186 - - -
Financial derivatives fTEEMIA - 625 51,491 3,382 46,171
Deferred tax assets EERIBEE 211,067 139,785 212,969 88,149 73,728
Total non-current assets FRBEELER oo 9505657 7455767 4628692 4,467,076
Properties under development FEANE L 4921467 2,963,347 1,800,902 642,593
Completed properties held for sale BEKFENE 1,533,109 505,220 235,635 509,861 253,976
Other investments Hiida 10,824 16,115 1,228 856 730
Trade, other receivables and RS - HAEUGIER

advance deposits Bfike 2,439,436 3,270,269 864,878 1,340,466 1,079,564
Long-term receivable with one year —FRIISOREREIR 125,486 125,486 - - -
Restricted cash XREES 1,307,467 1,985,536 2,408,748 539,771 241,593
Cash and cash equivalents Be LB 5EN 1,645,026 1,514,439 3,038,945 403,531 863,237
Total current assets RBEEAE 11,514,251 12,338,532 9,512,781 4,595,387 3,081,693
Total assets BEEE 23,837,809 21,844,189 16,968,548 9,224,079 7,548,769
Equity i 5
Share capital R 106,591 106,591 104,347 104,818 105,571
Share premium R EE 2,069,086 2,069,086 2,071,330 2,081,584 2,084,437
Reserves 1 790,993 743,255 721,498 689,460 685,931
Retained earnings/(accumulated losses) PR/ (2:ER) S 1499732 865,426 447,989 451,712
Total Equity attributable to RATRERE ARG

equity holders of the Company BREE 5,224,114 4,418,664 3,762,601 3,323,851 3,327,111
Minority interests SPERRER 81,385 108,254 343,924 524,409 304,577
Total equity ERAE 5,306,099 4,526,918 4,106,525 3,848,260 3,632,288
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SUMMARY OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL INFORMATION

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS (Continued)
REREAEMER(A)

31December  31December ~ 31December 31 December 31 December
2011 2010 2009 2007
—E—-% —ZTNE ZZN ZZTLRF
+=h ) +=A +=HR
=t-H =t-H =t-H

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR  ARETR  ARMTR AREBTT  ARETR

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS (Continued) (Restated)
GREEERR(A) (=E51)
Liabilities =l
Interest bearing loans HEER 2,077,615 1,534,694 2,135,747 580,000 372,400
Trade, other payables and JERTERR - thEMFER

advance receipts jelevil Sl 10,162,183 5,592,876 1,895,128 1,238,662
Tax payable ERHE 1,209,234 879,931 566,663 323,55 332,421
Long-term payable within one year —ERIBOREENT 6,000 6,000 6,000 6,000 -
Total current liabilities RBEEEE 12,582,808 8,301,286 2,804,684 1,943,483
Interest bearing loans FEER 4,174,690 4,347,386 3,151,292 1,141,860 678,810
Long-term payable REERT 39,997 42,738 45,301 49,013 -
Convertible bonds DE = - 902,642 1,029,227 1,080,189
Deferred tax liabilities ELHBEE 278,584 278,584 461,502 351,035 213,999
Total non-current liabilities FrBEELE 5,726,431 5,726,431 4,560,737 2,571,135 1,972,998
Total liabilities BEEE o 11T 12,862,003 5,375,819 3,916,481

Total equity and liabilities EZRABAE 21,991,543 16968548 9,224,079 7,548,769
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